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 1                   BEFORE THE WASHINGTON

 2         UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

     _____________________________________________________

 3                                       )

     WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND            )Docket UE-050684

 4   TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION,          )Volume V

                        Complainant,     )Pages 235-442

 5          vs.                          )

     PACIFICORP d/b/a PACIFIC POWER &    )

 6   LIGHT COMPANY,                      )

                        Respondent.      )

 7   ____________________________________)

                                         )

 8   In the Matter of                    )Docket UE-050412

                                         )

 9   PACIFIC POWER & LIGHT               ) (Consolidated)

                                         )

10   Petition for an order approving     )

     deferral of costs relating to       )

11   declining hydro generation.         )

     ____________________________________)

12    

13                 A hearing in the above-entitled matter

14   was held at 9:30 a.m. on Thursday, January 12, 2006,

15   at 1300 South Evergreen Park Drive, S.W., Olympia,

16   Washington, before Administrative Law Judges ANN

17   RENDAHL and THEODORA MACE, Chairman MARK SIDRAN,

18   Commissioner PATRICK OSHIE and Commissioner PHILIP

19   JONES.

20                 The parties present were as follows:

21                 PACIFICORP, by Marcus Wood, Attorney at

     Law, Stoel Rives, LLP, 900 S.W. Fifth Avenue,

22   Portland, Oregon 97229, and Jason B. Keyes, Attorney

     at Law, Stoel Rives, 600 University Street, Suite

23   3600, Seattle, Washington 98101.

24   Barbara L. Nelson, CCR

25   Court Reporter

0236

 1                 PUBLIC COUNSEL, by Simon ffitch,

     Assistant Attorney General, 900 Fourth Avenue, Suite

 2   2000, Seattle, Washington 98164.

 3                 COMMISSION STAFF, by Donald T. Trotter

     and Robert Cedarbaum, Assistant Attorneys General,

 4   1400 S.W. Evergreen Park Drive, S.W., P.O. Box 40128,

     Olympia, Washington 98504-0128.

 5    

                   INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS OF NORTHWEST

 6   UTILITIES, by Melinda Davison, Attorney at Law, 333

     S.W. Taylor, Portland, Oregon 97204.

 7    

                    THE ENERGY PROJECT, by Brad Purdy,

 8   Attorney at Law, 2019 N. 17th Street, Boise, Idaho

     83702.

 9    

10    

11    

12    

13    

14    

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    

21    

22    

23    

24    

25    
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 1   _____________________________________________________

 2                   INDEX OF EXAMINATION

 3   _____________________________________________________

 4   WITNESS:                                       PAGE:

 5   ANDREW N. MacRITCHIE

 6   Direct Examination by Mr. Wood                  280

 7   Cross-Examination by Mr. Purdy                  281

 8   Redirect Examination by Mr. Wood                310

 9   Examination by Commissioner Oshie               311

10   Examination by Commissioner Jones               313

11   Examination by Chairman Sidran                  315

12   Examination by Judge Rendahl                    317

13   Cross-Examination by Mr. Trotter                318

14   Cross-Examination by Mr. Trotter (Continuing)   321

15   Cross-Examination by Mr. ffitch                 359

16   Cross-Examination by Ms. Davison                370

17   Redirect Examination by Mr. Wood                404

18   Recross-Examination by Mr. Trotter              414

19   Recross-Examination by Ms. Davison              419

20   Examination by Commissioner Jones               420

21   Examination by Commissioner Oshie               431

22   Examination by Chairman Sidran                  437

23   Examination by Judge Rendahl                    440

24    

25    
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 1   _____________________________________________________

 2                   INDEX OF EXHIBITS

 3   _____________________________________________________

 4   EXHIBIT:          MARKED:    OFFERED:      ADMITTED:

 5   1-T                 --          280           281

 6   2 through 5         --          280           281

 7   19                  --          284           285

 8   7                   --          320           320

 9   9                   --          320           320

10   6                   --          357           358

11   8                   --          357           358

12   10 through 18       --          390           391

13   20                 412          413           414

14    

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    

21    

22    

23    

24    

25    
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 1            (The following exhibits were marked in

 2            conjunction with the hearing.)

 3                E X H I B I T   L I S T

 4   DONALD N. FURMAN (Adopted by ANDREW MacRITCHIE)

 5   (PACIFICORP)

 6   1-T    DNF-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

 7   2      DNF-2: IRP Capacity Requirement Breakdown

 8   3      DNF-3: PacifiCorp's Capital Expenditure

 9          Program & Cash Flows From Selected Financing

10          Activities

11   4      DNF-4: Washington Status Report on Inter-

12          Jurisdictional Cost Allocations

13   5      ANM-1T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

14   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

15   6      System Map

16   7      PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No. 

17          376

18   8      Rebuttal Testimony of PacifiCorp witness Reed

19          in the Utah Power/Pacific Power merger docket

20   9      PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data Request

21          No. 356

22   10     PacifiCorp Press Release, "PacifiCorp

23          president and CEO announces decision to leave

24          company after completion of sale to MEHC"

25          (Dec. 21, 2005)
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 1   11     Stipulation from OPUC Docket No. UM 1209

 2          (Dec. 23, 2005)

 3   12     Excerpt of OPUC Docket No. UE 170, Order No.

 4          05-1050, Appendix H (Sept. 28, 2005)

 5   13     Excerpt of PacifiCorp Form 10-K for fiscal

 6          year ended March 31, 2005

 7   14     Excerpt of Direct Testimony of Patrick J.

 8          Goodman in WUTC Docket No. UE-051090

 9   15     Excerpt of Direct Testimony of Gregory E. Abel

10          in WUTC Docket No. UE-051090

11   16     PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

12          3.17

13   17     PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

14          14.50

15   18     PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

16          14.52

17   19     PacifiCorp's Responses to the Energy Project's

18          Data Requests Nos. 1-39

19   20     (Not Used)

20   SAMUEL C. HADAWAY (PACIFICORP)

21   21-T   SCH-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

22   22     SCH-2: Witness Qualifications

23   23     SCH-3: Historical Capital Market Costs

24   24     SCH-4: Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

25   25     SCH-5: Risk Premium Analysis
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 1   26-T   SCH-6T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

 2   27     SCH-7: Authorized Electric Utility Equity

 3          Returns

 4   28     SCH-8: Financial Ratio Analysis -Staff Case

 5   29     SCH-9: Financial Ratio Analysis - Public

 6          Counsel Case

 7   30     SCH-10: Financial Ratio Analysis - ICNU Case

 8   31     SCH-11: Comparison of Comparable Group

 9          Projected Growth Rates 2001-2005

10   32     SCH-12: Long-Term GDP Growth

11   33     SCH-13: Economic Indicators - Seasonally

12          Adjusted Annual Rates

13   34     SCH-14: Updated ICNU DCF Analysis

14   35     SCH-15: Discounted Cash Flow Analysis

15          (Dec. 2005)

16   36     SCH-16: Risk Premium Analysis (Dec. 2005)

17   37     SCH-17: Comparable Company Capital Structure

18          (Dec. 2005)

19   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

20   38     Excerpt from PacifiCorp Response to Staff

21          Data Request No. 316: page 335

22   39     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

23          317c

24   40     PacifiCorp Responses to Staff Data Requests

25          Nos. 3, 4, 6 and 7 through 11

0242

 1   41     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.      

 2          15

 3   42     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 4          318

 5   43     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 6          319

 7   44     PacifiCorp Response to Data Request No. 320

 8   45     Mergent Bond Record

 9   46     Hadaway Direct Testimony and Exhibits

10          UE-032065

11   47     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request 16

12   48     PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

13          Request 16

14   49     PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

15          Request 11

16   50     Public Counsel Illustrative Exhibit "Hadaway

17          Market Prices DCF"

18   51     PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

19          Request 177 (excerpt)

20   52-60  (Not Used)

21   BRUCE N. WILLIAMS

22   61-T   BNW-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

23   62     BNW-2: Pro Forma Cost of Long-Term Debt

24          Summary

25   63     BNW-3: Utilities & Perspectives by Standard & 
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 1          Poor's

 2   64     BNW-4: Indicative Forward PCRB Variable Rates

 3          for September 30, 2006

 4   65     BNW-5: Electric Operations Pro Forma Cost of

 5          Preferred Stock - September 30, 2006

 6   66-T   BNW-6T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

 7   67     BNW-7: PacifiCorp Domestic Electric CWIP (107)

 8          vs ST Debt (231)

 9   68     BNW-8: Money Rates Chart, Wall Street Journal,

10          Nov. 22, 2005

11   69     BNW-9: S&P's Publication, June 2, 2004

12   70     BNW-10: S&P's PacifiCorp's First Mortgage

13          Bonds Assigned "A-" Preliminary Rating

14   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

15   71     Testimony of Mr. Williams in Utah certificate

16          docket

17   72     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

18          323

19   73     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

20          324

21   74     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

22          313

23   75     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

24          44a2

25   76     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.
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 1          20

 2   77     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 3          292

 4   78     PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 5          21

 6   79-C   PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 7          41

 8   80     PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 9          Request 179

10   81     1999 S&P Bond Rating Benchmarks

11   82-90  (Not Used)

12   STEPHEN G. HILL (PUBLIC COUNSEL)

13   91-T   SGH-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

14   92     SGH-2: Witness Qualifications

15   93     SGH-3: Long-Term Sustainable Growth Example

16   94     SGH-4: Sample Company Growth Rate Analysis

17   95     SGH-5: Corroborative Equity Capital Cost

18          Estimation Methods

19   96     SGH-6: Moody's BAA Bond Yields

20   97     SGH-7: PacifiCorp Historical Capital Structure

21   98     SGH-8: Electric Utility Sample Group Selection

22   99     SGH-9: DCF Growth Rate Parameters

23   100    SGH-10: DCF Growth Rates and Comparisons

24   101    SGH-11: Stock Price, Dividends, Yields

25   102    SGH-12: DCF Cost of Equity Capital
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 1   103    SCH-13: CAPM Cost of Equity Capital

 2   104    SGH-14: Earnings - Price Ration Understate

 3          the Cost of Capital

 4   105    SGH-15: Modified Earnings - Price Ratio

 5          Analysis

 6   106    SGH-16: Market-to-Book Ratio Analysis

 7   107    SGH-17: Ratemaking Capital Structure

 8   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 9   108    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 114

10   109    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 116

11   110    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 119

12   111    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 123

13   112    Respopnse to PacifiCorp Request No. 135

14   113    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 136

15   114-20 (Not Used)

16   MICHAEL P. GORMAN (ICNU)

17   121-T  MPG-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

18   122    MPG-2: Witness Qualifications

19   123    MPG-3: Accuracy of Interest Rates Forecast

20   124    MPG-4: Capital Structure

21   125    MPG-5: Rate of Return at 9.8% ROE

22   126    MPG-6: Comparable Group

23   127    MPG-7: Growth Rate Estimates

24   128    MPG-8: Constant Growth DCF Model

25   129    MPG-9: Common Stock Market/Book Ration
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 1   130    MPG-10: Equity Risk Premium - Treasury Bond

 2   131    MPG-11: Equity Risk Premium - Utility Bond

 3   132    MPG-12: Series "A" and "BAA" Utility Bond

 4          Yields

 5   133    MPG-13: Comparable Group Beta

 6   134    MPG-14: CAPM Return Estimate

 7   135    MPG-15: Standard & Poor's Credit Rating

 8          Financial Ratios at ROE of 9.8%

 9   136    MPG-16: DCF Summary Results

10   137    MPG-17: PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data

11          Request No. 87

12   138    MPG-18: PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data

13          Request No. 41

14   139    MPG-19: Credit Rating Reports

15   140    Response to PacifiCorp Request 3.10

16   141    ICNU Responses to Staff Data Request Nos. 3-9

17   142-50 (Not Used)

18   JAMES A. ROTHSCHILD

19   151-T  JAR-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

20   152    JAR-2: Witness Qualifications

21   153    JAR-3: Overall Cost of Capital

22   154    JAR-4: Cost of Equity Summary

23   155    JAR-5: Capital Structure Information for

24          PacifiCorp and the Comparative Group

25          (Revised 11/16/05)
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 1   156    JAR-6: Financial Data of Comparative Companies

 2          (Revised 11/16/05)

 3   157    JAR-7: Constant Growth DCF Method

 4   158    JAR-8: Multi-Stage DCF Method

 5   159    JAR-9: Inflation Premium Method

 6   160    JAR-10: Risk Premium Based on Historic Returns

 7   161    JAR-11: Dr. Hadaway's DCF Method

 8   162    JAR-12: Geometric Average v. Arithmetic

 9          Average

10   163    JAR-13: Chart Showing Spread Between Aa and

11          Baa Rated Utility Debt 1946-1995, Average for

12          Year

13   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

14   164    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.67

15   165    Excerpt from Title 18 of the Code of Federal

16          Regulations

17   166    PacifiCorp Exhibit BNW-7 and updates provided

18          per Staff Data Request 323

19   167    Exhibit JAR-5, excluding short-term debt

20   168    Standard & Poors Research Summary for

21          PacifiCorp, dated 05-May-2005

22   169    Value Line Data backing up Exhibit SCH-17

23   170    WUTC Docket Nos. UE-050482 and UG-050483,

24          excerpt from Order No. 05 regarding ROE

25          discussion
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 1   171-80 (Not Used)

 2   LARRY O. MARTIN (PACIFICORP)

 3   181-T  LOM-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

 4   182    LOM-2: Life Cycle of a Tax Year with Book and

 5          Tax Implications

 6   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 7   183    Excerpt from PacifiCorp 10-K for fiscal year

 8          ended March 31, 2005 (cover sheet and page

 9          106)

10   184    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

11          205

12   185-90 (Not Used)

13   PAUL M. WRIGLEY (PACIFICORP)

14   191-T  PMW-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

15   192    PMW-2: Summary of Washington Results of

16          Operations

17   193    PMW-3: Washington Results of Operations 12

18          Months Ending September 2004

19   194    PMW-4: Common Corporate Services ScottishPower

20          Provides to PacifiCorp

21   195-T  PMW-5T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony (Revised

22          1/10/06)

23   196    PMW-6: Results of Operations, Miscellaneous

24          Administrative Administrative and General

25          Expense, Adjustment 4.18
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 1   197    PMW-7: Accepted and Partially Accepted

 2          Adjustments

 3   198    PMW-8: Normalized Results of Operations,

 4          MSP-Revised Protocol, 12 Months ended

 5          September 2004

 6   199    PMW-9: Average Investor Supplied Working

 7          Capital (Revised 1/10/06)

 8   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS:

 9   200    PacifiCorp Supplemental Response to Staff Data

10          Request No. 135 with CD containing detailed

11          balance sheet

12   201    Selected data from the balance sheet provided

13          in PacifiCorp Supplemental Response to Staff

14          Data Request No. 135

15   202    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

16          360

17   203    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

18          330

19   204    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

20          364

21   205    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

22          361

23   206    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

24          373 (response due by 1/11/06)

25   207    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.
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 1          374 (response due by 1/11/06)

 2   208    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

 3          7.8

 4   209    Uniform System of Accounts 214

 5   210    Uniform System of Accounts 186

 6   211    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request 70

 7          (excerpt: pp. S-1 through S-3)

 8   212    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 9          Request 86

10   213    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

11          2.25

12   214    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

13          3.25

14   215    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

15          13.2

16   216    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

17          13.3

18   217    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

19          13.4

20   218    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

21          13.5

22   219    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

23          14.33

24   220    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

25          17
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 1   221    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 2          184

 3   222    Oregonian Article, "Compromise on unified

 4          power grid is blocked" (Nov. 2, 2005)

 5   223    BPA Fast Facts (from www.bpa.gov)

 6   224-30 (Not Used)

 7   DANIEL J. ROSBOROUGH (PACIFICORP)

 8   231-T  DJR-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

 9   232    DJR-2: Hewitt Associates Actuarial Report,

10          PacifiCorp Retirement Plan, as of 1/1/04

11   233    DJR-3: Allocation of Fiscal Year 2004 and

12          2005 Expenses

13   234    DJR-4: PacifiCorp Retirement Plan,

14          Reconciliation of Projected FY 2006 Expense

15          from Actual FY 2005 Expense

16   235    DJR-5: Projected FY 2007 GAAP Expense

17   236    DJR-6: PacifiCorp Active Experience

18   237-T  DJR-7T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

19   238    DJR-8: Hewitt Associates Benefit Plan

20          Disclosure Under FASB Statements No. 87 and

21          106

22   239    DJR-9: March 9, 2005, Memorandum from

23          PriceWaterhouseCoopers

24   240    DJR-10: November 10, 2005, e-mail from John

25          Bagley, Hewitt Associates to Daniel Rosborough
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 1          re: Utility Industry Trends vs. National Trend

 2   241    DJR-11: Hewitt Associates Survey Data

 3          Information from 2004 HHVI Round 87

 4   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 5   242    "2006 Segal Health Plan Cost Trend Survey"

 6          (2005)

 7   243-50 (Not Used)

 8   WILLIAM R. GRIFFITH

 9   251-T  WRG-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

10   252    WRG-2: Proposed Revised Tariffs

11   253    WRG-3: Est. Effect of Proposed Prices on

12          Revenues from Electric Sales to Ultimate

13          Consumers in WA, 12 Months ended September

14          2004

15   254    WRG-4: Washington Total Retail Average Rates

16   255    WRG-5: Blocking Summary

17   256    WRG-6: Monthly Billing Compensation

18   257-T  WRG-7T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

19   258    WRG-8: Estimated Effect of Proposed Prices on

20          Revenues from Electric Sales to Ultimate

21          Consumers in Washington, 12 Months ended

22          September 2004 (Revised December 2005.)

23   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

24   259    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

25          Request 164
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 1   260    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 2          Request 165

 3   MARK T. KLEIN (PACIFICORP)

 4   261-T  MTK-1T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

 5   262    MTK-2: Washington State Residential Load vs.

 6          Daily Average Temperatures

 7   263    MTK-3: Sample Customer Energy Use, Yakima -

 8          Schedule 24, Approximate Average Daily Ambient

 9          Temperature

10   264    MTK-4: Sample Customer Energy Use, Yakima -

11          Schedule 24, Approximate Average Daily

12          Temperature

13   265    MTK-5: Test on Staff's Weather Normalization

14          Results

15   266    MTK-6: Summary of Temperature Difference use

16          for Weather Sensitive Consumption

17   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

18   267    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

19          326

20   268    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

21          375

22   269    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

23          325

24   270    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

25          336
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 1   ERICH D. WILSON (PACIFICORP)

 2   271-T  EDW-1T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

 3   272    EDW-2: Pay History (AIP)

 4   273    EDW-3: PacifiCorp Performance Management

 5          Scorecard

 6   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 7   274    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

 8          161

 9   275    PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

10          279

11   276-80 (Not Used)

12   HAROLD D. ELLIOTT (PACIFICORP)

13   281-T  HDE-1T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

14   282    HDE-2: IRS Private Letter Ruling (8537063)

15   283    HDE-3: Excerpt from Deloit Haskins & Sells

16          Publication, dated October 3, 1985, pp. 6-8

17   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

18   284-90 (Not Used)

19   DAVID J. EFFRON (PUBLIC COUNSEL)

20   291-T  DJE-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

21   292    DJE-2: Witness Qualifications

22   293    DJE-3: Revenue Requirement Effect of

23          Adjustments

24   294    DJE-4: Miscellaneous Deferred Debits

25   295    DJE-5: Effective Rate of Return Proposal
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 1   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 2   296-300 (Not Used)

 3   JAMES T. SELECKY (ICNU)

 4   301-T  JTS-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

 5   302    JTS-2: Witness Qualifications

 6   303    JTS-3: Health Care Adjustment

 7   304    JTS-4: Pension and Other Post-Retirement

 8          Expense

 9   305    JTS-5: ScottishPower Cross Charge Adjustment

10   306    JTS-6: "Compensation and Benefits" Information

11          from PacifiCorp's Web Site

12   307    JTS-7: Incentive Expense Adjustment

13   308    JTS-8: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

14          Request No. 3.39

15   309    JTS-9: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

16          Request No. 3.8

17   310    JTS-10: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

18          Request No. 3.16

19   311    JTS-11: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

20          Request No. 3.4

21   312    JTS-12: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

22          Request No. 3.5

23   313    JTS-13: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

24          Request No. 3.10

25   314    JTS-14: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data
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 1          Request No. 11.2

 2   315    JTS-15: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 3          Request No. 11.1

 4   316    JTS-16: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 5          Request No. 6

 6   317    JTS-17: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 7          Request No. 3.20

 8   318    JTS-18: PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel

 9          Data Request No. 121

10   319    (Not Used)

11   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

12   320    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.5

13   321    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.6

14   322    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.9

15   323    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.10

16   324    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.11

17   325    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.1

18   326    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.2

19   327    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.4

20   328    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.16

21   329-30 (Not Used)

22   331-T  GND-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

23   332    GND-2: GRID Transmission Topology

24   333    GND-3: Hybrid Proposal Revenue Requirement

25          Comparison
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 1   334    GND-4: Multi-State Process Risk Analyses

 2          (MSP Meeting, July 15-17, 2003)

 3   335    GND-5: Retail Load Growth (Firm & Non Firm MW)

 4   336    GND-6: Extra Load Resource MSP Study 1.4

 5          (Revenue Requirement Driver Analysis Compared

 6          with Clean Air 1 and Hydro Relicensing 1)

 7   337    GND-7: Change in Generation by Region

 8   338    GND-8: PacifiCorp Prudence Review of

 9          Generating Resources Acquired Since 1986,

10          Docket No. UE-991832, Joint Report, 12/7/01

11   339    GND-9: Washington System Benefits

12   340    GND-10: PacifiCorp Peak Diversity

13   341-T  GND-11T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

14   342    GND-12: PacifiCorp's Load Growth Report,

15          Multi-State Process, October 20, 2005

16   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

17   343    PacifiCorp 2004 Update to IRP (filed 11/3/05)

18   344    Spreadsheet supporting information in 2004

19          Update to IRP

20   345    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

21          Request 104

22   346    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

23          Request 80

24   347    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

25          Request 143
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 1   348    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 2          Request 144

 3   349    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 4          Request 145

 5   350    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 6          Request 146

 7   351    PacifiCorp 2004 Integrated Resource Plan,

 8          Appendix C, p. 30

 9   352    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

10          14.7

11   353    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

12          14.14

13   354    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

14          14.15

15   

16   355    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

17          14.16

18   356    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

19          14.17

20   357-60 (Not Used)

21   DAVID L. TAYLOR (PACIFICORP)

22   361-T  DLT-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

23   362    DLT-2: PacifiCorp Inter-Jurisdictional Cost

24          Allocation Protocol (Revised Protocol)

25   363    DLT-3: Classification and Allocation of
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 1          Generation Fixed Costs, March 4, 2004,

 2          Discussion Paper

 3   364    DLT-4: Systemwide Rationalized Indicators of

 4          System Demand Stress Sorted by Year (w/o

 5          Emergency Purchases)

 6   365    DLT-5: Revised Protocol - Estimates State by

 7          State Revenue Requirement Impact, Percent

 8          Change in Revenue Requirement

 9   366    DLT-6: Normalized Results of Operations - 12

10          Months Ended September 2004

11   367    DLT-7: Cost of Service by Rate Schedule -

12          State of Washington - 12 Months Ended 9/04

13   368    DLT-8: Cost of Service by Rate Schedule - All

14          Functions - State of Washington - 12 Months

15          Ended September 2004

16   369    DLT-9: Classification of Generation and

17          Transmission Costs

18   370    DLT-10: Complete Functionalized Results of

19          Operations and Class Cost of Service Detail -

20          12 Months Ended September 2004 Test Period

21   371-T  DLT-11T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

22   372    DLT-12: Cost Allocation Methods

23   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

24   373    PacifiCorp Responses to Staff Data Request

25          Nos. 300 and 301 with CD
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 1   374    Excerpted information from the PacifiCorp

 2          Response to Staff Data Request No. 301

 3          (identified as Response to Data Request No.

 4          300)

 5   375    Excerpt of Oregon Revised Protocol (from OPUC

 6          Docket No. UM 1050, Order No. 05-021)

 7   376    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

 8          2.136

 9   377    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

10          14.21

11   378-80 (Not Used)

12   CHRISTY A. OMOHUNDRO (PACIFICORP)

13   381-T  CAO-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

14   382    CAO-2: Standard & Poor's "Fuel and Power

15          Adjusters Underpin Post-Crisis Credit Quality

16          of Western Utilities"

17   383-T  CAO-3T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

18   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

19   384    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

20          Request No. 166

21   385    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

22          14.23

23   386    Settlement Agreement WUTC Docket No. UE-032065

24          (Aug. 27, 2004)

25   387-90 (Not Used)
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 1   MARK T. WIDMER (PACIFICORP)

 2   391-T  MTW-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

 3   392    MTW-2: PacifiCorp Normalized Sources of Energy

 4          (12 Months Ending March 2007)

 5   393    MTW-3: PacifiCorp Normalized Sources of Peak

 6          Capacity (12 Months Ending March 2007)

 7   394    MTW-4: Historical Net Power Cost Exposure

 8          Experienced from 1990-2004

 9   395    MTW-5: Historical Average Market Prices

10   396    MTW-6: Forecast Average Market Prices

11   397    MTW-7: PCAM Scenario

12   398-T  MTW-8T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony (Revised

13          12/30/05)

14   399    MTW-9: Deferral of Costs Related to Declining

15          Hydro Generation - WA Allocated Share (Revised

16          12/30/05)

17   400    MTW-10: List of Investor-Owned Utilities with

18          PCAMs and No Deadbands

19   401    Stipulation on Power Cost Issues

20   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

21   402-C  PacifiCorp Response to Staff Data Request No.

22          108 - Contains information designated

23          confidential by PacifiCorp

24   403    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

25          Request 82
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 1   404    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

 2          2.40

 3   405    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

 4          2.56

 5   406    PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data Request No.

 6          14.25

 7   407    Exhibit PPL/103 in OPUC Docket No. UM 1193

 8   408    Direct Testimony of Mark Widmer in UPSC Docket

 9          No. 05-035-102

10   409    Exhibit MTW-5 in UPSC Docket No. 05-035-102

11   410    Application and Exhibits in WPSC Docket No.

12          20000-233-EP-05

13   411    Application for Deferred Accounting Costs

14          Related to Declining Hydro Generation, OPUC

15          Docket No. UM 1193

16   412-20 (Not Used)

17   MARK R. TALLMAN (PACIFICORP)

18   421-T  MRT-1T: Prefiled Direct Testimony

19   422    MRT-2: Lease Agreement for West Valley

20          Project, as of March 5, 2002

21   423    MRT-3: PacifiCorp September 21, 2001, Request

22          for Proposals

23   424-C  MRT-4C: Summary of Results of Offers from 2001

24          RFP

25   425-C  MRT-5C: West Valley Lease Valuation
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 1   426-C  MRT-6C: PacifiCorp Special Board Meeting

 2          Notes, March 4, 2002

 3   427    MRT-7: PacifiCorp Request for Proposals,

 4          RFP-X, issued July 19, 2004

 5   428-C  MRT-8C: PacifiCorp Special Board Meeting

 6          Notes, September 20, 2004

 7   429-C  MRT-9C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

 8          October 26, 2001

 9   430-C  MRT-10C: Analysis Results for Physical

10          Options for Utah, February 11, 2002

11   431    MRT-11: PacifiCorp Request for Proposals,

12          Electric Resources RFP-2003-A, issued June 6,

13          2003

14   432    MRT-12: Navigant Consulting, Final Report on

15          PacifiCorp's RFP 2003-A

16   433-C  MRT-13C: PacifiCorp Board Presentation

17          Regarding Currant Creek Project, September 22,

18          2003

19   434-C  MRT-14C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

20          January 20, 2005, and April 14, 2005

21   435-C  MRT-15C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

22          September 23, 2004

23   436-C  MRT-16C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

24          October 21, 2004

25   437-C  MRT-17C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,
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 1          February 19, 2004

 2   438-C  MRT-18C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

 3          February 15, 2005

 4   439-C  MRT-19C: PacifiCorp Board Meeting Notes,

 5          December 16, 2004

 6   440-T  MRT-20T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

 7   441    MRT-21: PacifiCorp Form 10-Q for quarterly

 8          period ending September 30, 2005

 9   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

10   442    FAS 133 (excerpt)

11   443    PacifiCorp Response Public Counsel Data

12          Request 81

13   444    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

14          Request 83

15   445    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

16          Request 84

17   446    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

18          Request 85

19   447    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

20          Request 87

21   448    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

22          Request 88

23   449    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

24          Request 89

25   450    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data
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 1          Request 90

 2   451    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 3          Request 91

 4   452    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

 5          Request 92

 6   453-60 (Not Used)

 7   MERTON R. LOTT (PUBLIC COUNSEL)

 8   461-T  MRL-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

 9   462    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 59

10   463    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 69

11   464    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 77

12   465    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 78

13   466    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 84

14   467    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 87

15   468    Response to PacifiCorp Request No. 95

16   469-70 (Not Used)

17   CHARLES J. BLACK (PUBLIC COUNSEL)

18   471-T  CJB-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

19   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

20   472    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.8

21   473    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.18

22   474    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.19

23   475    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.20

24   476    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.24

25   477    Response to PacifiCorp Request 97
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 1   478    Response to PacifiCorp Request 98

 2   479    Response to PacifiCorp Request 99

 3   480    Response to PacifiCorp Request 100

 4   481    Response to PacifiCorp Request 108

 5   482-90 (Not Used)

 6   RANDALL J. FALKENBERG (ICNU)

 7   491-TC: RJF-1C: Prefiled Response Testimony

 8   492    RJF-2: Witness Qualifications

 9   493    RJF-3: Cost Shifting due to Production Factor

10          and PCAM

11   494-C  RJF-4C: PacifiCorp Revenue Requirements Impact

12          of Revised Protocol

13   495    RJF-5: Multi-State Process PacifiCorp's Load

14          Growth Report

15   496    RJF-6: Impact of Utah 2004 GRC Rate Cap

16   497    RJF-7: Pre-Merger ECD

17   498    RJF-8: Using EtaPRO to Support PacifiCorp's

18          Heat Rate Initiative in a Competitive Energy

19          Market

20   499    RJF-9: Direct Testimony of Verl R. Topham

21          (Utah, May 1990)

22   500    RJF-10: Issues arising in Fuel and Purchase

23          Power Review Cases

24   501    RJF-11: Direct Testimony of Andrea Coon

25          (Utah, December 2004)
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 1   502    RJF-12: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 2          Request 2.26

 3   503-C  RJF-13C: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 4          Request 2.133

 5   504    RJF-14: Docket No. 02-035-04 Stipulation

 6          (Utah)

 7   505    RJF-15: PacifiCorp Response to ICNU Data

 8          Request 2.1

 9   506    RJF-16: PacifiCorp Response to OPUC Data

10          Request 403

11   507-T  RJF-17T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

12   508    RJF-18: Corrected Deferral Calculation,

13          Washington Share

14   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

15   509    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.3

16   510    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.11

17   511    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.12

18   512    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.16

19   513    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.18

20   514    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.20

21   515    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.24

22   516    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.25

23   517    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.26

24   518    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.28

25   519    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.29
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 1   520    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.30

 2   521    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.35

 3   522-30 (Not Used)

 4   ROGER A. BRADEN (ADOPTED BY GLENN BLACKMON) (STAFF)

 5   531-T  RAB-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

 6   532    RAB-2: Witness Qualifications

 7   533    RAB-3: Economic and Population Growth Data

 8   534-T  GB-1T: Prefiled Testimony

 9   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

10   535-40 (Not Used)

11   ALAN P. BUCKLEY (STAFF)

12   541-TC PB-1TC: Prefiled Response Testimony

13   542    APB-2:  Summary of Staff's Allocation -

14          Related Power Supply Adjustments

15   543    APB-3: Excerpt from "PacifiCorp Joint

16          Application" in Docket No. UE-001878

17   544-C  APB-4C: PacifiCorp's Confidential Response to

18          ICNU Data Request No. 2.133

19   545    APB-5: Excerpt from PacifiCorp's Integrated

20          Resource Plan - 2004

21   546    APB-6: PacifiCorp's Response to ICNU Data

22          Request No. 96 (w/o attachment)

23   547    APB-7: PacifiCorp's Response to ICNU Data

24          Request Nos. 7.5 (w/o attachment) and 7.6

25   548    APB-8: Excerpt from PacifiCorp's Integrated
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 1          Resource Plan - 2003

 2   549    APB-9: Update to PacifiCorp's 2003 Integrated

 3          Resource Plan

 4   550    APB-10: PacifiCorp IRP Update for WUTC

 5          October 7, 2004

 6   551    APB-11: October 7, 2005, Letter from ICNU to

 7          PacifiCorp

 8   552    APB-12: Adjustment 8.15, New Eastside Resource

 9          Allocation

10   553    APB-13: Adjustment 5.5, Mid-Columbia Contract

11          Allocation

12   554    APB-14: Adjustment 5.6, Seasonal Allocation

13   555    APB-15: Adjustment 5.7, QF Contract Allocation

14   556    APB-16: Hydro Generation Difference

15   557    APB-17: Adjustment 5.8 Hydro Deferral Recovery

16   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

17   558    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.2

18   559    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.3

19   560    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.4

20   561    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.5

21   562    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.7

22   563    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.1

23   564    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.3

24   565    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.4

25   566    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.6
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 1   567    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.8

 2   568    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.9

 3   569    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.10

 4   570    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.11

 5   571    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.12

 6   572    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.14

 7   573    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.16

 8   574    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.19

 9   575    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.21

10   576    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.23

11   577-80 (Not Used)

12   YOHANNES K.G. MARIAM (STAFF)

13   581-T  YKGM-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

14   582    YKGM-2: Witness Qualifications

15   583    YKGM-3: Weather Normalization Adjustments

16   584    YKGM-4: PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data

17          Request No. 260

18   585    YKGM-5: Comparison of Selected Socioeconomic

19          Characteristics of Utah and Washington

20   586    YKGM-6: PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data

21          Request No. 100

22   587    YKGM-7: PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data

23          Request No. 203, Docket No. UE-032065

24   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

25   588    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.30
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 1   589    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.31

 2   590    Response to PacifiCorp Request 2.34

 3   591    Response to PacifiCorp Request 4.1

 4   592    Pages 1-2 of Clearing Up of December 26, 2005

 5   593-600 (Not Used)

 6   DANNY P. KERMODE

 7   601-T  DPK-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

 8   602    DPK-2: Witness Qualifications

 9   603    DPK-3: Adjustment 7.2, Property Taxes

10   604    DPK-4: Calculation of Adjustment 7.3,

11          Renewable Energy Tax Credit

12   605    DPK-5: Internal Revenue Code Section

13          168(f)(8) - 1981

14   606    DPK-6: "Description of Safe Harbor Leasing

15          Provisions Under the Accelerated Cost Recovery

16          System," by Staff of Joint Comm. on Taxation

17          for 12/15/81 Hearing (Oversight Subcomm. of

18          House Ways & Means Comm.)

19   607    DPK-7: Excerpt from the Commission's Fourth

20          Supp. Order in WUTC v. PP&L., Cause Nos.

21          U-82-12 and U-82-35 (2/2/83), pp 1, 18, 19

22   608    DPK-8: Excerpt from Commission's Second Supp.

23          Order in WUTC v. PP&L, Cause No. U-83-33

24          (2/9/84), pp 1, 16-17

25   609    DPK-9: Excerpt from the Commission's Fourth
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 1          Supp. Order in WUTC v. PP&L, Cause No. U-86-02

 2          (9/19/86), pp 1, 7, 21

 3   610    DPK-10: Schedule for Amortization of the Malin

 4          Midpoint Up-Front Cash Payment

 5   611    DPK-11: PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data

 6          Request No. 151

 7   612    DPK-12: PacifiCorp's Response to Staff Data

 8          Request No. 252

 9   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

10   613    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.15

11   614    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.17

12   615    Response to PacifiCorp Request 1.21

13   616-20 (Not Used)

14   CHRISTIAN J. WARD (STAFF)

15   621-T  CJW-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony (Revised

16          1/3/06)

17   622    CJW-2: Adjustment 4.18, Miscellaneous

18          Administrative & General Expense - Washington

19          (Revised 1/5/06)

20   623    CJW-3: Adjustment 4.19, Remove RTO Expenses -

21          Washington

22   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

23   624-30 (Not Used)

24   THOMAS E. SCHOOLEY (STAFF)

25   631-T  TES-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony
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 1   632    TES-2: Witness Qualifications

 2   633    TES-3: Revenue Requirement Presentation

 3   634    TES-4: Schedule of Uncontested Adjustments

 4   635    TES-5: Adjustment 4.10a, Wages and Benefits

 5   636    TES-6: Adjustment 4.13, ScottishPower Cross

 6          Charge

 7   637    TES-7: Investor Supplied Working Capital

 8          (First two pages revised 1/3/06)

 9   638    TES-8: Adjustment 8.10, Production Factor on

10          Rate Base

11   639    TES-9: Adjustment 8.15, New Eastside Resource

12          Allocation

13   640    TES-10: Adjustments 8.16, 8.17, and 8.18, A&G

14          Allocator

15   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

16   641    WUTC Docket No. UE-032065, Exhibit TES-4,

17          Average Investor Supplied Working Capital

18   642-50 (Not Used)

19   CHARLES M. EBERDT (THE ENERGY PROJECT)

20   651-T  CME-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

21   652    CME-2: Median Household Income Estimates by

22          County: 1989-2004 and Projection for 2005

23   653    CME-3: Three year Average Unemployment Rates

24          Used to Determine Distressed Areas

25   654    CME-4: 2005 HHS Poverty Guidelines
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 1   655    CME-5: HUD Fair Market Rents for PacifiCorp

 2          Service Territory

 3   656    CME-6: Increasing Rate of Disconnections

 4   657    CME-7: 2000 Census County Population Data by

 5          Income to Poverty Level

 6   658    CME-8: Comparison of Federal Poverty Level to

 7          the Self-Sufficiency Standard, Washington

 8          State, 2001 Summary Statistics

 9   659    CME-9: Budgeting Poverty (2005)

10   660    CME-10: 2005 Statewide Energy Assistance

11          Statistics

12   661    CME-11: Comparison of Bill Assistance Programs

13          (September 6, 2005)

14   662    CME-12: Net Benefit from Outside Collections

15   663    CME-13: Tracking the Home Energy Needs of

16          Low-Incomoe Households Through Trend Data on

17          Arrearages and Disconnections, Howat, McKim,

18          Harak, and Wein

19   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

20   664-70 (Not Used)

21   RALPH CAVANGH (NRDC)

22   671-T  RCC-1T: Prefiled Response Testimony

23   672    RCC-2: PacifiCorp Response to NRDC Data

24          Request Nos. 1.1 and 1.2

25   673-80 (Not Used)
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 1   RALPH CAVANAGH (NRDC)/CHRISTY OMOHUNDRO (PACIFICORP)

 2   681-T  RCC/CAO-1T: Joint Testimony in Support of

 3          True-up Mechanism

 4   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 5   682    NRDC Response to Public Counsel Data Request 1

 6          not yet received)

 7   683    NRDC Response to Public Counsel Data Request 2

 8          (not yet received)

 9   684    NRDC Response to Public Counsel Data Request 3

10          (not yet received)

11   685    NRDC Response to Public Counsel Data Request 4

12          (not yet received)

13   686    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

14          Request 181 (not yet received)

15   687    PacifiCorp Response to Public Counsel Data

16          Request 182 (not yet received)

17   688-90 (Not Used)

18   JIM LAZAR (PUBLIC COUNSEL)

19   691-T  JL-1T: Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony

20   692    JL-2: Revenue Requirement for Rate Base

21   693    JL-3: The Fifth Northwest Electric Power and

22          Conservation Plan Briefing Slide

23   694    JL-4: Summary of Impacts of 1% Per Year

24          Decline in Retail Sales

25   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS
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 1   695-700 (Not Used)

 2   JOELLE STEWARD (STAFF)

 3   701-T  JRS-1T: Prefiled Cross-Answer Testimony

 4   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

 5   702-10 (Not Used)

 6   JOINT TESTIMONY OF JIM LAZAR, KATHRYN IVERSON, and

 7   JOELLE STEWARD

 8   711-T  JT-1T: Joint Testimony re: Rate Spread and

 9          Rate Design

10   712    JT-2: Qualifications of Joelle Steward

11   713    JT-3: Qualifications of Kathryn Iverson

12   714    JT-4: Qualifications of Jim Lazar

13   CROSS-EXAMINATION EXHIBITS

14   715-20 (Not Used)

15   ILLUSTRATIVE PUBLIC COMMENT EXHIBIT

16   721    Written Public Comments

17   722-30 (Not Used)

18   BENCH REQUEST RESPONSES

19   731    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 1,

20          with CD

21   732    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 2,

22          with CD

23   733    PacifiCorp First Supplemental Response to

24          Bench Request 2, with CD

25   734    PacifiCorp Response to Request No. 3
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 1   735    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 4,

 2          with CD

 3   736    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 5,

 4          with CD

 5   737    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 6,

 6          with CD

 7   738    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 7,

 8          with CD

 9   739    Staff Response to Bench Request No. 8

10   740    Staff Response to Bench Request No. 9

11   741    Staff Response to Bench Request No. 10

12   742    Public Counsel Response to Bench Request No.

13          11

14   743    Public Counsel Supplemental Response to Bench

15          Request No. 11 (Not yet filed)

16   744    ICNU Response to Bench Request No. 12

17   745    ICNU Supplemental Response to Bench Request

18          No. 12

19   746    ICNU Revised Response to Bench Request No. 12

20   747    PacifiCorp Response to Bench Request No. 13,

21          with CD

22    

23    

24    

25    
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  We're back in hearing, it's

 2   five after 11:00 on Thursday, January the 12th.

 3   We're continuing the hearing from oral argument

 4   yesterday in Dockets UE-050684 and 050412 to continue

 5   the hearing yesterday and begin our evidentiary

 6   hearings into the rate case proceedings.

 7            My understanding is we're beginning with the

 8   testimony of Mr. MacRitchie and the cross-examination

 9   of Mr. MacRitchie.  Is that correct, Mr. Wood?

10            MR. WOOD:  That is correct.

11            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  So I think we're

12   ready to hear our first witness.

13            MR. FFITCH:  Your Honor, can I just inquire,

14   as the witness is coming up, I understood that Mr.

15   Purdy had a travel issue, and is he going to go first

16   with his questions?

17            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Yes, my understanding is Mr.

18   Purdy needs to leave as soon as possible, so the

19   parties have acquiesced to allow him to ask

20   cross-examination first.  After Mr. Purdy's issues

21   are addressed, then we will move to Staff and then

22   Public Counsel and then ICNU.

23            MR. FFITCH:  Could I request that we have a

24   very brief break, at least before my cross, because I

25   have some materials that I don't have with me in the
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 1   hearing room.  They're --

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  I have a feeling we will get

 3   to that break, so -- but we'll keep that in mind.

 4   All right.  Mr. Wood.

 5            MR. WOOD:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman,

 6   Commissioners, my name is Marcus Wood.  I'm

 7   representing PacifiCorp in this proceeding.  Mr. --

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Before we go forward,

 9   actually, I think I do need to swear the witness in.

10   Mr. MacRitchie, if you'd raise your right hand,

11   please.

12   

13   Whereupon,

14                     ANDREW MacRITCHIE,

15   having been first duly sworn, was called as a witness

16   herein and was examined and testified as follows:

17            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Please go ahead.

18            MR. WOOD:  First, let me identify the

19   exhibits that Mr. MacRitchie is sponsoring.  Exhibit

20   1-T, 2, 3, and 4 are testimony identified in the

21   exhibit list as testimony initially filed on behalf

22   of Donald N. Furman.  Mr. MacRitchie now holds the

23   position Mr. Furman held at the time this testimony

24   was filed and Mr. MacRitchie is adopting Mr. Furman's

25   testimony.
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 1            I note the obvious, which is that testimony

 2   describes Mr. Furman and identifies him and -- as the

 3   witness, and makes statements about him.  That

 4   material obviously is not applicable to Mr.

 5   MacRitchie, and Mr. MacRitchie's exhibit and

 6   qualifications are also provided as ANM-1T, which is

 7   Exhibit 5, which is -- or is stated in Exhibit 5,

 8   which is the rebuttal testimony of Andrew MacRitchie.

 9            So we are identifying, then, exhibits that

10   have been pre-identified as Exhibits 1-T, 2, 3, 4 and

11   5 with this witness.

12    

13             D I R E C T   E X A M I N A T I O N

14   BY MR. WOOD:

15       Q.   And Mr. MacRitchie, do you have any changes

16   to make to any of these exhibits?

17       A.   No, no changes other than the, obviously,

18   the qualifications that you've mentioned.  I would

19   say that the size of the rate request has been

20   modified from the direct testimony as outlined in my

21   rebuttal testimony.

22       Q.   And is this testimony true -- that I've

23   identified true and correct, to the best of your

24   knowledge?

25       A.   It is.
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 1            MR. WOOD:  I would offer the exhibits I've

 2   identified at this time, Your Honor.

 3            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Any objections?  Hearing no

 4   objections, Exhibits 1-T -- what have been marked as

 5   Exhibits 1-T through 5 are admitted.

 6            MR. WOOD:  Mr. MacRitchie's available for

 7   cross-examination.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Mr. Purdy.

 9            MR. PURDY:  Thank you.

10    

11              C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

12   BY MR. PURDY:

13       Q.   Good morning, Mr. MacRitchie.

14       A.   Good morning.

15       Q.   I'd like to start off with -- I assume you

16   have your direct testimony in front of you?

17       A.   I do.

18       Q.   Okay.  Beginning on page 19, line 12 of your

19   rebuttal testimony --

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And that's Exhibit 5?

21            MR. PURDY:  Yes.  Actually, mine -- I'm

22   sorry, mine doesn't have an exhibit number on it.

23            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Could you repeat the page

24   and line number?

25            MR. PURDY:  Yes, it is page 19, line 12.
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you.

 2       Q.   Do you have that in front of you?

 3       A.   I do, yeah.

 4       Q.   You state, Mr. MacRitchie, that under the

 5   company's current low-income energy assistance

 6   program, that PacifiCorp assists a maximum of 2,618

 7   customers annually; is that correct?

 8       A.   That was the last maximum number of

 9   customers that had been enrolled in the system;

10   that's correct.

11       Q.   Okay.  So I want to -- I just want to clear

12   up what you mean by maximum and whether or not that

13   represents actual customers assisted?

14       A.   It represents -- sorry.  It represents

15   actual customers assisted, so those that have

16   enrolled in the program.

17       Q.   Well, I'd like to expedite this, if

18   possible, and we've had previous discussions off the

19   record regarding a production request response

20   provided by your company that particularly responds

21   4-A to the Energy Project's set of production

22   requests, and if necessary, we've identified that as

23   a cross exhibit, but are you of the opinion that

24   perhaps there might be a discrepancy between what is

25   shown in Exhibit 4-A, or Data Response 4-A in terms
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 1   of actual customers served versus your 2,618 figure?

 2       A.   I can't put my hand on the response 4-A, but

 3   my understanding, that request is average numbers of

 4   customers, so that number is an average across the

 5   period.  We -- the number referenced in my rebuttal

 6   testimony is actual customers enrolled in the system.

 7   The program runs between November, I think, and March

 8   of every year, and the number of customers in each

 9   month actually varies during these months and peaks

10   around about February, I believe.  And so the numbers

11   that you see in that data request were average

12   numbers over that period, so basically numbers

13   enrolled divided by the period.  So the numbers are

14   consistent, but they just represent different views.

15            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Mr. Purdy, the responses to

16   the data requests to -- PacifiCorp's responses to

17   Energy Project's data requests were marked as Exhibit

18   19.  Do you want to put those into the record to ask

19   about them?

20            MR. PURDY:  Well, yes.  The -- of course the

21   Commission has been provided and the parties have

22   been provided with Exhibit 19, and so I assume that

23   everyone has a copy of that exhibit.

24            JUDGE MACE:  I just wanted to note, I've

25   looked in my copy of the exhibit, and 4-A talks about
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 1   an enclosed CD, and I don't have that.  I wondered if

 2   4-A -- your reference to Exhibit 4-A shows on my copy

 3   that there's an enclosed CD.  Is that something the

 4   company may have supplied in some way or is that

 5   something that should have been attached to your

 6   exhibit?

 7            MR. PURDY:  It was attached, perhaps it was

 8   not -- a disc was not provided to everybody.  As I

 9   recall, the disc was not -- it was read only and it

10   wasn't -- we had some difficulties in copying the

11   disc onto additional discs.  Consequently, we had

12   printed out additional copies, and I believe the

13   company was going to provide additional copies of

14   Exhibit 4-A.

15            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  Well, we can

16   supplement the record with that later.  My question

17   --

18            MR. PURDY:  Okay.

19            JUDGE RENDAHL:  -- is just simply whether

20   you want to have this admitted for purposes of

21   questioning the witness?

22            MR. PURDY:  Yes, I would, Your Honor.  Thank

23   you.

24            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Are there any

25   objections to admitting Exhibit 19, with the
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 1   understanding it would be supplemented with a disc,

 2   either by Energy Project or the company?

 3            MR. FFITCH:  No objection.

 4            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Hearing no objection,

 5   Exhibit 19 is admitted.

 6            MR. PURDY:  Sorry for that confusion.  Thank

 7   you.

 8       Q.   So if I understand your answer correctly,

 9   Mr. MacRitchie, the 2,618 number of customers served

10   by the low-income energy assistance program is an

11   average?

12       A.   No.

13       Q.   It's not necessarily the exact number of

14   customers that receive that type of assistance every

15   month during the time period that you indicated in

16   your answer?

17       A.   No, the 2,618 is the maximum number of

18   customers enrolled in the system.  I believe that was

19   over the 2004 period, but the numbers in the data

20   request, I believe the data request looked at

21   averages or asked for averages, and so the numbers

22   are lower because, as an average over this, I guess,

23   six-month period when this is in existence, if you

24   average that out, there is less customers on an

25   average basis because the early months, they aren't
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 1   -- the numbers of enrolled are not as great as when

 2   you get to kind of January, February time frame.

 3       Q.   Correct.  Would you agree with me that, with

 4   respect to low-income customers' needs, that those

 5   needs, in general terms, exist all 12 months of the

 6   year and not simply during the late fall, winter,

 7   early spring months?  Is that a fair statement?

 8       A.   I don't have any evidence to suggest that.

 9   I know, obviously, that the heating bills are most

10   obviously during the winter period, and that's why

11   this program is directed towards that period.

12       Q.   Might there be, just based on the lack of

13   income, the lack of wealth of low-income customers,

14   however, a need all 12 months of the year?

15       A.   That may be the case.  I don't have any

16   evidence to suggest that's the case.

17       Q.   All right.  Now, on page -- again, on page

18   19, line 17 of your rebuttal testimony, you proposed

19   increasing funding to the bill payment assistance

20   program by 30 percent; is that correct?

21       A.   That's correct.

22       Q.   And isn't it true that this program was

23   implemented in 2001?

24       A.   That's correct.

25       Q.   And it's also true, is it not, that there
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 1   have been no increases in funding of that program

 2   since its inception?

 3       A.   The funding is a percentage of gross

 4   revenue, so that the actual numbers vary, obviously,

 5   with gross revenues, but the percentage hasn't

 6   changed.

 7       Q.   Okay.  What is the company's gross operating

 8   revenues for Washington for the test year for

 9   purposes of this proceeding?

10       A.   Total revenues are about 220 million.

11            JUDGE RENDAHL:  220 million?

12            THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you.

14       Q.   And what is the low-income bill payment

15   assistance funding for the test year?

16       A.   I don't have that figure.

17       Q.   All right.  Subject to check, would you

18   agree that it might be in the neighborhood of

19   $560,000?

20       A.   What I do know is it will be based on the

21   percentage that we've agreed, so whatever that

22   percentage is of the gross revenues for that year.

23            MR. WOOD:  Subject -- in response to subject

24   to check, is the question being asked what it is

25   under -- was in the test year or what it is under the
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 1   company's proposal for the test year?

 2            MR. PURDY:  And my answer is what it was

 3   during the test year.

 4            MR. WOOD:  Actual.

 5            MR. PURDY:  Actual, yes.

 6            MR. WOOD:  Okay.

 7       Q.   Does that change your answer?

 8       A.   It should be.  My understanding is that it

 9   will be the percentage applies to the gross revenues

10   in that year, so I think it's 0.26 percent applied to

11   gross revenues.

12       Q.   Thank you.  That answered my next question.

13   0.26 percent of gross operating revenues; correct?

14       A.   Yes.

15       Q.   Yes.  And Mr. MacRitchie, did you review the

16   direct testimony of Mr. Charles Eberdt, who testified

17   on behalf of The Energy Project?

18       A.   Yes, I did.

19       Q.   Okay.  And it's true, is it not, that you

20   are the only PacifiCorp witness who is testifying in

21   this proceeding regarding low-income issues?

22       A.   That's correct, although the revenue

23   requirement implications of this will be testified by

24   Witness Paul Wrigley.

25       Q.   All right.
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 1       A.   And I believe he's actually the Respondent

 2   in a number of the data requests that you've asked

 3   of.

 4       Q.   Fair enough.  But with respect to policy and

 5   levels of funding and what is appropriate and what is

 6   not, you are the person to be asking these questions?

 7       A.   That's correct.

 8       Q.   Okay.  Now, Mr. Eberdt testified in his

 9   direct testimony that -- and you indicated that you

10   reviewed that, that Puget Sound Electric contributes

11   roughly 0.41 percent of its gross operating revenues,

12   and Avista 0.64 percent for electric measures.  Isn't

13   it true that the company has not refuted any of these

14   statistics?

15       A.   That's correct.

16       Q.   All right.  So quite candidly, PacifiCorp is

17   at the bottom of those three IOUs in terms of

18   low-income bill payment assistance funding?

19       A.   If you're saying is our percentage is the

20   lowest percentage, that's correct.  Obviously, it's a

21   percentage of gross revenues, and therefore gross

22   revenues need to be taken into account when you look

23   at that.  I guess the -- if you take the Puget and

24   Puget was the only one that I looked at, you're

25   correct, there are percentages 0.41, which is about
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 1   25 percent higher than our rate, but then their

 2   prices, as well, are about 25 percent higher than our

 3   residential rates, so I think there is some level of

 4   comparison there if you take into account the

 5   residential rates, as well.

 6       Q.   However, your current funding level of 0.26

 7   percent is a little more than only half of Puget's

 8   low-income funding level; isn't that true?

 9       A.   That's absolutely true, and when I talk

10   about the 25, 26 percent increase, I'm really talking

11   about the proposal that we put forward, which is

12   after we've increased 2.33 percent.

13       Q.   Okay.  I wanted to stick with what is

14   currently on the table, as opposed to your proposal,

15   and I'll get to that next.

16            Okay.  Now, you are, if I understand you

17   correctly, proposing a 30 percent increase in the

18   low-income bill payment assistance program?

19       A.   That's correct.

20       Q.   And have you conducted any study or analysis

21   or do you know if that will bring you up to par in

22   terms of percentage of gross operating revenues with

23   either Avista or Puget Sound Electric?

24       A.   As I said, looking at Puget alone, we

25   believe that that brings us to a par with what Puget
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 1   is offering.

 2       Q.   Okay.  So 30 percent of 0.26 -- 30 percent

 3   increase to 0.26 percent brings you up to 0.41

 4   percent?

 5       A.   Brings us up to 0.33 percent of gross

 6   revenues and, when taking into account the disparity

 7   in residential rates, once again, the Puget is about

 8   25, 26 percent higher in their residential rates than

 9   PacifiCorp, and I think Avista is probably about 14,

10   15 percent.

11       Q.   Well, but isn't it true that Puget's and

12   Avista's low-income bill payment assistance programs

13   are available year-round, whereas PacifiCorp's the

14   only utility who limits the availability to the --

15   more or less the winter months; isn't that true?

16       A.   I'll accept that.

17       Q.   All right.  Now, you also acknowledge in

18   your rebuttal testimony, and I'll give you a page

19   reference if you need it, but, generally speaking,

20   that an increase in low-income bill payment

21   assistance funding is warranted, but you do propose

22   implementing a more gradual -- I think your term was

23   gradual increase in this case; is that a fair

24   characterization of your testimony?

25       A.   Yeah, the request was to bring -- from your
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 1   witness, the request was to bring that percentage up

 2   to 0.75, I think it was, percent.  We believe that an

 3   increase is warranted and we agree with your witness

 4   in that respect, and we would increase by 30 percent.

 5   The 30 percent is -- we came to basically on the

 6   basis that since the program was implemented back in

 7   2001, rates have risen by 12 percent, and with the

 8   addition of this increase, then it's around about a

 9   30 percent increase in rates.  So we're keeping it in

10   line.  And in fact, we're willing to commit to any

11   other future rate increases to keep -- to also

12   propose keeping this percentage in line with these.

13       Q.   But why not -- why not bring up your funding

14   level now to whatever level you think is appropriate?

15   In other words, why phase in?  What's the logic

16   behind that?

17       A.   Well, it's not a phase-in; it's a

18   correction.  I think it was appropriately identified

19   that we had not kept the percentage in line with the

20   increase in rates, and we accepted that and we will

21   -- we are proposing to correct that in this

22   particular rate docket.  We will commit to doing that

23   going forward, as well, and any future rate

24   increases, we will ensure that we keep that or

25   certainly propose to keep that percentage in line
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 1   with that.

 2       Q.   You have testified, I believe, that your

 3   proposal will result in roughly 900 additional

 4   low-income customers being served; is that true?

 5       A.   Yes, that's the calculation that's been

 6   done.

 7       Q.   Yet you have indicated that the 30 percent

 8   increase in low-income bill payment assistance

 9   proposal is simply to bring you back up to where you

10   should have been given your rate increases over the

11   years; is that true?

12       A.   Let me correct -- characterize it where we

13   should have been.  I think it's taking into account

14   the fact that there have been rate increases.  I

15   think we felt it was appropriate to keep our

16   percentage in line with that.

17       Q.   Okay, fair enough.  Just from, I guess, a

18   purely -- a basic mathematical standpoint, it seems

19   that the company is proposing serving additional

20   people, yet simply truing up your funding level to

21   account for your rate increases.  Won't, in fact, you

22   actually lose -- don't people on the bottom tier of

23   the low-income bill payment assistance funding get

24   dropped off as a result of that?  In other words, you

25   want to serve more people with the same amount of
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 1   money, essentially?

 2       A.   No, the amount of money will increase

 3   substantially.  As we say, the percentages applies to

 4   gross revenues, so our percentage is increasing -- or

 5   a proposed increase from 0.26 up to 0.33 percent, so

 6   there is more money available.  I don't -- I don't

 7   understand your term people dropping off.  I don't

 8   think we're seeing any dropping off.  I think we're

 9   seeing increased numbers of participants served.

10       Q.   And if that's true, the reason is because

11   you were not funding at a level commensurate with

12   your -- with the rate increases that you were being

13   granted and -- including the one that you seek in

14   this case?

15       A.   I am not sure that even if we had not

16   proposed this, that the numbers would have changed.

17   I think the way in which we calculate this and the

18   banding that is applied to the qualifications would

19   ensure the same number of participants are served

20   regardless of whether we actually change the funding.

21   What we're doing, though, is increasing the funding,

22   which should capture more participants.

23            I should say, this is administered through

24   three non-profit organizations within our territory,

25   and they are certainly feeling that the right thing
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 1   to do would be to increase participation than

 2   necessarily increase the allowances that are given to

 3   individuals.  I think that was their advice to us.

 4       Q.   Getting back to an earlier question I asked

 5   of you, and that was -- we've been sort of

 6   benchmarking off of Puget.  I think you agreed with

 7   me that Avista is funding at a level of 0.64 percent

 8   for electric measures, and Mr. Eberdt also testified

 9   0.76 percent of gas revenues.  You don't -- you

10   aren't suggesting here that your proposal will bring

11   you up to par with Avista, even given your

12   differential in rates, do you?

13       A.   No, and neither am I testifying that the

14   data would suggest that it would be appropriate to

15   have the two on a par.  I think what we have agreed

16   with yourselves is that we need more information, and

17   I think we're committed to getting that information

18   and understanding the issue better.

19       Q.   What type of information do you need to be

20   able to justify in your own minds bringing your

21   funding level up to par with, say, Avista?

22       A.   It's not so much the funding level, but

23   what's used for the funding level and whether this is

24   appropriate to do so.  I -- basically, we haven't

25   looked at it in the detail that's necessary to be
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 1   able to support in front of this Commission that this

 2   is the appropriate level of funding to undertake.

 3   Avista serves a different mix of customers than we

 4   serve, and all things need to be taken into account.

 5       Q.   All right.  Could you provide the Commission

 6   with some idea as to the specifics of if, how, and

 7   when you intend to analyze these details you speak

 8   of?

 9       A.   We -- I think I need to refer to page 20 of

10   my testimony.  We -- I can read out the answer to the

11   question about how we're going to respond to that.

12       Q.   Certainly.

13       A.   Basically, the company is going to work with

14   Commission Staff to try low-income issues in more

15   depth by collecting the data suggested, and the

16   company agrees with this recommendation, as long as

17   the company's allowed to clearly define and identify

18   the low-income customer data that will be collected

19   from existing databases.

20       Q.   So your suggestion or inference that perhaps

21   you will consider additional funding levels to the

22   low-income bill payment assistance is keyed off of

23   this data that you suggest you might be willing to

24   monitor or track?

25       A.   This data and any other, I mean, we are in
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 1   continual discussions with the agencies, the three

 2   agencies in Toppenish, Yakima and Walla Walla, that

 3   undertake and distribute those funds, and there's a

 4   number of sources of information that we continue to

 5   take to decide whether our support for this program

 6   is appropriate and effective.

 7       Q.   At the -- on line 23 of page 19, continuing

 8   over onto page 20 of your testimony, you state, and I

 9   will quote, The company will also commit, continue to

10   revise the collection rate as residential prices

11   change in the future, end of quote.

12            Does the company have any specific proposals

13   regarding future increases in funding levels in this

14   regard?

15       A.   No proposals have been worked out in detail,

16   but will be -- what we are committed to is, in our

17   filing and application of our next rate case, we will

18   make a specific proposal to -- around this area and

19   ensure that there's some alignment with the requested

20   rate increase and the level of funding that is being

21   applied.

22       Q.   So is that to say that you will take a look

23   at increasing funding levels so that they are

24   commensurate with whatever proposed rate increase you

25   are seeking; is that what you are saying?
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 1       A.   Yes.

 2       Q.   Okay.  And you are committing the company to

 3   that?

 4       A.   We're committing to look at that and to make

 5   a proposal in every rate filing that we make in the

 6   future.

 7       Q.   All right.  With respect to the utility's

 8   low-income weatherization or efficiency program, it's

 9   my assessment that you have rejected The Energy

10   Project's proposal that your company terminate its

11   policy to pay only 50 percent of any given project

12   cost, requiring that the other 50 percent be funded

13   by either federal or state funds.  Is that a fair

14   characterization of your testimony?

15       A.   It's an incomplete characterization inasmuch

16   as what we -- the way in which we operate this

17   funding is that we provide 50 percent match of

18   federal and state funds until these federal and state

19   funds are exhausted, and then we provide a hundred

20   percent funding.  And the reason we do that is

21   because we want to maximize the use of federal and

22   state funding that's available, and some of that

23   funding requires a match to be applied, so we believe

24   this is the best way of ensuring that we maximize

25   both federal and state funding and ensure that we are
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 1   able to continue to support this program effectively.

 2       Q.   And I assume that you believe that your

 3   company is truly committed to energy efficiency in

 4   general and low-income efficiency in particular?

 5       A.   I believe that our actions show that, and I

 6   can certainly testify to the fact that we have that

 7   as a priority.

 8       Q.   I'm sorry, you have what?

 9       A.   We have that as a priority.

10       Q.   In this case?

11       A.   In our business.

12       Q.   Though you did not increase your funding

13   levels to -- well, to the low-income bill payment

14   assistance since its inception.  What have you done

15   to the low-income energy efficiency program in the

16   past five years that demonstrates a commitment to

17   low-income energy efficiency?

18       A.   It's not so much the collection of the money

19   or the provision of the money, but how you make that

20   money work, and I believe that we've worked very

21   effectively with agencies to make sure that that

22   money is effectively utilized, and I think the

23   numbers that were provided, I believe in one data

24   request that you asked for, showing the amount of

25   work that's actually been completed as a result of
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 1   that shows a lot of energy put in from the company to

 2   ensure that this is an effective program.

 3       Q.   But as a practical matter, Mr. MacRitchie,

 4   doesn't the 50 percent matching requirement

 5   effectively reduce the number of low-income homes

 6   that might otherwise be -- might otherwise receive

 7   energy efficiency measures?  In other words, if you

 8   were just to fund at a hundred percent from the

 9   outset of any given project the cap agencies or the

10   agencies that conduct the weatherization work would

11   have that much more money to weatherize that many

12   more homes?

13       A.   No, we -- this is a matching of state and

14   federal, so as far as the recipient is concerned,

15   they receive the funding.  Where that funding comes

16   from, what we're saying is that we will -- we provide

17   50 percent and look for the other 50 percent to be

18   picked up by state and federal programs, which, in

19   actual fact, as I said before, don't kick in unless

20   there's a matching situation in effect.  And so I

21   think quite the reverse.  I actually think that, by

22   having this 50 percent matching requirement, I

23   actually think we maximize the benefits of this

24   project by ensuring that we exhaust all state and

25   federal funding available.
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 1       Q.   Does either Puget Sound Electric or Avista

 2   have this 50 percent condition in place, to your

 3   knowledge?

 4       A.   I'm not sure of their programs.  What I do

 5   know is we have a cap to a million dollars on the

 6   funding, so -- and I understand Puget, also, I guess,

 7   despite the fact that they've got significantly more

 8   customers and revenues, but they have a million

 9   dollar cap, as well.  So I don't know the way in

10   which they manage the matching situation.

11       Q.   All right.  You have further testified that

12   your company would, and I refer you to page 21 if you

13   need a reference, that your company would provide

14   further benefits by considering offering rebates on

15   additional cost effective measures.  Do you recall

16   that testimony?

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   Could you -- well, my question is what

19   additional measures do you believe could be eligible

20   for funding that are not already eligible?

21       A.   I'm sorry, I don't have the details on that

22   that I would be able to give you.

23       Q.   I'm sorry, I didn't hear your answer.

24       A.   I don't have the details on that I would be

25   able to give you, but if you wanted to ask a data
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 1   request, I'm sure we could provide it.

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Mr. MacRitchie, can I ask

 3   you to speak a bit louder and directly into the mike?

 4            THE WITNESS:  Sure.

 5            JUDGE RENDAHL:  It's dropping off a bit at

 6   the end of your response.

 7       Q.   Yet you must have meant something when you

 8   made that statement, so I'm just curious what you had

 9   in mind, this is your testimony, when you referenced

10   additional measures and made a commitment to consider

11   -- or I'm sorry, further benefits, made a commitment

12   to consider providing those.  What did you have in

13   mind when you made that statement?

14       A.   What I had in mind was that we had -- we

15   have had feedback from our partner companies who have

16   been undertaking this work, and I believe they see

17   some alternative approaches and benefits.  I don't

18   know the details of them, but I know that they want

19   to work with us to find alternatives and additional

20   ways in utilizing this funding.

21       Q.   And by your partnering agencies, to whom are

22   you referring?

23       A.   Both the volunteer agencies and also the

24   contractors that undertake the work.

25       Q.   All right.  And would you be able today to
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 1   provide any details or specifics as to how you might

 2   work with them to determine further benefits or

 3   additional measures?

 4       A.   No.

 5       Q.   Doesn't that strike you as somewhat of a,

 6   with all due respect, a hollow commitment?

 7       A.   No, the commitment is that we will work with

 8   these agencies and partners to establish what is

 9   appropriate and effective.  I don't believe that's a

10   hollow commitment.  We're making that commitment, and

11   I believe we have done so in the past and will

12   continue to do so.  So I think we will undoubtedly

13   follow through on that.  What you asked for is

14   details today, and that's what I can't provide.

15       Q.   Okay.  Would you be willing to commit the

16   company to addressing that in its next general rate

17   case?

18       A.   I certainly could, yes.

19       Q.   You could?

20       A.   Yes.

21       Q.   Thank you.  Turning on to other issues, you

22   have committed to work with the Commission Staff to

23   track low-income issues per Mr. Eberdt's suggestion;

24   is that right?

25       A.   Could you refer me to the part in the
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 1   testimony?

 2       Q.   Absolutely.  It's on page 20, and your

 3   answer begins on line four.  Do you see that?

 4       A.   Yes.

 5       Q.   So your answer is yes?

 6       A.   Yes.

 7       Q.   You will work with the Commission Staff to

 8   track low-income issues?

 9       A.   That's correct.

10       Q.   Okay.  But yet, in that same section of

11   testimony, you insist that the company is willing to

12   do so only if it is allowed to clearly define and

13   identify the low-income customer data that will be

14   collected.  So my question to you is simply would you

15   elaborate on what you mean by that?

16       A.   The only reason we qualified that is that

17   there is the opportunity, I guess, for gathering

18   large amounts of information, which probably has no

19   relevance to the role in which we perform in this

20   particular area, so it really is just making sure

21   that the information that we collect is going to be

22   useful to the purposes of what we set out to achieve.

23       Q.   Are you able to commit to any type of

24   timeline or scope or identification of a working

25   group by which you might begin to track this data and
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 1   identify what data should be tracked, other than just

 2   to make the broad assertion that you will do this in

 3   the future at some point in time?

 4       A.   Well, this work would be in collaboration,

 5   and I wouldn't want to commit to anything without the

 6   partners that we would have in this endeavor.

 7       Q.   Would you be amenable and could you commit

 8   on behalf of the company to commence some type of

 9   collaborative process within the next, say, eight

10   months?

11       A.   I think that would be appropriate, yes.

12       Q.   All right.  And similarly, you commit to

13   developing a program to identify and manage

14   arrearages as proposed by Mr. Eberdt for low-income

15   customers.  That's true, is it not?

16       A.   That's correct.

17       Q.   All right.  And again, I'm going to ask you

18   the same questions that I did with respect to

19   tracking of low-income data.  Do you have any

20   specifics in terms of how you propose going about

21   managing arrearages?

22       A.   I don't have the specifics.  My

23   understanding is that this has not been started yet,

24   but there has been some preliminary discussions with

25   parties about how it might happen, but nothing
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 1   definitive.

 2       Q.   And am I overreaching in assuming that you

 3   would work with my client in both the data tracking

 4   and arrearage management collaborative efforts, as

 5   well as the Commission Staff?

 6       A.   Yes, I think that would be absolutely

 7   appropriate and we would commit to do so.

 8       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  And again, same time

 9   frame, you know, does eight months seem realistic to

10   begin addressing these kinds of issues and trying to

11   form some type of collaborative effort?

12       A.   I believe that's -- eight months would be

13   fine, yeah.

14       Q.   Now, given that -- well, does PacifiCorp

15   intend to file another general rate case

16   approximately in June of this year?

17       A.   We have not made a final determination of

18   whether that is appropriate, but it's certainly --

19   we've communicated that that's a possibility.

20       Q.   Okay.  Assuming, hypothetically, that you

21   did file in June, of course eight months would put us

22   beyond that, but would you commit to addressing, at

23   least in general terms, these issues in your direct

24   filing, your next general rate case, whenever that

25   does occur?
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 1       A.   I think it would be probably more

 2   appropriate to have it as supplemental filing during

 3   the process.  I'm not sure that, by June, we would

 4   necessarily have details that would be substantial

 5   enough to be able to be part of that direct

 6   testimony.  Neither do I necessarily know whether the

 7   outcomes will all be necessary to be part of a rate

 8   proceeding.  They may be tariff changes that could be

 9   undertaken without necessarily having to go through

10   the process of a rate proceeding.

11       Q.   Okay.  And finally, you say that, with

12   respect to the arrearage management issue, that such

13   a program will be implemented only if the analysis

14   shows that there is value to the customers of the

15   company, and my question is simply when, how, and

16   will you determine whether there is such value?

17       A.   Through the process of this joint work group

18   that we're proposing here, that would be the outcome

19   I would expect or the work product from that group,

20   which would be proposals and an assessment of their

21   effectiveness.

22       Q.   All right.  Now, there have been discussions

23   in recent days that, in addition to your 30 percent

24   increase to the overall low-income bill payment

25   assistance funding level, that the company might also
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 1   be willing to increase the credit values per

 2   customer.  In other words, the amount that any given

 3   eligible customer is entitled to receive might also

 4   increase.  Are you prepared to explain what that

 5   perhaps new proposal is?

 6       A.   Yeah, that's -- it's covered in Staff Data

 7   Request 376.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Can you repeat that number?

 9            THE WITNESS:  376.  I believe it's --

10            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Is that what was just

11   distributed this morning?

12            MR. TROTTER:  Yes, Your Honor.  It's Exhibit

13   7.

14            THE WITNESS:  Yes, Exhibit 7.

15       Q.   So you're referring to Exhibit 7, page one;

16   is that correct, Mr. MacRitchie?

17       A.   That's correct.

18       Q.   Okay.

19       A.   And what we're proposing there is an

20   increase by ten percent of the participant cap that

21   is within the program.  The program has three

22   different bands, and it kicks in above 600

23   kilowatt-hour thresholds, and then provides a credit

24   associated with energy above that level in three

25   bands, as I said.  The -- this is increasing the
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 1   maximum cap amount by ten percent, so as you can see

 2   from our data response, we believe that that will

 3   increase the participation by about 22 percent.

 4       Q.   But intuitively, if you are making -- or

 5   intuitively, if you are providing more money per

 6   customer, given a set pot of money, overall funding

 7   level, aren't you going to burn through that funding

 8   level faster if you give out greater sums of money to

 9   any given eligible individual?

10       A.   My understanding, this is increasing the

11   cap, which increases participant numbers, as opposed

12   to participant -- individual funding.

13       Q.   That's your understanding?

14       A.   That is my understanding of this, but Mr.

15   Wrigley could be of more -- provide more detail on

16   that, since he will be responsible for the tariff.

17       Q.   Okay.  If I might have just one moment to

18   review my notes?  And I assume that in the event --

19   well, assuming that the Commission approved your

20   proposal with respect to low-income bill payment

21   assistance, that these changes, these increases in

22   levels of funding would be effective immediately or

23   when?

24       A.   Yes, when rates go into effect, yeah.

25       Q.   Okay.

0310

 1       A.   Although I would say, rates go into effect

 2   on the 4th, 5th of April, I think that's the end of

 3   the period.  So the period runs from November through

 4   March, so it would go into effect in November.

 5            MR. PURDY:  Right, okay.  That's all I have,

 6   Your Honor.  I thank the Commission's and the

 7   parties' indulgence in -- or indulging me in allowing

 8   me to attend my family's situation.  Thank you very

 9   much.

10            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  To make sure that we

11   complete this loop, I'm going to allow the company to

12   ask some redirect on your questions, and if the Bench

13   has any questions about these issues, so that we can

14   complete this loop and allow you to leave and then

15   proceed.

16            MR. PURDY:  Thank you.

17            JUDGE RENDAHL:   Mr. Wood, do you have any

18   redirect for this witness?

19            MR. WOOD:  Very brief.

20    

21             R E D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N

22   BY MR. WOOD:

23       Q.   Just a small clarification.  Turn to page 19

24   of your rebuttal testimony, and I'm referring to the

25   sentence on lines 17 and 18.  I believe on several
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 1   instances you referred to the proposed increase of

 2   funds to be to a rate of 0.33 percent of gross

 3   operating revenues.  Is that -- did you mean 0.34

 4   percent?

 5       A.   Yes.

 6       Q.   Okay.  And secondly, you identified the fact

 7   that the company provided -- would provide this 0.34

 8   percent over the winter season, rather than 12

 9   months.  Does this allow the company to make larger

10   payments during those months than if they were spread

11   out over the full 12 months?

12       A.   That would be the implication of that, yes.

13            MR. WOOD:  Thank you.  That's all I have.

14            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  Any questions

15   from the Bench for this witness?

16    

17                   E X A M I N A T I O N

18   BY COMMISSIONER OSHIE:

19       Q.   I would just like to -- this is Commissioner

20   Oshie.  I want to follow-up on both the questions

21   that were asked by Mr. Purdy and Mr. Wood's, his

22   redirect, because, really, I think the situation in

23   the Yakima Valley, Walla Walla, where you have

24   extremely high summer temperatures, they've been

25   increasing, isn't there really the same, if you will,
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 1   health concern for those customers who need heating

 2   assistance in the winter, isn't the same health

 3   concern for some customers, as well, receiving

 4   assistance for air conditioning in the summertime?

 5   I mean, is that recognized in your answer, Mr.

 6   MacRitchie, or is --

 7       A.   Well, I think what's recognized -- it's a

 8   good point, and I think what is recognized is that we

 9   need to continue to evolve this program and ensure

10   that it keeps track of the changing requirements of

11   our customers.  And I think that particular issue

12   you're talking about, about the increased use of air

13   conditioning, even for low-income households, is an

14   emerging issue that we need to look at and assess

15   whether, in fact, our funding could be better used or

16   used more effectively by expanding this into summer

17   months, as well.

18            But that's what, as I mentioned to Mr.

19   Purdy, we are intending to do through the studies

20   that we're going to undertake with our partner

21   organizations, to assess whether, in fact, there

22   should be some changes coming forward.  So it's a

23   very good point.

24            COMMISSIONER OSHIE:  All right.  I have

25   nothing further, particularly on these issues.  I do
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 1   have some questions about decoupling, which you

 2   briefly touch on, but I'd reserve that for later.

 3            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Right.  Commissioner Jones.

 4    

 5                  E X A M I N A T I O N

 6   BY COMMISSIONER JONES:

 7       Q.   I just have a -- welcome.

 8       A.   Thank you.  Good morning.

 9       Q.   I just have a question on the fourth

10   recommendation of The Energy Project on low-income

11   weatherization assistance.  And it is the

12   organization's proposal to terminate the 50 percent

13   cap.  Does the -- could you describe in a little

14   more detail how this works in terms of -- my

15   understanding is, besides the state funding through

16   the Washington Matchmaker program, isn't there some

17   federal funding available, as well, and is that taken

18   into account as you calculate which households are

19   eligible?

20       A.   My understanding, as well, and I must admit

21   I don't have the specific details on this, but my

22   understanding is there is federal funding available,

23   as well, that supplements the Washington State

24   Matchmaker funding.

25       Q.   I've looked at one of the data requests from
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 1   -- this is more of a technical question, but are most

 2   of the projects oriented towards ceiling insulation

 3   and windows, and has that changed over the years?

 4   Kind of relates to what Commissioner Oshie said on

 5   the summer needs, as well.  What sort of specific

 6   weatherization programs receive the bulk of this

 7   money?

 8       A.   The bulk of the money, and I'm referring to

 9   the Data Request Number Two to the -- for The Energy

10   Project, it lists there the particular areas.  And as

11   can be seen there, ceiling insulation and window

12   replacements are -- cover about $100,000 each of

13   funding.  The next ones below that are thermal doors

14   and wall insulation and energy education.

15            So I guess, to some extent, the energy

16   education piece is not purely a winter or a cold

17   weather-based initiative, but does actually provide

18   energy assistance, efficiency assistance throughout

19   the year.

20       Q.   And in this program, am I correct in that

21   the funds are provided to three community action

22   agencies, including one I think in the Yakima Valley,

23   and the community action agencies implement the

24   program?

25       A.   Yes, they're based out of three centers, one
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 1   in Yakima, Toppenish and Walla Walla.

 2       Q.   What sort of cost effectiveness standard is

 3   applied, because I understand Energy Project's -- one

 4   of their criticisms of this program, besides the 50

 5   percent cap until state and federal funds are

 6   exhausted, the other criticism is perhaps the cost

 7   effectiveness test is too stringent.

 8       A.   Right.

 9       Q.   Am I correct in that?

10       A.   I certainly have heard that that has been an

11   issue that's been raised.  And once again, I would,

12   first of all, say I don't have any further

13   information to provide on that, but I would say

14   that's certainly one of the areas of review that we

15   would be undertaking when we -- as committed in this

16   testimony, within the next eight months, I guess,

17   we're going to start that process.

18       Q.   Thank you.  That's all I have.

19       A.   Thank you.

20    

21                   E X A M I N A T I O N

22   BY CHAIRMAN SIDRAN:

23       Q.   Good morning.

24       A.   Good morning.

25       Q.   I just have one question about your
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 1   testimony at page 20, line four.  This relates to

 2   data collection.  And you say in your testimony, with

 3   regard to Mr. Eberdt's recommendation to collect data

 4   suggested by Howat, H-o-w-a-t, et al., and then, in

 5   the next sentence, you say -- you express the

 6   company's reservations about some aspects of this.

 7            I'm interested, since I don't really recall

 8   any particulars about Howat and what data is

 9   referenced there, is the data referred to in the

10   reference to Howat, et al., in the existing databases

11   that you describe in the next sentence?  Do you have

12   the data in your existing databases?

13       A.   We have some of the data in the existing

14   databases, and I guess what we're saying here is

15   there may be a requirement to expand that data for

16   the purposes of bringing forward good

17   recommendations.  So there is -- that's part of what

18   we're attempting to do to ensure that we don't start

19   going out for mass new data recovery, but actually

20   utilize the data that's already in the existing

21   databases.  And yes, that does overlap and comport to

22   some of the Howat proposals.

23       Q.   So do I understand your answer to be that

24   some of the data that would be apparently, according

25   to Howat, et al., useful exists in your existing
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 1   database, but that the company's open to the

 2   possibility of collecting additional data not

 3   currently collected within your database?

 4       A.   To the extent that that data would be

 5   necessary for us to be able to make clear conclusions

 6   and appropriately change the programs and modify the

 7   programs, then I think we are committed to looking at

 8   the cost effectiveness of capturing that data.

 9            CHAIRMAN SIDRAN:  All right.  Thank you.

10   That's all.

11    

12                   E X A M I N A T I O N

13   BY JUDGE RENDAHL:

14       Q.  Okay.  Just one clarification.  When you were

15   answering Commissioner Jones' questions and you

16   referred to data request -- the response to Data

17   Request 2, that's included in what's been marked as

18   Exhibit 19?

19       A.   That's correct.

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Okay.  Is there

21   anything further on this issue for this witness?

22            MR. TROTTER:  I have a couple of questions,

23   Your Honor, in this area.

24            JUDGE RENDAHL:  No, I'm not intending to cut

25   off other parties' cross-examination; I'm referring
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 1   to anything that requires Mr. Purdy to remain in the

 2   room.

 3            MR. TROTTER:  Let me just ask my two

 4   questions, because it is in his area, if you're so

 5   inclined.

 6            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Let's go ahead.

 7    

 8               C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

 9   BY MR. TROTTER:

10       Q.   Okay.  Turn to Exhibit 7.  In the first

11   paragraph, the company initially responded that it

12   would rather increase the amount of participants in

13   the low-income credit program versus increasing the

14   credit.  Do you see that?

15       A.   Yes.

16       Q.   And for the record, the complete response is

17   marked as Exhibit 9, is that right, that we're

18   quoting from here?  Data Request 356 is Exhibit 9 in

19   this proceeding?

20       A.   Yes, that's correct.

21       Q.   Okay, okay.  And am I correct that the

22   company has modified that position and is agreeing to

23   increase the credit by ten percent, which will have

24   the effect of increasing the amount of money given to

25   participants, but at the same time there will be
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 1   additional funds that will be allowed to be used to

 2   increase the number of participants, as well; is that

 3   right?

 4       A.   I believe that's the case, yes.

 5       Q.   Now, in your previous response, you made a

 6   mention of a cap and so on, but this is actually a

 7   ten percent increase in the rate credit itself; is

 8   that right?

 9       A.   Yes, you're correct and I was wrong.

10       Q.   Okay.  And this was done after discussion

11   with Commission Staff, and it is currently -- it is

12   the current proposal with regard to the Schedule 17

13   credit and how it should be dealt with?

14       A.   Yes, that's correct.

15            MR. TROTTER:  That completes my questioning

16   in that area, Your Honor.

17            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you for that

18   clarification.  With that, is there anything further

19   for this witness on low-income issues?

20            MR. PURDY:  Your Honor, other than I

21   neglected to move for the admission of Exhibit 19.

22            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  And I think I asked

23   you if you were moving it and you did.

24            MR. PURDY:  Oh, okay.

25            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And then we admitted it, I

0320

 1   believe.  I had it recorded as admitted after no

 2   objection from the parties, but -- well, are there

 3   any objections to admitting Exhibit 19?  All right.

 4   Then I believe it's been done.  Would you like to

 5   move admission of Exhibit 7?

 6            MR. PURDY:  Yes, that, as well.

 7            MR. TROTTER:  And I'll move 9.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Any objections?  Hearing no

 9   objections, Exhibit 7 is admitted, as well.  Is there

10   anything further from Mr. Purdy on this?  And how

11   about 9?

12            MR. TROTTER:  I just did move that.  I'm

13   sorry.

14            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Exhibits 7

15   and 9 are admitted barring any objections.  All

16   right.  Well, then, seeing as it's five after 12:00,

17   let's be in recess until 1:30.  We'll come back and

18   continue with Mr. MacRitchie, beginning with

19   cross-examination by Staff.  So thank you very much,

20   and we'll be in recess till 1:30.

21            (Lunch recess taken.)

22             JUDGE RENDAHL:  So we're going to continue

23   now with the examination of Mr. MacRitchie, so let's

24   continue with the cross-examination with you, Mr.

25   Trotter.
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 1            MR. TROTTER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 2       C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N  (CONTINUING)

 3   BY MR. TROTTER:

 4       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, would you turn to Exhibit 6,

 5   which is the system map of PacifiCorp's service area?

 6       A.   I have that.  Thanks.

 7       Q.   And do you recognize this map as taken from

 8   the company's Web site?

 9       A.   Yes.

10       Q.   And the blue-shaded areas on the map

11   identify the specific service territory where

12   customers served by PacifiCorp are located?

13       A.   I'm sorry, I only have a black and white

14   copy, but I'll just -- thank you.  Yes, the shaded

15   blue does.

16       Q.   Okay.  Just focusing on the Washington

17   service territory, am I correct that PacifiCorp

18   serves the areas in Yakima, Toppenish, Sunnyside, and

19   surrounding areas, as well as Dayton, Walla Walla and

20   surrounding areas that are shaded there?

21       A.   That's correct.

22       Q.   And those areas, plus the area in Oregon and

23   northern California, are located in the company's

24   Western Control Area; is that right?

25       A.   That's correct.
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 1       Q.   Now, there's various lines in different

 2   colors on the map, and just looking at the legend

 3   there, the solid blue lines are company-owned

 4   transmission; is that right?

 5       A.   That's correct.

 6       Q.   And the dotted lines would be the dotted

 7   lines, and then the white lines are other

 8   transmission lines that the company uses, but does

 9   not own; is that right?

10       A.   That's correct, yes.

11       Q.   Is it correct, then, that there is no

12   company-owned transmission from the company's Eastern

13   Control Area to the Western Control Area?

14       A.   No, that's not correct.

15       Q.   Can you show me what solid blue lines

16   connect the Eastern and Western Control Areas?

17       A.   The dotted blue lines show those

18   transmission lines where we have contractual access

19   rights.

20       Q.   Yeah.

21       A.   And so we have connections through

22   contracted rights, as well as lines that we own.

23       Q.   I understand that.  My question was limited

24   to company-owned transmission lines.  There are no

25   company-owned transmission lines that connect the
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 1   Western and Eastern Control Areas; is that right?

 2       A.   That's correct.

 3       Q.   Okay.  But you do have access, as you've

 4   mentioned, through agreements that you have with

 5   other parties that own the transmission lines;

 6   correct?

 7       A.   We do.

 8       Q.   Okay.  Some of the projects that will be

 9   discussed in our hearings this week, I'd like to go

10   through some of those.  The first one is the Gadsby

11   Peaker project, and the West -- well, let's just

12   start with that.  That's located just to the left of

13   Salt Lake City on this map; is that right?

14       A.   That's correct.

15       Q.   And Currant Creek is just below that.  Do

16   you see that?

17       A.   Yeah.

18       Q.   And West Valley, is that -- where is that

19   located?

20       A.   West Valley's in the Salt Lake area, as

21   well.

22       Q.   Okay.  That's different than West Valley

23   City; is that right?

24       A.   No, it's the same one.

25       Q.   Oh, it is, okay.  And where is the company's
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 1   Lakeside project located?

 2       A.   It's on the east side of the Salt Lake

 3   Valley, so it's, I guess, close to where that Midvale

 4   dot exists.

 5       Q.   Near the Midvale dot?

 6       A.   Actually, no, it's further south.  It's --

 7   there's a Draper, American Fork, Pleasant Grove, Orem

 8   group, which is essentially small hydro.  Well, it's

 9   just slightly north of that, so it's kind of in that

10   collection.

11       Q.   Okay.  And so the facilities we've just

12   discussed are within that small box, which is blown

13   up as the Wasatch Front Service Area; is that right?

14       A.   Yes.

15       Q.   The company recently signed an agreement to

16   purchase power from a geothermal electric generating

17   plant; is that right?

18       A.   That's correct.

19       Q.   Where is that plant located?

20       A.   It's in Utah.  I couldn't actually point to

21   you the right geographic area.  It's Cove Fort, is

22   the project name.

23            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

24            THE WITNESS:  Cove Fort, I believe is the

25   name of the facility, and it's in Utah.
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Can you spell that?

 2            THE WITNESS:  C-o-v-e.

 3       Q.   It's in Utah, but do you know where?  Can

 4   you point it to us?

 5       A.   You know, I don't.  I'm afraid not.

 6       Q.   Okay.  And turning to three other resources,

 7   are you aware that Staff's testimony in this case is

 8   stating that, pending resolution of allocation

 9   issues, Staff has not recommended that the Commission

10   make a prudence determination for purposes of setting

11   Washington rates related to the Craig, Hayden and

12   Cholla projects?

13       A.   I'm aware, yes.

14       Q.   All right.  And let's try to find those on

15   the map.  First of all, Cholla, C-h-o-l-l-a, that's

16   way down at the bottom, between the words Arizona and

17   New Mexico; is that right?

18       A.   Yes.

19       Q.   And Craig and Hayden, if you follow the

20   dotted lines up from Cholla, they're shown just a

21   couple inches above the word Colorado; is that right?

22       A.   Yes.

23       Q.   Now, each of those projects that we've

24   discussed the location of, Gadsby, Currant Creek,

25   West Valley, Lakeside, the geothermal, Craig, Hayden,
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 1   and Cholla -- well, let me strike that.

 2            Am I correct that the revised protocol

 3   allocation method assigns about eight percent of the

 4   Gadsby, West Valley, Currant Creek, Craig, Hayden and

 5   Cholla projects to Washington?

 6       A.   The revised allocation protocol has an

 7   allocation which rolls in all these resources into

 8   the allocation method.  So Washington would pick up

 9   their share, which I think the eight percent is

10   around about the number, yes.

11       Q.   Approximately.  I excluded from my list

12   Lakeside.  That is not part of this case --

13       A.   That's correct.

14       Q.   -- is it?  And the Geothermal also is not?

15       A.   That's correct.

16       Q.   Do you recall being interviewed this fall by

17   -- last fall by Energy Biz Magazine?

18       A.   Yes, I do.

19       Q.   And your questions you were asked related

20   mostly to the MidAmerican acquisition, didn't they?

21       A.   They did.

22       Q.   One of the things you stated there -- I'll

23   just quote it and ask if you were correctly quoted.

24            MR. WOOD:  Excuse me.  Could the witness and

25   myself get a copy of that document, so they could see
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 1   the entire --

 2            MR. TROTTER:  Yes, sure.  I only have one,

 3   but as soon as I read it, I'd be glad to hand it to

 4   you.

 5       Q.   Quote:  Things have changed since 1999.  The

 6   rate of growth - particularly of our Utah territory -

 7   has outpaced all forecasts.  The market in Utah is

 8   now very constrained because of the lack of

 9   transmission investment across the West.  We're

10   having to build our own power lines to meet peak

11   load, unquote.  Is that a correct reading?

12       A.   Yes.

13       Q.   And by constrained because of the lack of

14   transmission, you're referring to, at least in part,

15   the constraints of transmission between the Western

16   and Eastern Control Areas of PacifiCorp?

17       A.   Right across our system, we have

18   transmission constraints in many areas of it.

19       Q.   And that includes from West to East and East

20   to West?

21       A.   It includes all elements, yeah.

22       Q.   Would you agree that your Utah service

23   territory has been -- well, you agreed that the rate

24   of growth in Utah has outpaced all forecasts; is that

25   right?
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 1       A.   That's correct.

 2       Q.   And were you aware, and this is based on a

 3   April '05 article in the Salt Lake Tribune, that the

 4   U.S. Census projects that Utah will be the -- that

 5   projections make Utah the fifth-fastest growing state

 6   in the nation?

 7       A.   I recall that, yes.

 8       Q.   Is that consistent with your understanding?

 9       A.   I don't have any statistics that I could

10   pull to mind, but I remember that article.

11       Q.   There was another article in the same paper

12   from January of '05, that the Utah Governor's Office

13   of Planning and Budget estimated that Washington

14   County, which had a current population of just over

15   125,000, expected to have a population of more than

16   607,000 by 2050.  Do you recall that?

17       A.   No.

18       Q.   Would you accept that, subject to your

19   check?  And I can show you the article.

20       A.   Sure.

21       Q.   Is Washington County a part of PacifiCorp's

22   service territory in Utah?

23       A.   I'm not sure.

24       Q.   Would you accept that it is, subject to your

25   check?
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 1       A.   I would.

 2       Q.   Let's turn to your rebuttal testimony,

 3   Exhibit 5, page 13.

 4            MR. WOOD:  Before we go further, if I could

 5   ask that those articles be supplied to us?  Thank

 6   you.

 7       Q.   On line 19, you state, quote, The fact is

 8   that all the states that have approved the revised

 9   protocol recognize that it is grounded in cost

10   causation principles, unquote.  Do you see that?

11       A.   Yes.

12       Q.   And by states you were referring to

13   regulatory commissions of Idaho, Oregon, Utah and

14   Wyoming; is that right?

15       A.   That's correct.

16       Q.   And were each of those approved in the

17   context of a settlement?

18       A.   Yes, they were.  Actually, I'm not sure I

19   could testify to that.

20       Q.   I believe three out of the four were.

21       A.   Yes, yes.

22       Q.   Okay.  And you did not supply any quotes

23   from any order of those commissions where they

24   actually said that the revised protocol is grounded

25   in cost causation principles, did you?
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 1       A.   No.  Maybe I could explain why that -- I

 2   made that statement.  I was a party to the

 3   development of the revised protocol through what was

 4   called the MSP process.  And right at the beginning

 5   of that process, we spent several days down in Las

 6   Vegas with parties from all our states and we

 7   hammered out what we felt were the objectives of --

 8   any solution to the jurisdictional issues that

 9   PacifiCorp had would be founded on, and primary among

10   them was cost causation.  There was a number of other

11   principles agreed at that point.

12            These same principles were revisited

13   throughout the development of the process, and

14   parties all agreed that when the final package was

15   put together, that it met the priorities and

16   objectives that were set in the start of that

17   process.

18       Q.   You're not including Washington in those

19   parties, are you?

20       A.   Washington was part of that, yes.

21       Q.   That the end result met cost causation --

22       A.   No, that Washington agreed with certain

23   principles that were agreed in the beginning and were

24   used throughout.

25       Q.   But there was no agreement that the end
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 1   result actually satisfied those principles, was

 2   there?

 3       A.   No, unfortunately, the Washington parties

 4   that were involved throughout most of the process

 5   were -- did not see the process all the way through,

 6   particularly those from Staff.

 7       Q.   Now, there's a difference between a

 8   Commission Staff and a Commission itself in

 9   decision-making.  The Commissioners who make the

10   decision, there's a difference between those two,

11   isn't there?

12       A.   Absolutely.

13       Q.   Okay.  All right.  And in your testimony

14   here, states that have approved the revised protocol,

15   you meant to refer to the state commissions, in the

16   sense of the commissioners issuing a decision, didn't

17   you?

18       A.   I was referring to the participants in the

19   states, as well as the commissions.

20       Q.   Okay.  Do you agree that the orders of those

21   commissions state the basis for which the commission

22   itself accepted the revised protocol to the extent it

23   did accept the revised protocol?

24       A.   Yes.

25       Q.   The revised protocol directly assigns to
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 1   Oregon certain Mid-Columbia hydro contract costs,

 2   such as 100 percent of the company's Priest Rapids

 3   contract; is that right?

 4       A.   No, that's not right.

 5       Q.   What percent of the company's Priest Rapids

 6   contract is assigned to Oregon?

 7       A.   The allocated share, so for Washington, it

 8   would be eight percent of the cost would be

 9   allocated.

10            MR. WOOD:  I would just note that if you --

11   on the details of the cost allocation and how

12   resources are allocated, I think either Mr. Taylor or

13   Mr. Duvall are familiar with those details and could

14   answer those questions, I think.

15            MR. TROTTER:  Well, I'm crossing this

16   witness on his testimony.

17            THE WITNESS:  Maybe the confusion that

18   you're having is that the way in which the revised

19   protocol operates is that all resources are allocated

20   according to the shares, but there is a cost

21   adjustment mechanism that is undertaken, what's

22   called the ECD, the embedded cost differential, which

23   takes the value of the resources, the hydro resources

24   compared to the embedded cost that PacifiCorp has,

25   and applies a credit to the Western states.
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 1       Q.   And in that calculation, 100 percent of the

 2   benefits of Priest Rapids goes to Oregon, doesn't it?

 3       A.   I believe that's correct.  Well, sorry, no,

 4   that is not correct.  The way in which it was worked

 5   out was the -- essentially, it looked at the -- what

 6   was the historic ownership requirements and

 7   contractual agreements for each of these plant --

 8   these projects.  And in fact, the project that you're

 9   referring to was, when it was originally assigned or

10   developed, was for the benefits of Oregon customers.

11   So a percentage of that was taken.

12            Percentages of the other projects were taken

13   in the same way, but then what we then did, rather

14   than assign specific projects to any one state in

15   terms of the benefits, what we did was we took that

16   overall percentage of all projects and allocated it.

17   So there was a kind of melding of the resources.

18       Q.   Oregon is moving to a direct access

19   environment under which some PacifiCorp customers

20   would be eligible to get electricity from providers

21   other than PacifiCorp; is that correct?

22       A.   That's correct.  It has already moved to

23   that.

24       Q.   And to the extent that occurs, the resources

25   Pacific used to serve those customers that go to
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 1   other providers are what is called freed up; is that

 2   correct?

 3       A.   That's correct.

 4       Q.   And under the revised protocol, the benefits

 5   of resources that are freed up due to Oregon's direct

 6   access initiatives remain in Oregon; is that correct?

 7       A.   The benefits and costs of the freed up

 8   resources are assigned to Oregon, yes.

 9       Q.   Could you explain how that is, quote,

10   grounded in cost causation principles?

11       A.   Because the cost of that process has been

12   through Oregon, a change in Oregon regulation and a

13   change in the arrangements in Oregon for retail

14   service.

15       Q.   But why wouldn't those freed up resources be

16   available to the system, instead of just Oregon?

17       A.   Because the -- Oregon has paid for -- is

18   paying for the share of it.

19       Q.   So as long as Oregon pays the cost of them,

20   they get to keep them?

21       A.   Well, as long as Oregon continues to

22   contribute as within the revised protocol process,

23   then these costs would be -- that cost and benefits

24   would be assigned to Oregon.

25       Q.   But that's circular, isn't it?  They're
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 1   treated this way because the revised protocol treats

 2   it this way?

 3       A.   That's correct.

 4       Q.   The revised protocol does not treat those

 5   freed up resources as available to the system, do

 6   they -- does it?

 7       A.   It does not treat the costs and benefits

 8   associated with these resources.  The resources

 9   themselves will be available to the system.

10       Q.   But the freed up resources are, in fact,

11   assigned to Oregon along with the costs, the costs

12   and the benefits?

13       A.   If a resource is freed up, there is energy

14   to be -- and if Oregon is not using that energy, it

15   has to go somewhere else, so there is a difference

16   between the cost allocation and accounting and

17   benefit and cost sharing versus how the system will

18   actually work.

19       Q.   Turn to page 14 of your rebuttal.  On lines

20   six through 12, you characterize Staff's approach as

21   color coding electrons.  Do you see that?

22       A.   I do.

23       Q.   Is it your position that any allocation

24   system that is control area-based constitutes color

25   coding of electrons?
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 1       A.   I'm not sure of how many different systems

 2   could be referred to as being control area-based, and

 3   therefore I wouldn't be able to say for sure whether

 4   everyone would be categorized in that way.  How I

 5   would categorize color coding is when specific

 6   resources are assigned to specific loads.

 7       Q.   Okay.  So the freed up resources in Oregon

 8   that are assigned to Oregon would be an example of

 9   color coding?

10       A.   No.  As I said, the actual resources will be

11   what -- will find the load where these resources

12   should serve.  This is an accounting process to

13   ensure that we manage the costs of these resources

14   and benefits appropriately.

15       Q.   But from an accounting basis, by that you

16   just mean an allocation basis for --

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   Okay.  It's color coding from an accounting

19   or allocation perspective, is it not?

20       A.   I wouldn't use the term color coding.

21       Q.   Can you give us a page and line of Mr.

22   Buckley's testimony where he proposes that resources

23   be color coded within the Western Control Area?  And

24   I use the term color coded in the sense that you're

25   using it in your testimony.
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 1       A.   I don't have any line numbers or references.

 2   The term color coding I think probably is something

 3   that we have used, rather than Mr. Buckley, and our

 4   term color coding is when we believe that there is

 5   some mechanism that assumes that a certain resource

 6   can serve a certain load and have no other impact on

 7   the system at all.

 8       Q.   And that would be true of any allocation

 9   system, in your opinion, that was control area-based;

10   is that correct?

11       A.   No.  As I said before, I don't know all the

12   permutations of what may be termed control

13   area-based, and therefore I would not be able to

14   confirm that.

15       Q.   The company is developing a control

16   area-based model in Oregon, is it not, called the

17   hybrid model?

18       A.   Yes, there was a request by the Oregon

19   Commission to develop a hybrid model for comparison

20   purposes.

21       Q.   It actually was an order, not a request,

22   wasn't it?

23       A.   Yes.

24       Q.   And that's a control area based-model?

25       A.   It's -- actually, it's -- yes, I think you
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 1   could say it was a control area-based model.

 2       Q.   And does that model color code electrons in

 3   the sense that you're using that term in your

 4   testimony?

 5       A.   No.

 6       Q.   And so an allocation system that is control

 7   area-based does not necessarily fall afoul of the

 8   characterization that you use in your testimony

 9   called color coding; is that right?

10       A.   Well, maybe I should correct myself.  I

11   think probably our view on color coding would be that

12   the hybrid model is being developed, although I'm not

13   entirely sure that that has been completed yet, but

14   to the extent that it is assigning resources to

15   specific loads, then yes, it would be color coded.

16            I should say that the -- that particular

17   model and the development of it, I would suggest you

18   refer your questions to Mr. Duvall, who is actually

19   leading that piece of work and will be able to give

20   you more specifics on how that is developing.

21       Q.   Let me ask it this way.  Is it your

22   testimony that a control area model that assigns

23   resources in one control area to customers in that

24   control area is color coding?

25       A.   Yes, I would say it probably was.
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 1       Q.   On page 15, line five, you state, quote,

 2   While Staff apparently wants to have the power cost

 3   characteristics of a small, local utility -- do you

 4   see that?

 5       A.   Yes.

 6       Q.   In fact, it was Staff's testimony that if

 7   Eastern Control Area resources provide benefits to

 8   Washington customers, those benefits could be

 9   captured by some other mechanism, such as transfer

10   payments, rather than the automatic rolling in of

11   those costs without a showing that the resources are

12   needed in Washington, deliverable to Washington, or

13   least cost for Washington; isn't that true?

14            MR. WOOD:  Are you asking if that's what

15   Staff testified?

16            MR. TROTTER:  Yes, he is -- excuse me.  Is

17   that an objection, Your Honor?

18            MR. WOOD:  I'm asking for a clarification of

19   the question, whether he's asking the witness whether

20   the witness believes what is stated or whether the

21   witness understands that the Staff so testified.

22            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Rephrase your question, Mr.

23   Trotter.

24       Q.   Do you understand that Staff's testimony is

25   that, in order for Eastern Control Area resources to
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 1   be allocated to Washington, there needs to be a

 2   showing that the resources are needed in Washington,

 3   deliverable to Washington, and least cost for

 4   Washington?

 5       A.   I believe that's the case.

 6       Q.   And Mr. Buckley testified that if Eastern

 7   Control Area resources provide benefits to Washington

 8   customers, those benefits could be captured by some

 9   other mechanism, such as transfer payments; isn't

10   that true?

11       A.   That's true.

12       Q.   Turn to page 16 of your testimony.  Line

13   three, you state that both Staff and Public Counsel

14   have had since 1989 to come up with a coherent

15   allocation proposal.  Do you see that?

16       A.   Yes.

17       Q.   And the company has had since 1989 also;

18   correct?

19       A.   Correct.

20       Q.   The company has been aware for many years of

21   Staff's concerns regarding system-wide rolled-in

22   allocation approaches; isn't that true?

23       A.   I believe so.  I can only speak for my own

24   tenure here of seven years, but I believe that's the

25   case.
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 1       Q.   Is it your understanding that one of the

 2   significant issues in the docket in this state where

 3   the Commission decided whether or not to approve the

 4   Pacific Power/Utah Power merger, U87-1338AT, was the

 5   potential for Washington customers to be adversely

 6   affected by the higher-cost Utah system that was

 7   being merged into Pacific Power and Light; is that

 8   correct?  Is that your understanding?

 9       A.   It's my understanding, yes.

10       Q.   I'd like to refer you to Exhibit 8, which is

11   the testimony of company witness Mr. Reed, his

12   rebuttal testimony in that docket.  Have you read

13   this testimony before you prepared your rebuttal

14   testimony?

15       A.   No.

16       Q.   Please turn to page 12 of the exhibit, which

17   actually --

18       A.   Sorry.  What exhibit number was it, again?

19       Q.   I'm sorry, 8.

20       A.   Number 8.

21       Q.   It's actually page 11 of the testimony, but

22   page 12 of the Exhibit, line 11.  You state, quote,

23   As part of the merged company's filing in future

24   rate-making proceedings in Washington, three power

25   cost studies showing each of the two system costs on
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 1   stand-alone basis absent the merger and the merged

 2   system costs will be presented, unquote.

 3            Oh, and then it goes on.  For rate-making

 4   purposes, these three studies will form the basis to

 5   be relied upon in determining the value of net power

 6   costs which will be allocated to the company's

 7   Washington customers.  Do you see that?

 8       A.   I do.

 9       Q.   Did you have a chance to read this testimony

10   prior to testifying today?

11       A.   Yes, I did.

12       Q.   And did you see anything in here where the

13   company was critical of any of these studies on the

14   basis that they were color coding electrons?

15       A.   No, I don't believe the studies has actually

16   been performed at the point the testimony was

17   prepared.

18       Q.   Do you know whether Pacific filed the types

19   of studies referred to in this testimony in any

20   docket in Washington?

21       A.   My understanding is they did, yes.

22       Q.   You did not in this docket; is that right?

23       A.   No, that's correct.  I think there was a

24   showing associated with this about six months after

25   the merger was completed, which showed that there was
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 1   considerable benefits available to Washington

 2   customers associated with integrated operation of the

 3   system.

 4       Q.   Are you relying on any finding to that

 5   effect by this Commission for that testimony?

 6       A.   What I'm relying on in terms of that

 7   particular statement is a study that was undertaken

 8   through the MSP process, which showed that the

 9   integrated system actually provided some $300 million

10   worth of value to the integrated -- to the

11   integration, and out of that value, Washington

12   customers achieved or received about 14 percent, I

13   believe, of the benefits, even though they were eight

14   percent of the system.

15            So it's from that basis that I feel I can

16   make the statement that Washington is, in fact,

17   making -- receiving the benefits of the integrated

18   system.  When the systems actually were integrated,

19   there was a reduction in the resource requirement of

20   some 400 megawatts when the two systems were brought

21   together at the merger, and that's what originally

22   gave rise to the value that was provided in that

23   study that was provided just after the merger.

24       Q.   And my question to you is were the findings

25   that you are alluding to today ever recorded in any
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 1   finding of fact or conclusion of law in any order

 2   issued by this Commission?

 3       A.   I'm not sure if they went through -- I'm not

 4   sure what happened to the previous, before my tenure,

 5   but as far as the MSP studies, these MSP studies have

 6   been filed, but they are not part of any order.

 7       Q.   Thank you.  I'd like to refer to your direct

 8   testimony, Exhibit 1, page four, line 25.  You're

 9   asked a question about cost volatility.  Do you see

10   that?

11       A.   Yes.

12       Q.   And you indicate that one of the impacts of

13   cost volatility is that it, quote, reduces

14   PacifiCorp's attractiveness to potential creditors

15   and equity investors, further increasing the cost of

16   obtaining funds.  Do you see that?

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   Since that testimony was written, PacifiCorp

19   was able to attract the purchase of the entire

20   company by MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company at a

21   price $1.2 billion above book value; is that correct?

22       A.   That's correct.

23       Q.   Turn to page seven of your -- this

24   testimony.  Right at the bottom, over to the next

25   page, you state that the IRP concludes that
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 1   PacifiCorp's energy sales will grow by 2.1 percent

 2   per year over the next ten years.  And further, peak

 3   loads are expected to grow at three percent annually

 4   for the next ten years?

 5       A.   Yes.

 6       Q.   Those are total company figures, are they

 7   not?

 8       A.   They are.

 9       Q.   They are not specific to Washington?

10       A.   No, Washington figures are -- their peak

11   load will grow just about double what their load is,

12   which is a projection of about one percent of load

13   and about 1.8 percent peak increases over the same

14   period.

15       Q.   Now, you provide a chart there on page eight

16   of Washington employment statistics.  Do you see

17   that?

18       A.   Yes.

19       Q.   And you say that, quote, The rebound of the

20   economy in Washington State is particularly striking,

21   unquote.  Do you see that?

22       A.   Yes.

23       Q.   These are total Washington statistics on

24   this chart; is that right?

25       A.   Correct.
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 1       Q.   And PacifiCorp does not operate in all of

 2   Washington, does it?

 3       A.   No.

 4       Q.   PacifiCorp does not operate in the Puget

 5   Sound area, does it?

 6       A.   No.

 7       Q.   The Puget Sound area drives the employment

 8   statistics you chart, doesn't it?

 9       A.   I would think it would.

10       Q.   Turn to page 25 of Exhibit 1-T.  And here

11   you begin to describe the revised protocol, and over

12   on page 26 and 27, you -- the bottom of page 26, you

13   cite the principles that the revised protocol is

14   based on; is that right?

15       A.   That's correct.

16       Q.   The first principle you cite is promote

17   economic efficiency, and later you state that, by

18   that, you mean operating PacifiCorp's system as an

19   integrated whole; is that right?

20       A.   The second reference is where?

21       Q.   Page 28, lines 10 through 12.

22       A.   That's correct.

23       Q.   And on page 27, on line seven, you identify

24   among your principles, or at least at the end of your

25   list, that the allocation method, quote, should not
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 1   result in disproportionate cost shift among states,

 2   unquote.

 3       A.   Yes.

 4       Q.   And this is to address the concern of some

 5   of the states in the MSP process that the allocation

 6   method that is chosen should have revenue requirement

 7   impacts that are within what company witness Mr.

 8   Taylor calls a, quote, acceptable range, unquote; is

 9   that right?

10       A.   Yes.

11       Q.   Let's move on to your rebuttal, Exhibit 5,

12   page three.  You provide some general comments

13   regarding Staff and other testimony, and you say on

14   line eight and nine that Staff's position is extreme

15   and unreasonable on its face.  Do you see that?

16       A.   Yes.

17       Q.   And by that, you mean to refer to the

18   revenue requirement established in Docket UE-032065?

19       A.   I'm not sure of the reference, but --

20       Q.   It's on line 12.

21       A.   What was the docket number?  Sorry.

22       Q.   032065?

23       A.   And that's this docket; is that right?

24       Q.   No, that's the last -- that's the last rate

25   case docket.
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 1            MR. WOOD:  I believe he was referring to

 2   lines nine through 12 on that page.

 3            THE WITNESS:  Oh, right, okay.  Yes.  Sorry.

 4       Q.   And then, over on the next page, you

 5   criticize -- excuse me.  Just a moment.  At the top

 6   of page four, you criticize Staff's testimony in this

 7   case based on your comparison to the 8.39 percent of

 8   cost of capital that was the result or included in

 9   the result in the 032065 docket?

10       A.   Yes.

11       Q.   Now, as you state in your testimony, that

12   docket was resolved by way of settlement; correct?

13       A.   Correct.

14       Q.   And the Commission approved that settlement

15   agreement, did it not?

16       A.   It did.

17       Q.   PacifiCorp was a party to that agreement,

18   was it not?

19       A.   Yes.

20       Q.   Paragraph 14(e) of that settlement states,

21   No party shall be deemed to have approved, admitted

22   or consented to the facts, principles, methods or

23   theories employed at arriving at the terms of the

24   settlement agreement, nor shall any party be deemed

25   to have agreed that any provision of this settlement
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 1   agreement is appropriate for resolving issues in any

 2   other proceeding.  Did I read that correctly, would

 3   you accept, subject to check?

 4       A.   Yeah, subject to check.

 5       Q.   You're using that 8.39 percent and the other

 6   -- your other comments regarding what occurred in

 7   that docket to resolve issues in this proceeding,

 8   aren't you?

 9       A.   Not to resolve; just to compare.

10       Q.   So the Commission should not rely on your

11   testimony here on page three and four to resolve any

12   issue in this proceeding?

13            MR. WOOD:  Object.  That calls for a legal

14   conclusion by the witness.

15            MR. TROTTER:  May I respond, Your Honor?

16            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Very briefly.

17            MR. TROTTER:  I believe this witness is

18   violating the settlement agreement, and I want to

19   know how the company wishes to treat this testimony

20   on that basis.

21            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Mr. Wood.

22            MR. WOOD:  I believe what the witness said

23   was that he noted the settlement agreement, he could

24   have noted the settlement agreement in the Puget and

25   Avista cases, also, and is suggesting that this is an
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 1   extreme position the Staff is taking.  He is not

 2   arguing and the company does not argue that the Staff

 3   and anyone else would be deemed to have accepted an

 4   8.39 percent return in this case because it was

 5   accepted in a prior case.

 6            I think it is fair to point out that what

 7   Staff is proposing is so far below what anything the

 8   Commission has done or anybody has settled, it brings

 9   into question the reasonableness.  We are not citing

10   the settlement as precedent or something that would

11   call for that result to be done in this case.

12            MR. TROTTER:  Au contraire, Your Honor.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Well, I'm going to allow the

14   question and I'm going to allow the answer and not

15   strike the testimony, if that's what Staff is

16   correcting.  I think it goes to the weight.  I don't

17   see any violation of the settlement at this point.

18       Q.   The revenue requirement in the settlement in

19   that docket was based on the company's protocol

20   allocation method, not the revised protocol; correct?

21       A.   Correct.

22       Q.   And the company's portrayal of revenue and

23   requirement in this case is based on revised

24   protocol; correct?

25       A.   That's correct.
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 1       Q.   Those methods produce different results;

 2   correct?

 3       A.   That's correct.

 4       Q.   You also refer to the -- on page four, in

 5   the paragraph beginning on line eight, you refer to

 6   the PSE case and the Avista case.  Do you see that?

 7       A.   Yes.

 8       Q.   The Avista precedent you cite is the Avista

 9   rate case in Docket UE-050482 and 483; correct?

10       A.   I don't know.

11       Q.   Will you accept that subject to your check?

12       A.   I will.

13       Q.   The 10.4 return on equity you refer to on

14   line 11 is contained in the settlement agreement in

15   that case; is that right?

16       A.   I believe so.

17       Q.   And that agreement has been approved by the

18   Commission; correct?

19       A.   Yes.

20       Q.   And would you accept, subject to check, that

21   that settlement agreement that was approved by the

22   Commission states, in part, No party shall be deemed

23   to have agreed that such a settlement agreement is

24   appropriate for resolving any issues in any other

25   proceeding?
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 1       A.   Subject to check.

 2       Q.   And Staff was a signatory to that agreement?

 3       A.   I don't know.

 4       Q.   Will you accept that subject to check?

 5       A.   Subject to check.

 6       Q.   Let's turn to the PSE case.  That was not a

 7   settlement, was it?

 8       A.   No, I believe that was litigated in front of

 9   the Commission.

10       Q.   Will you accept that you are referring to

11   Docket UG-040640 and 641?

12       A.   Subject to check.

13       Q.   The Commission adopted a DCF analysis for

14   estimating cost of equity in that case; correct?

15       A.   I don't know.

16       Q.   Will you accept that, subject to check?

17       A.   I will.

18            MR. WOOD:  Would you repeat that question,

19   please, so I understand what the witness just

20   accepted?

21       Q.   The Commission adopted a DCF analysis for

22   estimating cost of equity.  Well, and you're

23   referring to an ROE of 10.3 that's contained in that

24   order; is that right?

25       A.   Yes.
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 1       Q.   For the DCF growth rate, the Commission did

 2   not use growth in gross domestic product, or GDP, did

 3   it?

 4       A.   I don't know.

 5       Q.   In this case, PacifiCorp is relying on GDP

 6   growth for DCF growth rate; correct?

 7       A.   There are a number of different approaches

 8   that were put forward by Mr. Hadaway, and I would

 9   suggest you, in fact, direct your questions to Mr.

10   Hadaway on that.

11       Q.   Would you accept that, according to Mr.

12   Hadaway's Exhibit 35, his DCF estimate for cost of

13   equity, using the traditional constant growth DCF

14   model, is 9.3 percent?

15       A.   Subject to check.

16       Q.   And that's a hundred basis lower -- points

17   lower than what the Commission granted PSE based on

18   DCF; correct?

19       A.   Is 9.3 a hundred basis points below 10.3; is

20   that what you're --

21       Q.   One hundred percent, yeah?

22       A.   Yes.

23       Q.   One hundred -- yeah.  Turn to page seven of

24   your rebuttal.  Line seven, you're referring to cap

25   structure, and you say, Other electric utilities
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 1   operating in Washington are allowed equity ratios

 2   greater than suggested by their actual equity

 3   investment.  Do you see that?

 4       A.   Yes.

 5       Q.   And you use this in commenting that the

 6   Staff recommended equity ratio is lower than

 7   Pacific's actual equity ratio, is that right, today?

 8       A.   Yes, that's the Staff recommendation, yes.

 9       Q.   The other electric utilities you refer to

10   here are Avista and PSE?

11       A.   I believe it's specific to Avista.

12       Q.   You say other electric utilities.  Were you

13   referring in that phrase to Avista and PSE?

14       A.   That would be the other electric utilities

15   in Washington, yes.

16       Q.   And in the Avista case we just discussed, a

17   40 percent hypothetical equity ratio was used to

18   determine rate of return; correct?

19       A.   Yes.

20       Q.   And PacifiCorp wants to use a 49.5 equity

21   ratio in this docket; correct?

22       A.   Correct.

23       Q.   In the PSE case, the Commission adopted a 43

24   percent hypothetical equity ratio; correct?

25       A.   I don't know.
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 1       Q.   Would you accept that, subject to your

 2   check?

 3       A.   Yes.

 4       Q.   Would you also agree that the Commission

 5   stated in that case that that equity ratio, quote --

 6   excuse me, that equity ratio was the, quote, best

 7   balance between safety and economy, unquote?

 8       A.   Subject to check.

 9       Q.   Is it a major point of your testimony that

10   the addition of new power plants and other costs

11   cause utilities to file rate cases to raise rates to

12   cover the costs?

13       A.   That's an element of the cost pressures that

14   we're finding as a utility, yes.

15       Q.   Isn't it true that the rates PacifiCorp

16   charges in Utah today are lower than they were before

17   the merger in 1989?

18       A.   I don't know.

19       Q.   Would you accept that, subject to your

20   check?  And I can refer you to --

21            MR. WOOD:  I object on the grounds of

22   relevance.  We're not trying a Utah rate case here.

23   Whether they're higher or lower is not relevant to

24   what the rates are to be in Washington.

25       Q.   I wasn't done.  I'm referring to your
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 1   response to UTC Staff Data Request 183-D.

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Is that marked as an

 3   exhibit?

 4            MR. TROTTER:  No.

 5            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Can you repeat your

 6   question, Mr. Trotter?

 7            MR. TROTTER:  Yes, the question was simply

 8   asking him to accept, subject to his check, that the

 9   rates in Utah today are lower than they were before

10   the merger between Utah Power and Pacific Power and

11   Light in 1989.

12            MR. WOOD:  I object.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And the objection is for

14   relevance?

15            MR. WOOD:  Relevance.

16            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Mr. Trotter.

17            MR. TROTTER:  Yes.  We've shown through

18   Exhibit 6 that the company has chosen to locate

19   major, major investment in power plants within the

20   Wasatch Front Service area in Utah, we've established

21   that the load growth in Utah is explosive, and yet

22   the rates in Utah are lower today than they are in

23   1989.  This suggests, may not prove, but it suggests

24   that whatever allocation methods have been used by

25   the company -- whatever those allocation methods are,
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 1   they're not working.  So we suggest it's highly

 2   relevant.

 3            MR. WOOD:  A brief comment.  There can be

 4   many reasons why rates change over time.  We're --

 5   the question here is whether the allocation method is

 6   fair and reasonable for the state of Washington.

 7   We're not trying -- I don't even know whether the

 8   rates are higher or lower in Utah.  It simply is not

 9   relevant to whether or not what we're proposing is

10   reasonable in Washington, any more than what the

11   level -- whether Boeing or anybody else's rates are

12   higher or lower.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you.  Let's go off the

14   record for a moment.  Okay.  Objection denied.

15            MR. TROTTER:  May I just have one moment,

16   Your Honor?

17            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.

18            MR. TROTTER:  That's all I have, Your Honor.

19   I move for the admission --

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Let's be back on the record.

21   We are already.  Mr. Trotter.

22            MR. TROTTER:  Yes, I move for the admission

23   of Exhibits 6 and 8.

24            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Are there any objections to

25   admission of Exhibits 6 and 8 into the record?
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 1   Hearing no objection, those exhibits marked as 6 and

 2   8 will be admitted into the record.  Do you have any

 3   further cross-examination, Mr. Trotter?

 4            MR. TROTTER:  I just wanted to be sure that

 5   the witness did accept --

 6            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Oh, I don't --

 7            MR. TROTTER:  -- my representation subject

 8   to check.  I don't know that that ever got on the

 9   record.

10            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you for that.

11            THE WITNESS:  And what was the

12   representation, again?

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  I think that was the

14   question that was objected to.  Do you need that

15   repeated into record?

16            THE WITNESS:  Whether Utah rates are lower

17   than they were at the point of merger?

18       Q.   Yes.

19       A.   I can quite imagine that they would be when

20   they have had such significant load growth and the

21   fixed costs would be spread across a larger number of

22   customers and you would expect the rates to be

23   significantly lower as a result of that, so I can

24   quite believe that.

25            I can also say that Washington's rates will
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 1   be, in real terms, at a level they were in 1995 after

 2   this proposal.  So I think it's -- I think all states

 3   seem to be benefiting from the integrated system.

 4            MR. TROTTER:  Your Honor, the question that

 5   was pending was whether he accepted my statement

 6   subject to check.  If it's clear on the record that

 7   he did, I'll stop there.

 8            THE WITNESS:  Yes.

 9            MR. TROTTER:  Thank you.

10            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  Do you have any

11   further questions?

12            MR. TROTTER:  Not at this time.  Thank you.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr.

14   ffitch, are you ready to go forward?

15            MR. FFITCH:  Yes, thank you, Your Honor.

16    

17              C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

18   BY MR. FFITCH:

19       Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. MacRitchie.  Let me just

20   follow-up on a couple of points that were explored by

21   Mr. Trotter, and I'm going to keep you on page three

22   of your own rebuttal testimony.  I believe that's

23   Exhibit 5, if I recall, and I'm going to direct you

24   to these references to prior Commission rate cases.

25            First, on page three, at lines nine through
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 1   12, there you've referred to the Commission

 2   establishing a revenue requirement in Docket

 3   UE-032065; correct?

 4       A.   That's correct.

 5       Q.   And are you aware that Public Counsel did

 6   not agree to that settlement and actively opposed its

 7   adoption?

 8       A.   Yes.

 9       Q.   Now, please turn to your rebuttal on page

10   four, lines 11 and 12, and there you make a reference

11   to the last Avista general rate case and to a return

12   on equity that was adopted in that case; correct?

13       A.   Correct.

14       Q.   And are you aware that Public Counsel

15   opposed that settlement and did not agree to that

16   return on equity?

17       A.   Subject to check.

18       Q.   And are you aware that Public Counsel

19   offered expert testimony in that case that the ROE

20   was below ten percent?

21       A.   Subject to check.

22       Q.   Now, you've adopted Mr. Furman's testimony

23   in this case; correct?

24       A.   Correct.

25       Q.   And could you please -- and that's his --

0361

 1   Mr. Furman's direct has been marked as Exhibit 1.

 2   I'm going to ask you to turn to page 21 of that

 3   testimony.  Do you have that?

 4       A.   Yes, I do.

 5       Q.   And could you please look at lines 10 and

 6   11?  And there, the testimony states, The PCAM

 7   supports -- that's power cost adjustment mechanism.

 8   The PCAM supports the demand control function of

 9   rates far more strongly than existing regulation.

10   Correct?

11       A.   Correct.

12       Q.   Now, Public Counsel asked PacifiCorp a data

13   request regarding that statement, and that's Public

14   Counsel Data Request 82, and that has been marked in

15   this proceeding as Exhibit 403 for Mr. Widmer;

16   correct?

17       A.   Correct.

18       Q.   And we've had some discussion with you and

19   your counsel a little bit earlier today to help you

20   follow the paper trail.  It's my understanding you

21   have a copy of Exhibit 403 up there with you?

22       A.   I do have, somewhere, yes.  What was the

23   number, again?

24       Q.   It's Data Request 82.

25       A.   Eighty-two.
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 1       Q.   It's been marked as Exhibit 403, and it's

 2   with the Mr. Widmer materials, because the company

 3   indicated that he was the responding witness.

 4            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Let's take a brief break.  I

 5   don't think the Commissioners have a copy of their

 6   Exhibit 403 on the bench, either.  Do you have a copy

 7   of that with you?

 8            THE WITNESS:  I did have it and I lost it.

 9            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  Let's take a

10   brief break while we locate that and we'll get back

11   on the record.

12            (Recess taken.)

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Well, let's be back on the

14   record.  If you can ask your question again, that

15   would be useful.

16            MR. FFITCH:  Well, what I've just done so

17   far is take the witness to Exhibit 1, page 21, and

18   I've directed him to testimony at lines ten through

19   11, and then I've asked -- asked him to look at

20   Exhibit 403, which is Public Counsel Data Request 82.

21       Q.   And in that -- do you have that exhibit, Mr.

22   MacRitchie?

23       A.   I do.

24       Q.   And in that data request, we asked -- well,

25   let's just see what the data request asks, first of
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 1   all.  It references this particular testimony about

 2   the PCAM, and then asks, Please provide any studies,

 3   reports or analyses that support this assertion;

 4   i.e., the assertion that the PCAM supports the demand

 5   control function of rates far more strongly than

 6   existing regulation.

 7            And that's the data request; correct?

 8       A.   Correct.

 9       Q.   And the response, in the first sentence down

10   below, states, The cited testimony is not based upon

11   particular studies or reports or analyses; correct?

12       A.   Correct.

13       Q.   Now, Mr. MacRitchie, are you familiar with

14   other approaches that are designed to give price

15   signals to retail electric customers, including

16   customer demand response measures, such as realtime

17   pricing and critical peak pricing?

18       A.   Yes.

19       Q.   And wouldn't you agree that those types of

20   mechanisms are more timely and more targeted in terms

21   of giving price signals than a PCA mechanism?

22       A.   Clearly, if they're realtime, then they are

23   more timely.  That said, whether they are more

24   effective in terms of governing customer response, I

25   don't know if you've had any studies around that.  I
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 1   think my understanding, from literature that I've

 2   read associated with these realtime responses, is

 3   that customers are not as sophisticated to be able to

 4   respond on a realtime basis to power costs and,

 5   therefore, when power costs change, you know, in the

 6   middle of the day, it's not going to be necessarily

 7   the case that customers conserve.  These pricing

 8   signals need to be more long-term in nature before

 9   customers, particularly residential customers,

10   actually respond to that signal.

11       Q.   But typically, there's a very extended delay

12   between the power cost adjustment mechanism price

13   signal and the event that triggers the price change

14   from the PCA, isn't there?

15       A.   It depends how it's constructed.

16       Q.   And -- well, isn't it true that typically

17   there's an extended period of time between the event

18   that triggers the delay and the time that rates

19   change as a result of -- excuse me.  The price change

20   -- let me back up.  I'm stumbling over my words here.

21            Isn't it true that there's typically a very

22   extended delay between the power cost change and the

23   rate change that ultimately impacts customers as a

24   result of a PCA mechanism?

25       A.   As I said, it depends very much on the
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 1   structure.  There are PCAM mechanisms in the industry

 2   which are corrected on a monthly basis, and I think

 3   monthly probably is as realtime as most customers

 4   will actually respond to, so it very much depends on

 5   the particular mechanism that's in place.

 6       Q.   Is PacifiCorp proposing a PCAM in this case

 7   that's adjusted monthly?

 8       A.   No, but we would have no objections to

 9   having to accept one.

10       Q.   And it is your testimony that -- or let me

11   rephrase that.  Wouldn't you agree that realtime

12   pricing and critical peak pricing mechanisms are more

13   targeted to individual customer usage than a PCA

14   mechanism?

15       A.   Based on what I said before, I'm not sure I

16   would agree with that.  I think it very much depends

17   on the sophistication of the customer.  I think if

18   you're talking about large industrial customers, I

19   think they can manage realtime information and make

20   determinations about their usage based on that.  I

21   think the vast majority of our customers, which are

22   residential, will not be sophisticated enough to

23   respond in that way and therefore will -- these types

24   of price signals will not necessarily be effective if

25   they are in realtime.
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 1       Q.   So it's your testimony that a PCA mechanism

 2   is more targeted for the individual residential

 3   customer perspective than a realtime pricing or a

 4   critical peak pricing mechanism that affects that

 5   customer?

 6       A.   From my understanding of the results of

 7   studies that have been undertaken with realtime, that

 8   is, in fact, my -- the case.  As specific as towards

 9   its demand influencing element, I think you're just

10   referring there to the PCAM mechanism as a demand

11   response mechanism.  I think, yes, that would be my

12   view.

13       Q.   The PCAM is more targeted?  That's your

14   opinion?

15       A.   It would be more effective for residential

16   customers to affect their demand response.

17       Q.   Well, my question is not overall

18   effectiveness in terms of valuation.  It's a separate

19   question.  My question is targeting as a component of

20   --

21            MR. WOOD:  It might help if -- maybe it's a

22   restatement.  I'm not sure the witness understands

23   what you mean by target.

24       Q.   It affects different customers differently

25   and is flexible enough to be experienced differently

0367

 1   by different customers, depending on their own

 2   specific situation and power usage.

 3       A.   Okay.  And the original question, then, was

 4   what?

 5       Q.   Whether the mechanisms like realtime pricing

 6   and critical peak pricing are more targeted to

 7   individual residential customers than a general PCAM

 8   mechanism.  And I'm asking you if you agree or

 9   disagree with that statement?

10       A.   If I play it back to you, I believe you said

11   in terms of targeted is that it more accurately

12   reflects, on a realtime basis, what the prices are,

13   absolutely, and it would be better than a PCAM

14   mechanism.

15            My response was based on would it actually

16   influence behavior of residential customers, and I

17   don't believe realtime pricing would necessarily have

18   that effect as much as PCAM might have.

19       Q.   Let's look at another portion of the

20   response to Exhibit 403.  The second part of the

21   question goes on to ask you to provide any studies,

22   reports or analyses that address the effectiveness of

23   customer demand response measures to achieve

24   Bondbright's demand control function; correct?

25       A.   Correct.
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 1       Q.   And the response down below in the second

 2   paragraph is, PacifiCorp has no studies, reports or

 3   analyses that specifically address the effectiveness

 4   of customer demand response measures to achieve

 5   Bondbright's demand control function; correct?

 6       A.   Correct.

 7       Q.   Now I'd like to ask you to go to line four

 8   of page 21.  We're still in Exhibit 1, Mr. Furman's

 9   direct testimony.  Do you have that?

10       A.   Yes, I do.

11       Q.   That same page.  And there, Mr. Furman

12   states and you adopt that power cost volatility is

13   largely outside the company's control; correct?

14       A.   Correct.

15       Q.   Does this mean that PacifiCorp is unable to

16   limit variability in its net power cost?

17       A.   No, it has some ability to do so, but the

18   vast majority of the volatility is through factors

19   outside of our control.

20       Q.   As part of its integrated resource

21   acquisition process, does PacifiCorp consider how

22   candidate resources would affect variability in its

23   net power costs?

24       A.   We do.

25       Q.   And does PacifiCorp seek to acquire
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 1   resources that limit its exposure to variability?

 2       A.   That's one of the elements when we make a

 3   decision on resource.

 4       Q.   Does PacifiCorp use its energy risk

 5   management function to limit variability in its net

 6   power costs?

 7       A.   We do.

 8       Q.   So at least in those two respects, power

 9   cost variability is not outside PacifiCorp's control;

10   would that be fair to say?

11       A.   We have some opportunities to manage that

12   volatility, but as I said, the vast majority of the

13   volatility is outside of our control.

14            MR. FFITCH:  All right.  Thank you.  I don't

15   have any further questions, Your Honor.  Thank you,

16   Mr. MacRitchie.

17            THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

18            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you, Mr. ffitch.  Ms.

19   Davison, are you ready?

20            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.

21            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Now, I noted you had

22   estimated an hour of questions.  You reduced them

23   from two hours to one hour; is that correct?

24            MS. DAVISON:  Yes.

25            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

0370

 1   And we're probably only going to get through a half

 2   an hour of your questions, and we can decide after

 3   this point how we're going to finish it up.  So go

 4   ahead and we'll see as far as we get.

 5            MS. DAVISON:  All right.  Thank you, Your

 6   Honor.

 7    

 8              C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

 9   BY MS. DAVISON:

10       Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. MacRitchie.  As you

11   know, I'm Melinda Davison, I'm the legal counsel for

12   ICNU.

13            Your rebuttal testimony identifies your

14   qualifications and your job description.  Do you have

15   any responsibilities related to the MidAmerican

16   acquisition proceeding?

17       A.   Yes, I do.

18       Q.   And can you describe those, please?

19       A.   I'm the executive responsible for the

20   PacifiCorp activities supporting the transaction

21   approval process.

22       Q.   Can I take it from that response that you

23   have a very high level of responsibility within the

24   company with regard to the transaction?

25       A.   Really, the transaction approval process is
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 1   between Scottish Power and MidAmerican Holding

 2   Company, Scottish Power being the seller and

 3   MidAmerican being the buyer.  We've provided support

 4   to both entities in terms of getting that approval

 5   process undertaken.

 6       Q.   Thank you.

 7       A.   So within the context of that allocation of

 8   responsibilities, yes.

 9       Q.   Turning to your rebuttal testimony, Exhibit

10   5, page two, look at lines 19 through 20.  You state

11   that PacifiCorp's requesting an overall rate increase

12   of approximately 32.6 million, or a 14.9 percent

13   increase for all customers; is that correct?

14       A.   That's correct.

15       Q.   Your testimony notes that the Commission

16   very recently investigated PacifiCorp's rates and

17   established a new revenue requirement about a year

18   ago.  That would be at page three, lines nine through

19   14.  Do you remember the rate increase the Commission

20   authorized PacifiCorp in this very recent case?

21       A.   I think it was seven and a half percent or

22   something like that.

23       Q.   Well, your memory is very good.  It was 7.5

24   percent increase, or $15.5 million revenue

25   requirement increase.  Does that sound correct?
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 1       A.   That sounds correct, yes.

 2       Q.   Isn't it true that this rate increase

 3   occurred during a five-year rate plan under which

 4   customers have expected to receive no rate increase

 5   during the final two years?

 6       A.   I'm sorry, but I was not responsible for the

 7   rate process during that time, so subject to check, I

 8   guess.

 9       Q.   Do you know what the proposed rate increase

10   is for industrial customers in this case?

11       A.   No, I'm not sure of the cost of service

12   increases.

13       Q.   Would you accept, subject to check, that

14   Exhibit 258 states that it's a 15.6 percent increase

15   the company is asking related to industrial

16   customers?

17       A.   Subject to check.

18       Q.   Isn't the company's position that its cost

19   of serving its Washington industrial customers have

20   increased 15.6 percent in a little over a year?

21       A.   No, I don't think that would be the right

22   way of characterizing that.  The last rate increase

23   that was received did not allow PacifiCorp to

24   actually earn its allowed return.  So it was an

25   insufficient award, although on the merits of the
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 1   case we accepted the award as being reasonable, but

 2   it didn't get us to an earning position.  And

 3   therefore, it's not right to say that, just in the

 4   space of a year, that there has been that level of

 5   increase.  I think that level of increase is caused

 6   somewhat by lag from the previous case.

 7       Q.   Would you characterize a 15.6 percent rate

 8   increase as a significant rate increase?

 9       A.   Yes, it's sizeable.

10       Q.   In your direct testimony, Exhibit 1, pages

11   two through three, you allege that the company's rate

12   increase is being driven by increases in the cost of

13   doing business.  Other than your previous answer, are

14   -- is all of the company's rate increase the direct

15   result of these alleged cost increases identified in

16   your direct testimony?

17       A.   It certainly covers the vast majority of the

18   rate increase.

19       Q.   Are you aware that approximately $9.8 of the

20   company's rate increase is the result of PacifiCorp's

21   decision to apply a production factor adjustment to

22   its power costs?

23       A.   I understand there is a production factor in

24   the case at issue, but I must admit not to being the

25   person and the witness to be able to properly respond
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 1   to the appropriateness of that and would ask, if you

 2   did have further questions, to direct them to Mr.

 3   Duvall.

 4       Q.   Would you accept, subject to check, that

 5   there's an approximately $9.8 million revenue

 6   requirement increase that is the result of this

 7   production factor adjustment?

 8            MR. WOOD:  I'll object.  The witness has

 9   identified that he is not the appropriate witness for

10   this, and where there is a witness who can testify

11   and answer and give qualifications, if necessary, I

12   think it's inappropriate to ask a different witness

13   to -- subject to check.

14            MS. DAVISON:  Your Honor, I'm merely trying

15   to get to the bottom line of his statement in his

16   direct testimony to get to the essential elements of

17   what is driving this revenue requirement increase,

18   and I believe that Mr. MacRitchie is the best witness

19   to get to the overall issues.  I'm not asking details

20   about the production factor adjustment; I'm merely

21   trying to get to the elements of what is driving this

22   requested rate increase.

23            MR. WOOD:  She's asking the witness for

24   details the witness has testified he doesn't know

25   about, but another witness does.
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  I'm going to allow the

 2   question, and if he doesn't know the percentage, he

 3   can state he doesn't know the percentage.

 4            THE WITNESS:  I don't know the percentage.

 5       Q.   Is the production factor adjustment the

 6   result of the company utilizing a new power cost

 7   methodology?

 8       A.   I can't comment on how it occurred.

 9            JUDGE RENDAHL:  I'm sorry, can you repeat

10   that?

11            THE WITNESS:  I can't comment on how it

12   occurred.  I'm not sure of the calculation that was

13   involved and how it emerged.

14       Q.   Are you aware that the company is seeking to

15   utilize a new power cost methodology in this case?

16       A.   No.

17       Q.   Is the company requesting approval of

18   approximately $226,000 in RTO-related costs in this

19   proceeding?

20       A.   I understand that there are an element of

21   RTO costs that are being requested and, subject to

22   check that number, I would accept.

23       Q.   Did the company remove these RTO costs from

24   its rates in the last rate case in Washington?

25       A.   I'm not aware of the detail of that within
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 1   the settlement agreement.

 2       Q.   Would you accept, subject to check, Exhibit

 3   386 does, in fact, indicate the removal of RTO costs?

 4            MR. WOOD:  We will see which exhibit you're

 5   referring to?

 6            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Is that Exhibit 386, Ms.

 7   Davison?

 8            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.

 9            MR. WOOD:  That is one of the exhibits

10   pre-filed?

11            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, it is the settlement

12   agreement from the last rate case.

13            MR. WOOD:  So you're asking if the

14   settlement did not contain that number?

15            MS. DAVISON:  Well, I'm asking if the

16   company agreed to remove the RTO costs from the last

17   rate case.  I think it goes without saying that it

18   would be in the settlement, because the last rate

19   case was solved through a settlement.

20            MR. WOOD:  At this point, I'll make Mr.

21   Trotter's objection.  If the intent is to use this

22   because to imply that because the settlement agreed

23   to remove something, that is evidence that that same

24   item should be removed in this case, that does go

25   against the very stipulation of the settlement.
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Again, it would go to the

 2   weight.  I think the question is is the RTO in the

 3   settlement?

 4            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.  And as I

 5   stated earlier, what I'm trying to establish are a

 6   series of cost factors that comprise of the basis for

 7   the revenue requirement increase.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  And let's -- so let's

 9   pose the question to the witness again.

10       Q.   Did the company remove the RTO costs from

11   its rates in the last rate case?

12       A.   I don't know.

13       Q.   And would you accept, subject to check, that

14   Exhibit 386 indicates that the company did?

15            MR. WOOD:  The settlement should speak for

16   itself, Your Honor.  As to what is in it or not, it's

17   going to be in the record, she can cite it, and it

18   has whatever qualifications it has, which the witness

19   also wouldn't be aware of.

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And I agree that exhibit can

21   speak for itself, so if the witness knows or doesn't

22   know, I think we ought to move on.  So you can ask --

23   maybe rephrase your question so the witness can

24   answer the question.

25            MS. DAVISON:  I understand that the exhibit
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 1   speaks for itself.  I think maybe if I ask my next

 2   question, it might become obvious why I'm asking the

 3   question.

 4       Q.   And my next question is do the RTO costs the

 5   company is seeking to include in rates represent new

 6   costs?

 7       A.   No.

 8       Q.   Counting both the --

 9       A.   Well, sorry, in terms of new costs, are they

10   costs which are in our base level of activity and

11   therefore in our revenue requirement in the past and

12   going into the future, they pretty much are costs

13   which we incur on an annual basis.  We've been

14   involved in transmission projects for many, many

15   years and, quite honestly, I believe we'll be

16   involved in these projects going forward for many

17   years to come, so this -- this particular level of

18   costs, I think, is very much a run rate of costs that

19   is a part of our business as a large, multi-state

20   utility in the Western region, and we need to be

21   heavily involved and I would expect the Commission

22   and our customers to expect us to be involved in

23   these discussions and pieces of work, you know, on a

24   fairly involved basis, and we are, and these are the

25   costs associated with it.
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 1       Q.   Well, my question, Mr. MacRitchie, was

 2   getting to your direct testimony at pages two and

 3   three that I referred you to before I began this

 4   series of questions in which you allege that the

 5   company's rate increase is being driven by increases

 6   in the cost of doing business.  That was the context

 7   in which I was using the new cost that you just

 8   answered the question about.

 9       A.   Right, and to the extent that these costs --

10   assuming your statement is right, that these costs

11   were excluded from the settlement agreement as part

12   of the overall agreement, then it goes back to my

13   earlier point that some part of our cost increase is

14   associated with the fact that we didn't get a large

15   enough increase to allow us to get to an earning

16   position through the last rate case.

17       Q.   But isn't it true, Mr. MacRitchie, the RTO

18   costs are not new costs; they're just costs that were

19   not included in your last revenue requirement.  But

20   they're not new costs, are they?

21       A.   They're costs that ultimately were part of

22   the bargain in the settlement to get to an agreement

23   with parties on the appropriate revenue requirement

24   for the company.

25       Q.   Counting both the production factor
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 1   adjustment and the RTO costs, isn't it correct that

 2   nearly one-third of the overall company's rate

 3   increase request is not due to cost increases?

 4       A.   As I said, I can't comment to detail of what

 5   the production cost factor is and whether that

 6   represents new costs or not.

 7       Q.   Is it correct that PacifiCorp's requesting

 8   11.125 percent ROE in this proceeding?

 9       A.   That's correct.

10       Q.   Is it correct that, in PacifiCorp's last

11   rate case, that the company agreed to an overall 10.5

12   percent ROE?

13       A.   That's correct.

14       Q.   Do you know how much of PacifiCorp's overall

15   rate increase is a result of this higher requested

16   ROE?

17       A.   It will be between --

18            MR. WOOD:  Well, before -- a clarification

19   so that the answer is accurate.  Is higher than what,

20   higher than 10.5?

21            MS. DAVISON:  Yes.

22            THE WITNESS:  Between 10.5, the -- I believe

23   that the hundred basis points is about $10 million or

24   so, $5 million for Washington, so it's about half of

25   five million, so maybe two or three million.
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 1            MS. DAVISON:  Thank you.

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  So the total amount is what?

 3   I'm not sure I followed that.

 4            THE WITNESS:  The difference between ten and

 5   a half and 11.125, which is the requested amount in

 6   this docket, is probably around about just under $3

 7   million.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank You.

 9       Q.   Has PacifiCorp's CEO, Judy Johansen,

10   announced that she will resign her position?

11       A.   On the closing of the transaction with

12   MidAmerican, yes.

13       Q.   When does MidAmerican intend to complete its

14   purchase of PacifiCorp?

15       A.   They would like to complete their purchase

16   and the closure of it before the end of March.

17       Q.   Will PacifiCorp replace Ms. Johansen's

18   position as CEO of PacifiCorp?

19       A.   I fully expect that PacifiCorp will have a

20   CEO.

21       Q.   Isn't it true that Mr. Abel has testified

22   that MidAmerican has a policy that he is the CEO of

23   all of their operating companies, and that rather the

24   operating companies merely have a president, as

25   opposed to a CEO?
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 1       A.   It's a titling issue, essentially.  The role

 2   is the same as what -- as Judy Johansen performs

 3   under Scottish Power ownership, which is president,

 4   COO, which is the naming convention that MidAmerican

 5   used for their subsidiaries.

 6       Q.   When does the suspension period in this rate

 7   case end?

 8       A.   April 4th, I believe.

 9       Q.   Are you aware of Ms. Johansen's overall

10   salary?

11       A.   I believe it's in one of the exhibits, which

12   is the 10-K.

13       Q.   I'd refer you to Exhibit Number 13.  And

14   would you accept, subject to check, that her overall

15   salary is approximately $1,268,705 in 2005?

16       A.   Her salary is 7,000 -- 743,000, and she has

17   a bonus, which is an at-risk bonus, which, in the --

18   is this 2004, 2005 10-K?  In the year to 31st of

19   March 2005, she earned 437,000 of bonus.

20       Q.   So isn't it correct that her overall salary

21   for 2005 was $1,268,705?

22       A.   No, the salary is her base --

23       Q.   Overall salary?

24       A.   Her overall compensation.

25       Q.   All right.
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 1       A.   Yes.  Her salary was 743,000.

 2       Q.   Has PacifiCorp sought to remove the cost of

 3   Ms. Johansen's salary from the rates it's proposing

 4   in this proceeding?

 5       A.   No.

 6       Q.   Do you expect that MidAmerican would hire a

 7   president and pay that president approximately $1.2

 8   million?

 9       A.   I have no reason to suggest that they

10   wouldn't.  That was a salary that was arrived at by

11   external consultants looking at the market for

12   positions such as Judy Johansen was fulfilling.

13       Q.   What is the proposed test period for this

14   proceeding?

15       A.   Test periods is two -- there are different

16   elements of the test period, but essentially, to

17   September '05.

18       Q.   Isn't it correct that it's the 12-month

19   period ending September '04, with --

20       A.   Known and measurable to '05, yes.

21       Q.   Yes, thank you.  Is it PacifiCorp's

22   intention to incorporate the known and measurable

23   changes that are likely to occur during the times

24   that the rates will be in effect?

25       A.   To the extent during this rate proceeding
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 1   that these are known and measurable, then we have

 2   attempted to capture these.

 3       Q.   Were you present in the oral argument held

 4   yesterday in this proceeding?

 5       A.   I was.

 6       Q.   So you are aware that your lawyer, Mr. Van

 7   Nostrand, argued that the close of the proposed

 8   acquisition of PacifiCorp by MidAmerican is not a

 9   known and measurable in this rate case?

10       A.   I heard him say that, yes.

11       Q.   Is it correct that PacifiCorp plans to file

12   a new general rate case in Oregon around the last

13   week of January of '06?

14       A.   That's correct.

15       Q.   Is it correct that the company will be

16   including certain data and adjustments in the Oregon

17   revenue requirement that takes into account the

18   MidAmerican stipulation in Oregon?

19       A.   That's currently our proposal, yes.

20       Q.   Do you expect the MidAmerican transaction to

21   close by the time you file your general rate case in

22   Oregon?

23       A.   To file before that?  No.

24       Q.   How is it that the MidAmerican associated

25   rate commitments will be known and measurable in
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 1   Oregon by the last week of January, but they are not

 2   known and measurable in Washington now?

 3       A.   Well, the benefit of the -- the stipulation

 4   that has been agreed to by Oregon parties is that

 5   there was an understanding that the benefits need to

 6   be captured for customers regardless of whether rates

 7   go into effect or not, so there is an agreement for

 8   two primary benefit areas that -- of which there was

 9   an administrative and general cost reduction

10   commitment and also a commitment on the West Valley

11   lease, that both of these would be deferred for the

12   benefit of customers.

13            So the commitment in Oregon is that these

14   particular costs will, in fact, be included in that

15   deferred account and for one month after the closure

16   of the transaction it will be deferred and given

17   back, and that same commitment will be available to

18   Washington and will come before the Commission as

19   through that most favored nation process that we're

20   undertaking.

21       Q.   And I believe that what you're referring to

22   is contained in Exhibit 11 in this proceeding, which

23   is the Oregon stipulation; is that correct?

24       A.   Yes, that's correct.

25       Q.   Do you know the total amount of rate credits
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 1   PacifiCorp and MidAmerican have committed to provide

 2   as a result of the acquisition?

 3       A.   It's the combination of the two elements,

 4   which I outlined, which was the credit associated

 5   with West Valley, which was a five million annual,

 6   and then a reduction in A&G, which was a six million

 7   annual, so 11 million in total.

 8       Q.   If you turn to what's, on Exhibit 11, marked

 9   page 34 of 55 on the upper right-hand page, and you

10   go down to Commitment 07.

11            MR. WOOD:  Which page, again?  I'm sorry.

12       Q.   Page 34 of 55.  And you go down to 07.

13   Isn't it correct that MEHC and PacifiCorp commit

14   142.5 million total company offsettable rate credits?

15       A.   Yes, that's the number there.

16       Q.   Is it correct that PacifiCorp is requesting

17   projected net power costs for the rate period ending

18   March 31, 2007?

19       A.   That's correct.

20       Q.   And as you stated earlier, as a condition of

21   the acquisition, PacifiCorp and MidAmerican have

22   agreed to reduce the annual non-fuel costs to

23   PacifiCorp of the West Valley lease; correct?

24       A.   Correct.

25       Q.   And is it correct that the total amount of
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 1   cost reduction associated with the West Valley lease

 2   in the Oregon stipulation is $10.8 million on a total

 3   company basis?

 4       A.   Yes.

 5            MR. WOOD:  Is there a reference in the

 6   stipulation that you're referring to?

 7            MS. DAVISON:  That is 08, page 35, the next

 8   page.

 9            THE WITNESS:  Is that cumulative benefit

10   you're talking about over the remainder of the lease

11   of West Valley?

12       Q.   Yes.

13       A.   Right, okay, as opposed to the annual, yes.

14   Yes, it probably is that.

15       Q.   Would these -- would a portion of these West

16   Valley cost reductions occur during the net power

17   cost expected rate period?  In other words, before --

18       A.   In Washington?

19       Q.   Yes.

20       A.   Well, I don't know when the transaction is

21   going to complete, and none of this will come out if

22   the transaction doesn't complete.  If the transaction

23   does complete, these benefits will be accrued for the

24   benefit of Washington customers.  So these costs

25   will, in fact, or this rate credit will, in fact,
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 1   take place one month after the closure of the

 2   transaction.

 3            So assuming the transaction happens at some

 4   point during the rate effective period, then these

 5   costs will -- the reduction in costs will occur and

 6   then they will be put in a deferred account for the

 7   benefit of Washington customers and not lost.

 8       Q.   So in other words, the -- assuming the

 9   transaction closes.  The expected -- at least a

10   portion of the expected cost reductions associated

11   with the West Valley lease would occur during the

12   period, the rate period for net power costs in this

13   case; is that correct?

14       A.   I cannot be certain on that.  It's all

15   dependent on the closure of the transaction.

16       Q.   Well, isn't it correct that -- and I asked

17   you to assume that the transaction does close.

18       A.   The issue is I don't know when -- if I

19   assume it does close, you then have to ask me to

20   assume when it -- at what time it will close, because

21   the transaction can close at any point over the next,

22   you know, 18-month period that -- the stop purchase

23   agreement allows for that.

24       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, didn't you testify earlier

25   that you expect and MidAmerican expects the
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 1   transaction to close somewhere around the end of

 2   March of 2006?

 3       A.   I testified that MidAmerican expects it to

 4   close before that, before the end of March.

 5       Q.   And isn't it true that you've used a test

 6   period for power costs in this case that extend

 7   through 2007?

 8       A.   That's correct.

 9       Q.   So if the transaction does close, wouldn't

10   you expect at least a portion of the West Valley cost

11   reduction to occur during the test period that

12   extends to 2007?

13       A.   That may be the case if the transaction

14   closes and it closes in the time that MidAmerican

15   expects it to close.

16       Q.   Is the company seeking to recover its West

17   Valley costs in this rate proceeding?

18       A.   Yes.

19       Q.   Has Pacific -- or I'm sorry, has MidAmerican

20   negotiated with PPM or Scottish Power to change the

21   terms of the West Valley lease?

22       A.   I can't comment for MidAmerican.  I have no

23   idea.

24       Q.   Including the West Valley cost savings, is

25   it correct that PacifiCorp and MidAmerican have
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 1   agreed to, on a system-wide basis, approximately 24.7

 2   million in rate credits for the calendar year 2007?

 3   And I would refer you to Exhibit 11, at page 54.

 4       A.   Page 54, did you say?

 5       Q.   Yes.  It would be line seven of the fine

 6   print, which, as I'm getting older, is getting finer

 7   and finer.

 8       A.   Yes, that's correct.

 9            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Ms. Davison, we've reached

10   that witching hour, and so I think at this point

11   we'll have to ask you to stop at this point and we'll

12   recess the hearing to discuss scheduling and discuss

13   whether we want to continue this afternoon or whether

14   we want to go forward.  If we do continue, I'll alert

15   your assistants to let you know.  Okay.  We'll be in

16   recess at this point.

17            (Recess taken.)

18            JUDGE RENDAHL:  I think we're ready to go

19   back on the record and finish with Ms. Davison's

20   cross.  Please go ahead, Ms. Davison.

21            MS. DAVISON:  Your Honor, I have one quick

22   preliminary matter.  I have an agreement by Mr. Wood

23   to stipulate the admission of our cross exhibits for

24   Mr. MacRitchie, so in order that I not forget that,

25   I'd like to move the admission of Exhibits 10 through
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 1   18 into the record.

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And are there any objections

 3   to admission of what's been marked as Exhibits 10

 4   through 18?  Hearing nothing, those exhibits are

 5   admitted.

 6       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, in your rebuttal testimony,

 7   Exhibit 5, if you turn to page 15, lines ten through

 8   12, you state that alternatives to the revised

 9   protocol must take into account whether the

10   alternative would be acceptable to other states.  Is

11   that correct?

12       A.   That's correct.

13            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Can you repeat your

14   reference?

15            MS. DAVISON:  Page 15, lines ten through 12.

16            JUDGE RENDAHL:  That's Exhibit 5?

17            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.

18            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you.

19       Q.   Is it PacifiCorp's position that the

20   Commission cannot approve an alternative to the

21   revised protocol that would be unacceptable to, say,

22   Utah?

23       A.   It's our view that that isn't a solution

24   that we can live with, and we will need to continue

25   to pursue a common methodology.  Ultimately, our
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 1   objective, which we set out very clearly at the

 2   beginning, was to ensure that we had a methodology

 3   that allowed us to recover a hundred percent of our

 4   prudently-incurred costs.  And unless there is a

 5   common methodology that has -- across all states,

 6   then we would not be achieving that.

 7       Q.   Is PacifiCorp willing to accept conditions

 8   to revised protocol as long as they do not impact the

 9   ability of the company to plan and operate its

10   electric system?

11       A.   We have stated and I think I've stated in my

12   rebuttal testimony that we are willing to accept

13   conditions which are similar to the conditions which

14   some states have made, which are essentially

15   reporting conditions such that the Commission can

16   understand the workings of the revised protocol in

17   comparison with any other alternatives, but we would

18   -- as I said before, our objective is to ensure that

19   we have the opportunity to recover a hundred percent

20   of our prudently-incurred costs, and that would

21   require a consistent revised protocol methodology in

22   all states.

23       Q.   Your rebuttal testimony at page 12, lines 19

24   through 21, urges the Commission to reject what you

25   characterize as ICNU's proposed pre-merger allocation

0393

 1   methodology; is that correct?

 2       A.   That's correct.

 3       Q.   Is it your understanding that Mr. Falkenberg

 4   is recommending that the Commission reject the

 5   revised protocol?

 6       A.   I think, by putting forward an alternative

 7   into this, then I'm reading into that that there is

 8   an implication that the revised protocol should be

 9   rejected.

10       Q.   Well, isn't it correct Mr. Falkenberg's --

11   what you call pre-merger allocation methodology

12   actually uses many elements of revised protocol, but

13   only modifies it to fully capture the value of the

14   lower costs of PacifiCorp's pre-merger system?

15       A.   You know, when you say that, that is, I

16   think, how it's characterized, but the key element

17   for us is you cannot pick and choose in this as to

18   whether certain resources should be in or out of the

19   revised protocol or messing about with it.

20            The revised protocol is an approach which,

21   in its entirety, ensures, as has been proven by the

22   Commission orders in four of the five states that

23   took part in MSP, that it is a fair, just and

24   reasonable approach to the allocation of costs.  As

25   soon as you start cherry picking, the whole thing
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 1   breaks down.  It no longer is a solution.

 2       Q.   Are you aware that Mr. Falkenberg has

 3   proposed two alternatives for the interstate cost

 4   allocation methodologies?

 5       A.   I understand that there are a number of all

 6   witnesses that have put forward some proposals, which

 7   are not complete proposals, but are suggested

 8   amendments or incomplete proposals.

 9       Q.   Well, isn't it true that Mr. Falkenberg has

10   put together a very complete alternative proposal in

11   which he starts with revised protocol as his basis

12   and then makes some changes in some conditions that

13   he is recommending that the Commission actually

14   adopt?

15       A.   Yes, it is true that he has amended the

16   revised protocol in certain ways, and as I said, it

17   no longer then is the revised protocol and it no

18   longer is a methodology that will allow us to recover

19   a hundred percent of our prudently-incurred costs.

20   That's, I think, all we're asking for, and I know

21   it's taken us 17 years to get to that point, but at

22   some point we really would urge Commissions to look

23   favorably on an approach that has had such a rigorous

24   review by -- across -- with such a large number of

25   participants and has, in fact, been approved by four
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 1   out of the five commissions that took part in the

 2   process.

 3       Q.   Well, isn't it true that Oregon, your second

 4   largest jurisdiction, approved revised protocol

 5   contingent upon the development of the hybrid

 6   methodology in order to test the assumptions that

 7   revised protocol would result in cost recovery from

 8   Oregon that would be roughly equivalent to hybrid?

 9       A.   It is true that they asked us to develop an

10   alternative, which would be used for comparative

11   purposes, but it's also true that they have accepted

12   that the revised protocol will be the methodology

13   that we will use for the setting of rates in Oregon.

14       Q.   Did PacifiCorp recently complete a general

15   rate case in Oregon?

16       A.   Yes.

17       Q.   Was the rate of return and capital structure

18   resolved through a settlement with Staff, ICNU, and

19   the Citizens Utility Board?

20       A.   No, it wasn't.

21       Q.   How was it settled?

22       A.   There was a settlement on the overall

23   revenue requirement.  The individual elements of cost

24   of capital and capital structure were not resolved in

25   the settlement.  Rather, there was a proposal put

0396

 1   forward by Staff and parties to a potential --

 2   details of these elements, and the company accepted

 3   the settlement in its round because it, in our view,

 4   provided just and reasonable rates and revenue

 5   requirement in total.

 6       Q.   I understand that.  Of course, that's the

 7   case with any settlement.  That's the nature of

 8   settlement, but --

 9       A.   Well, sometimes settlements actually do

10   conclude on the agreement of capital structure and

11   ROE.  This one did not.

12       Q.   Well, I'd ask you to turn to Exhibit 12,

13   page three, which is a chart from the settlement in

14   the Oregon PacifiCorp general rate case from last

15   year.

16            MR. WOOD:  Would you hold up just a minute

17   till we find that?

18            JUDGE RENDAHL:  So this is what's been

19   marked as Exhibit 12?

20            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.

21            JUDGE RENDAHL:  And this is the order from

22   the Oregon Commission?

23            MS. DAVISON:  It's an attachment to the

24   order.  Yes, Your Honor.

25            THE WITNESS:  Yes, I have that.
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 1       Q.   And if you look at that chart, you see at

 2   the very bottom the words implied return on equity,

 3   and you go across the page and you see ten percent;

 4   is that correct?

 5       A.   That's correct.  I would -- sorry.

 6       Q.   Is it PacifiCorp's position that the

 7   Oregon-approved ten percent ROE has weakened the

 8   company's financial condition?

 9       A.   No, I would -- I don't think -- obviously,

10   the fuel order is not part of this, but there was, in

11   the commission resolution part of the order, I'll

12   read from that, it says, While not all parties agree

13   on each of the specific capital components set forth

14   on the table, they do agree that the cost of capital

15   resolution results in a reasonable overall revenue

16   requirement.  And that, for us, was how we portrayed

17   it externally.  We didn't know it, within the

18   settlement, agree to that as a return, but there were

19   elements within the settlement which, taken as a

20   whole, provided an overall revenue requirement result

21   that we felt was fair and reasonable.

22       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, my question was whether this

23   implied ROE level, whatever you interpret it to be,

24   has weakened the company's financial condition?

25       A.   I'm not aware of anything specific on that,
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 1   because, as I said, we never communicated that as the

 2   authorized and allowed ROE as part of our rate case.

 3   We communicated this as a settlement of overall

 4   issues.

 5       Q.   And is it PacifiCorp's position that the

 6   Oregon settlement that includes this implied ROE is

 7   undermining the company's ability to attract capital

 8   on reasonable terms?

 9       A.   The rates of return in Oregon are set by the

10   revenue requirement and the revenues that we receive,

11   and our revenues are currently -- our current return

12   in Oregon is better than necessarily it had have been

13   if we hadn't accepted the settlement.

14       Q.   So I take it from your answer it has not

15   negatively impacted your ability to attract capital?

16       A.   I think it would be useful to direct that

17   question to Bruce Williams, who is our treasurer and

18   a witness in this proceeding and is consistently,

19   obviously, involved in capital markets.  And the

20   impact of that particular decision, he will be best

21   to testify to.

22       Q.   Are you aware that ICNU is proposing an

23   overall recommended return on equity of 9.8 percent?

24       A.   I'm aware, yes.

25       Q.   Does your rebuttal testimony allege that
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 1   PacifiCorp will need significant new capital to fund

 2   new transmission, emissions controls and new

 3   generation resources?

 4       A.   Yes.

 5       Q.   At page 12 of your rebuttal testimony, lines

 6   three -- actually, that may be your direct testimony,

 7   lines three to four of your direct testimony, sorry.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Is that Exhibit 1 or Exhibit

 9   5?

10            MS. DAVISON:  Exhibit 1, sorry.

11       Q.   I'll start over.  At page 12, lines three

12   through four of Exhibit 1, you state that PacifiCorp

13   expects to expend more than a billion dollars on

14   capital by fiscal year 2006.  Of this billion dollar

15   investment, can you tell me, in rough terms, how much

16   will be spent in the state of Washington?

17       A.   No, I can't.  I'm sorry, I don't have that

18   detail.  I think that would properly be given to --

19   asked of Paul Wrigley, who's got the revenue

20   requirement detail.

21       Q.   Thank you.  Is it correct that you state in

22   your rebuttal testimony that the Commission-approved

23   ROE is important because of these new investments the

24   company is required to make?

25       A.   That's correct.
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 1       Q.   Are you aware that MidAmerican has committed

 2   to make significant capital investments in

 3   PacifiCorp, and they identify that as one of the

 4   benefits of the acquisition?

 5       A.   That's correct.

 6       Q.   And are you aware that MidAmerican Holding

 7   Company has identified itself one billion dollars in

 8   annual investments in PacifiCorp over the next five

 9   years, and that Mr. Abel stated in his testimony the

10   ability and willingness to deploy the necessary

11   capital?

12       A.   Subject to check, I believe that was his

13   comment, but I think he also made very clear that his

14   expectation was that the -- he would be able to earn

15   a fair and reasonable return on all his

16   jurisdictions.

17       Q.   Turning to PCAM.  At page 18, lines 15

18   through 18 --

19       A.   Is this direct or --

20       Q.   Of your direct testimony.

21            JUDGE RENDAHL:  That's at page 18?

22       Q.   Page 18, lines 15 through 18.  You state

23   that if the company behaves prudently, it -- and I'll

24   insert the word should be able to expect to earn its

25   authorized rate of return.  Are you suggesting that
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 1   PacifiCorp should be insulated from abnormal events

 2   that could reduce its earnings?

 3       A.   What I'm saying is that the return that we

 4   would expect to be fair and reasonable is a return

 5   that is consistent with comparable companies, and

 6   these comparable companies is an assessment that's

 7   undertaken by Mr. Hadaway, and it's clear that a

 8   return is -- of companies at this stage is somewhere

 9   near a ten and a half to 11 percent return.  These

10   are -- this is the awards that have been given to our

11   competitors.  Our competitors are out there, and that

12   includes Washington utilities who are in some way

13   competitors in both the power markets, because they

14   buy and sell from the same people, but also the

15   equity and capital markets, and we need to be able to

16   prove and show that we have an appropriate financial

17   structure in return that provides some certainty to

18   these counter parties that we're doing business with.

19       Q.   But my question to you is whether it's your

20   testimony that PacifiCorp, through the PCAM, should

21   be insulated from abnormal events that could reduce

22   its earnings?

23       A.   Our PCAM involves a risk sharing element to

24   it, so to some extent we accept that there is a risk

25   associated with utility business and we believe that
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 1   risk is properly accounted for in the PCAM piece.

 2   There are many other risks of being in the utility

 3   business, but as far as being exposed to external

 4   factors of power costs, we feel that the PCAM, as

 5   designed, is an appropriate mechanism and is one that

 6   is consistent with the comparable companies that we

 7   have assessed and are used to set our requested ROE.

 8       Q.   So do you believe that if the company is

 9   able to significantly reduce its risk in an area --

10   large area that you testified earlier of its costs

11   such as power costs, should the company's overall

12   authorized rate of return also be reduced?

13       A.   As I said, our ROE is assessed on the basis

14   of looking at comparable companies.  There is a large

15   majority of companies that have PCAMs, including,

16   obviously, the two other investor-owned utilities in

17   this state, and we believe that our assessment of

18   that risk is incorporated within the comparable

19   company analysis that derives an 11.125 ROE.  So we

20   don't believe there is any reduction to that that

21   would be appropriate with the implementation of a

22   PCAM.  However, if a PCAM was not to be involved, the

23   risk of the business is far greater, and I think that

24   should be reflected in an ROE that takes that into

25   account.
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 1       Q.   Does your PCAM proposal follow the Avista

 2   model with an equivalent -- I mean equivalent in

 3   terms of comparison to your size company to the

 4   Avista size company that has the $9 million deadband

 5   in Avista?

 6       A.   No, we don't believe a deadband is

 7   appropriate.  The reason we don't believe a deadband

 8   is appropriate is because there is not a correction

 9   process involved in our PCAM proposal.  So we're not

10   intending or we have not proposed that the power

11   costs are corrected and the baseline is corrected on

12   an annual basis.  Because of that, if power costs are

13   going to -- which they are and we're projecting they

14   will continue to rise, basically a deadband is a

15   permanent disallowance to our cost.  It's no longer

16   any kind of incentive, no longer risk sharing; it's a

17   permanent disallowance.  Because, as costs will rise,

18   the deadband will always occur.

19            So we have not proposed a deadband.  We have

20   proposed a risk sharing approach, which is the 90/10,

21   and we believe that's appropriate without any annual

22   correction process.

23       Q.   How many of your six jurisdictions have

24   approved a PCAM?

25       A.   We have filed with all our jurisdictions
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 1   except for Idaho, and they're all at various stages

 2   of development within the dockets.

 3       Q.   But my question, Mr. MacRitchie, was how

 4   many have approved a PCAM?

 5       A.   None as yet.

 6            MS. DAVISON:  I have no further questions,

 7   Your Honor.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you, Ms. Davison.  Is

 9   there any redirect?

10            MR. WOOD:  Yes.

11    

12            R E D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N

13   BY MR. WOOD:

14       Q.   Let us start, Mr. MacRitchie, with the

15   system chart -- system map that Mr. Trotter asked you

16   about.  Have you still got that?

17       A.   Yes, I do have it.

18       Q.   You were asked a number of questions about

19   plants that looked a long way away and were being

20   included in the revised protocol.  Let me ask you

21   about -- and that had dotted lines separating them,

22   because you had contract rights, rather than direct

23   transmission rights to them.  Let me ask you about a

24   couple of others.

25            Do you see in Wyoming the -- in sort of the
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 1   lower right portion of Wyoming the plant noted Jim

 2   Bridger?

 3       A.   Yes.

 4       Q.   PacifiCorp, is that a major generating

 5   facility that PacifiCorp has an ownership in?

 6       A.   It's a significant generating facility.

 7       Q.   Was this facility -- did this facility come

 8   with a merger or was it a pre-merger plant?

 9       A.   It was pre-merger plant.

10       Q.   And was it part of the pre-merger

11   seven-state allocation?

12       A.   It was part of the Pacific Power

13   jurisdiction.

14       Q.   And it's separated, I take it, from

15   Washington by dotted lines?

16       A.   It is, yes.

17       Q.   Would you give me the same answers -- well,

18   let's turn to the eastern part of Wyoming, Dave

19   Johnston.  Would you give me the same answers about

20   that plant?

21       A.   That's correct.

22       Q.   And if we go north of it, Wyodak, would you

23   give me the same answers?

24       A.   Yes.

25       Q.   And we went further north to Colstrip, same?
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 1       A.   Yes.

 2       Q.   The same map, we have the Lewis River Dams.

 3   Are they allocated to the Western jurisdictions?

 4       A.   They are, yes.

 5       Q.   Does PacifiCorp transmission link them with

 6   Washington service territories?

 7       A.   Does -- sorry?

 8       Q.   Are they linked by PacifiCorp-owned

 9   transmission to the Washington service territories of

10   Pacific?

11       A.   No, we utilize contracts that we have,

12   actually with BPA, to get the power.  Actually, it

13   doesn't go into Washington; it goes into Oregon.

14            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Just for clarity on the map,

15   so we have a clear record, when you see Lewis River

16   Project, I see them in Washington, physically in

17   southern Washington; is that correct?

18            MR. WOOD:  That is correct, in southern

19   Washington, where it says Lewis River Project.  Thank

20   you.

21       Q.   You were asked to accept something subject

22   to check by Mr. Trotter, and I wanted to go back to

23   that.  It was an article that referred to a

24   Washington County, Utah.  Do you recall those

25   questions?

0407

 1       A.   Yes, I do.

 2       Q.   And there were questions you recall about

 3   the rapid growth of that county?

 4       A.   Yes.

 5       Q.   And you were asked to accept, subject to

 6   check, that that was part of PacifiCorp's service

 7   territory?

 8       A.   That's correct.

 9       Q.   Would that be a completely accurate

10   assumption?

11       A.   The Washington County really covers the

12   major growth area of St. George in the south of Utah,

13   where considerable growth is occurring.  And I can't

14   remember what the other larger city, the second

15   larger city.  Both of these cities are not served by

16   PacifiCorp.  We serve the rural area, around about,

17   so the majority of that growth there is actually not

18   associated with PacifiCorp territory at all.  I would

19   say probably we serve, and this is subject to check,

20   I would say about 20 percent of the customer loads in

21   that particular county.

22       Q.   Generally in the rural areas?

23       A.   Yes.

24       Q.   And you were asked questions about Oregon

25   direct access and about customers leaving, but plants
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 1   remaining.  And under Oregon direct access, when

 2   customers leave, does that extinguish PacifiCorp's

 3   duty to serve them?

 4       A.   No, they have a period at which they must

 5   stay on their third party contract, but they also

 6   have the ability to come back onto the system after

 7   that period, so -- and I believe that period is a

 8   year.

 9       Q.   Thank you.

10       A.   So essentially, we need to continue to plan

11   for these customers.

12       Q.   You were asked questions concerning load

13   growth in Washington, where I believe you identified

14   1.8 percent annual peak growth.  Are there -- in

15   connection with the need for new resources, does load

16   growth tell the entire story about Washington?

17       A.   No, I mean, the real issue, and there is

18   obviously a focus, particularly in certain

19   testimonies, on load growth and, to some extent, we

20   cover that, as well, but the real issue is a load

21   resource balance, and the resources are really the

22   main headline story, I think, in the West.  Since

23   2000, actually, in the West, we have lost some 800

24   megawatts of resources, and these are either

25   contracts that we've had with BPA or other
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 1   Mid-Columbia projects or reductions in the capacity

 2   that these projects provide.

 3            In fact, in the next ten years, we see about

 4   another thousand megawatts -- in fact, I think it's

 5   within five years, and I would check that with Mr.

 6   Duvall, we see another thousand megawatts of

 7   reduction occurring, particularly when we lose the

 8   BPA peaking contract, which is a significant resource

 9   to the system.

10            So the story really is a story of loads and

11   resources, and particularly in the West.  We will see

12   growth in Washington, maybe about 160 megawatts over

13   the next ten years, but we will also see significant

14   reduction in Westside resources that will have to be

15   replaced as we manage the system going forward.

16       Q.   You were then asked some questions about the

17   stipulation in the last Washington rate case and were

18   asked to confirm that that stipulation was based on

19   what was known as the previous protocol for

20   allocation rather than the revised protocol.  Do you

21   recall those questions?

22       A.   That's correct.

23       Q.   And you were asked if -- to confirm that the

24   revised protocol which the company is now proposing

25   is different from the protocol that was accepted in
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 1   the stipulation.  Is the effect of changing from the

 2   revised -- I mean, so the protocol in the last

 3   stipulation, the revised protocol, to raise or to

 4   lower the revenue requirement in Washington?

 5       A.   The revised protocol actually reduces

 6   revenue requirement in Washington as compared with

 7   the protocol that was part of the settlement.

 8       Q.   Thank you.  You were asked questions about

 9   -- to bring out that -- to accept, subject to check,

10   that rates have gone down in Utah.  I'm curious about

11   the comparison with Washington.  When did the

12   Utah-PacifiCorp -- Utah Power-PacifiCorp merger

13   occur?

14       A.   It was in 1989, so some 17 years ago.

15       Q.   And in that 17-year period, the benefit of

16   the merged system, what's been the change in

17   Washington?

18       A.   Overall rates since that period have risen

19   by eight percent.

20       Q.   You were asked questions about if the -- to

21   the effect, I believe, of if the closing of the

22   MidAmerican was not known and measurable, why the

23   company included the effects of the Oregon

24   stipulation or planned to in the upcoming Oregon rate

25   filing.  Is there a practical reason why that
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 1   application -- why those costs need to be in the

 2   application?

 3       A.   The application will be filed before the --

 4   the application will be filed before the closure of

 5   the deal, the deal, but the deal if, as expected at

 6   close, will close during the pendency of that rate

 7   case and before the hearings have taken place.

 8       Q.   And if the expected closing doesn't occur,

 9   will PacifiCorp need to modify its rate case for

10   hearing?

11       A.   We won't need to modify it because we're

12   making the filing on the basis of a pro forma

13   template which would be adjusted should the

14   transaction not take place.

15       Q.   And is the expectation that, before hearing,

16   you will likely know either that the transaction has

17   or has not taken place?

18       A.   That's our expectation, yes.

19       Q.   You were asked questions about the Oregon

20   stipulation and the -- and certain specific elements

21   of it, and that related to exhibit --

22            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Exhibit --

23            THE WITNESS:  Twelve.

24            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Exhibit 11 is the MEHC

25   stipulation, Exhibit 12 is the rate case stipulation.
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 1       Q.   The rate case stipulation, which is the one

 2   I want to ask you about, Exhibit 12, we have two

 3   pages from that stipulation.  Were there other pages

 4   -- I'm sorry, from that order from the stipulation.

 5   Were there other pages of the order besides those in

 6   Exhibit 12 that related to and described the

 7   substance of that stipulation?

 8       A.   There were, yes.

 9            MR. WOOD:  I'd like to hand out, if I could,

10   an exhibit.

11            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Let's be off the record

12   while you distribute.

13            (Discussion off the record.)

14            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Let's be back on the record.

15   While we were off the record, we marked as Exhibit 20

16   additional excerpts from OPUC Docket Number UE 170,

17   Order Number 05-1050.  Please go ahead, Mr. Wood.

18            MR. WOOD:  Thank you.

19       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, do you recognize these as

20   additional pages to the order approving the

21   stipulation that you were cross-examined about?

22       A.   Yes, I do.

23       Q.   About that stipulation, you discussed in

24   some of your answers that you had accepted the

25   overall impact of the stipulation as reasonable, and
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 1   you called attention to, for example, implicit

 2   returns.  Were there other elements in that

 3   stipulation that you simply do not get in the state

 4   of Washington?

 5       A.   Yes, there were, and as I said, it was an

 6   overall settlement that we felt was fair and

 7   reasonable that -- I guess the big pieces for us in

 8   terms of the value here was that we had a forecasted

 9   test year, a fully forecasted test year, and in

10   actual fact, we also had rates going into effect a

11   month or so before that actual forecasted test year

12   occurred, so there was some value that we saw in the

13   overall settlement which we felt offset some of the

14   issues that we didn't really necessarily agree with

15   or would have felt more difficult to accept on a

16   stand-alone basis.

17            MR. WOOD:  Your Honor, I would like to offer

18   Exhibit 20 simply to complete the record as to what

19   -- as to material that was put in for Exhibit 12.

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Are there any objections to

21   admitting what's been marked as Exhibit 20?

22            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.  I think it's

23   silly to not include the first four pages of the

24   order, so provided that PacifiCorp adds the first

25   four pages, then I'd have no objection, but if
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 1   they're going to bother to put three-quarters of the

 2   pages in, you might as well have the first four

 3   pages.

 4            MR. WOOD:  Your Honor, we plainly have no

 5   objection.  Our intention had been -- that's fine.

 6   We have no objection.  We will supplement the

 7   exhibit.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  With that

 9   qualification, Exhibit 20 would be admitted.  Do you

10   have any additional redirect at this time?

11            MR. WOOD:  I have no other redirect.

12            JUDGE RENDAHL:  All right.  Is there any

13   limited re-cross on this redirect?

14            MR. TROTTER:  Just a few questions, Your

15   Honor.

16            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Go ahead.

17    

18            R E C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

19   BY MR. TROTTER:

20       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, you were asked by your

21   counsel some questions regarding load resource

22   balance and the fact that certain resources are being

23   reduced in Washington.  Do you recall those

24   questions?

25       A.   Yes.
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 1       Q.   The company's IRP that it files or prepares

 2   for filing in this state takes into account those

 3   resources as it determines resource needs in the

 4   future, does it not?

 5       A.   Yes, it should.

 6       Q.   So all of those that you discussed are going

 7   to be contained and reflected in the IRP; isn't that

 8   true?

 9       A.   Yes, there are certain assumptions

10   associated with contracts and whether these contracts

11   may or may not be able to be renewed and at what

12   levels and so on, but essentially, these are -- we do

13   our best to try and accommodate as much of that as

14   possible.

15       Q.   And all of those assumptions and analyses go

16   into load growth estimates for the state of

17   Washington that's contained in your IRP; correct?

18       A.   Load growth and resource availability; yes.

19       Q.   Load resource balance?

20       A.   The load resource balance.

21       Q.   Okay.  You were also pointed to Exhibit 6,

22   the map?

23       A.   Yes.

24       Q.   And you identified Colstrip, Jim Bridger and

25   Dave Johnston, I believe?
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 1       A.   Yes, and Lewis River.

 2       Q.   Well, let's just stick with those first

 3   three first.  Those are located in the Eastern

 4   Control Area; correct?

 5       A.   No, Jim Bridger is in the Western Control

 6   Area.

 7       Q.   Oh, okay.  And Colstrip, as well?

 8       A.   You know, I can't quite remember if it is.

 9       Q.   Would you accept that, subject to check?

10       A.   Subject to check.

11       Q.   Okay.  Now, those three resources are base

12   load resources, are they not?

13       A.   Yes, they are.

14       Q.   And by base load, those are the resources

15   that are running constantly to serve customer needs,

16   are they not?

17       A.   As constantly as we can manage to run them.

18       Q.   Okay.  And those are resources that provide

19   power to Washington State; is that right?

20       A.   They provide power to the system.

21       Q.   And if you look at the transmission line

22   from the Colstrip plant, that goes to Washington

23   State, does it not?

24       A.   I don't know where the power from Colstrip

25   goes.  What I do know is that we manage it, the whole
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 1   system, on an integrated basis and plan it on an

 2   integrated basis, and Colstrip provides value for the

 3   integrated system.  So the value of Colstrip will be

 4   seen by Washington customers.

 5       Q.   Okay.  But the transmission constraints that

 6   you talked about, the East-West transmission

 7   constraints are there because these base load

 8   resources are used to serve the Western Control Area,

 9   isn't that correct, and therefore they're not

10   available -- you're not able to move power the other

11   way; isn't that correct?

12       A.   We are able to move power both ways.

13       Q.   Okay.  But on a normal basis, the net

14   transfers are from West to East, are they not?

15       A.   The net transfers, yeah, but we transfer

16   power both ways on our system and across other

17   people's systems.

18       Q.   You mentioned freed up resources in Oregon

19   and customers have a one-year time limit to go back

20   onto the system.  Do you recall those questions?

21       A.   Yes.

22       Q.   After one year, is PacifiCorp relieved of

23   its obligation to serve those customers?

24       A.   I don't believe that's the case, but I would

25   need to refer that to Christy Omohundro, who can
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 1   answer that one.

 2       Q.   Well, what happens after one year?  You said

 3   you need to continue to plan for them.

 4       A.   They have an annual election opportunity,

 5   where they can elect every year to be served by a

 6   third party supplier, and every year they undertake

 7   that and -- but equally every year they could elect

 8   not to.  So it's very much at the customer's

 9   discretion as to whether they leave the system or

10   they stay on it.  But what happens is it actually

11   asked about the costs or benefits associated with

12   somewhat so-called freed up resources.  In actual

13   fact, there is a credit given to these customers for

14   any benefit of the resources that they would have

15   otherwise be served by PacifiCorp.

16       Q.   And those credits go to Oregon only; is that

17   correct?

18       A.   They go to the customers that freed up the

19   resources.

20       Q.   The customer is located in Oregon; correct?

21       A.   Yes, specifically, the customers that elect

22   to leave, they get credit of the transition that they

23   have made off the PacifiCorp system.

24       Q.   Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

25       A.   Thanks.
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 1            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Anything, Mr. ffitch?

 2            MR. FFITCH:  No, thank you.

 3            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Ms. Davison.

 4            MS. DAVISON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 5    

 6            R E C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N

 7   BY MS. DAVISON:

 8       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, could you turn to the

 9   newly-marked Exhibit 20, and I would refer you to

10   Appendix H, which, at the bottom of the page, says

11   page one of nine.

12       A.   Yes.

13       Q.   Do you have that?

14       A.   Yes.

15       Q.   And if you look at that exhibit, you see

16   that this order grants a rate increase of roughly

17   three percent; is that correct?

18       A.   That's correct.

19       Q.   Do you recall what percentage rate increase

20   the company originally sought in this case?

21       A.   I can't remember the exact percentage.

22       Q.   But if you go to the top of the page, you

23   see that the company originally requested a revenue

24   requirement increase of $102 million, approximately;

25   is that correct?
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 1       A.   That's correct.

 2       Q.   And then if you look at the adjustments down

 3   the page, the largest adjustment that is made is for

 4   the interest deduction for PHI, but for purposes of

 5   my question, you see the second largest adjustment is

 6   for SO, the rate of return; is that correct?

 7       A.   Yes, that's right.

 8            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Can you tell us where on the

 9   page, relatively, you're looking?  Oh, SO, I'm sorry,

10   item SO on the left-hand side?

11            MS. DAVISON:  Yes, Your Honor.

12            JUDGE RENDAHL:  It's getting late.

13       Q.   I just have one last question.  So is it

14   fair to say, Mr. MacRitchie, that based on the size

15   of the adjustment related to ROE, that the number

16   that you agreed upon was significantly different than

17   the number that you filed in the rate case?

18       A.   That's correct.

19            MS. DAVISON:  Thank you.

20            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Right.  With that, are there

21   any questions from the bench for this witness?

22   Commissioner Jones.

23    

24                   E X A M I N A T I O N

25   BY COMMISSIONER JONES:
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 1       Q.   Good evening, Mr. MacRitchie.

 2       A.   Good evening.

 3       Q.   Does this remind you of the weather in

 4   Glasgow?

 5       A.   It does a bit, yes.

 6       Q.   If you would turn to page two of the

 7   pre-filed direct testimony, I think it's line two up

 8   at the top.  And in that the company states that we

 9   are presently earning only about 3.5 percent on our

10   equity capital.  Could you say who we is?  Could you

11   clarify that we is PacifiCorp?

12       A.   We is PacifiCorp, yes.

13       Q.   Okay.

14       A.   And we is PacifiCorp in our Washington

15   jurisdiction.

16       Q.   This is Washington jurisdiction only?

17       A.   This is Washington jurisdiction only.

18       Q.   That was my question, because we have just

19   referred to the Oregon settlement, and the numbers

20   there that were previously quoted quote an implied

21   return on equity of 5.42 percent and, in your filing

22   in Oregon, a rate of return of 5.89 percent, and then

23   this last column that was referred to before was 8.06

24   percent for the rate of return, and 10.00 percent for

25   the implied return on equity.  So what, if we compare
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 1   apples to apples to this Oregon chart, what does the

 2   3.5 percent refer to?

 3       A.   The 3.5 percent would equate to the ten

 4   percent that Staff had projected in their cost of

 5   capital calculation.  There was a table within the

 6   document which outlined what Staff's assumptions were

 7   for the cost of capital on page ten of the order.

 8       Q.   Okay.

 9            JUDGE RENDAHL:  On page ten of Exhibit 20?

10            THE WITNESS:  Yes, although what this was

11   was a number that was utilized to come to an overall

12   revenue requirement I guess trying to be responsive

13   to the question.  The three and a half percent is our

14   earned return in Washington State.  I am not aware,

15   but we could -- Mr. Wrigley could respond to this

16   what our earned return is currently in our Oregon

17   state, but this was earned return, as opposed to

18   allowed.

19       Q.   Well, I will direct further questions to Mr.

20   Wrigley --

21       A.   Yes.

22       Q.   -- When he comes up.

23       A.   Thank you.

24       Q.   How long have you served on the board of

25   PacifiCorp?
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 1       A.   Two years after I came to PacifiCorp, so

 2   that's five years.

 3       Q.   And what committees do you serve on the

 4   board and what are your responsibilities on the

 5   board?  Could you list for the record what committees

 6   you serve on?

 7       A.   I used to serve the investment committee,

 8   which was the committee that approves major capital

 9   expenditures.  I have, since six months ago, passed

10   that responsibility over, but still sit on the

11   investment committee.

12       Q.   Who is the chair of the compensation

13   committee?

14       A.   Is the chairman of the board, and that's --

15   was, as of yesterday, Ian Russell.  Today he

16   resigned.

17       Q.   Okay.  How long have you personally been

18   involved in negotiations of the MSP or the revised

19   protocol?  I understand you have been in your --

20   working for the company for seven years, but how long

21   have you personally been involved in overseeing the

22   revised protocol discussions with the six relevant

23   states?

24       A.   Four years.  I took onboard the

25   responsibility for the MSP project after there was --
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 1   you will therefore not recall, but there was an

 2   initial proposal put by the company called SRP, which

 3   was a proposal that, basically, it created a

 4   different legal structure for the company.  It was

 5   not acceptable to I would say every state, and we

 6   therefore were encouraged by our commissioners and

 7   there was discussion between commissions and we were

 8   encouraged to establish a collaborative process where

 9   all parties were invited to go round the table and

10   discuss what would be an appropriate common

11   methodology for managing the cost allocation for

12   PacifiCorp.  So we did that, and I took over at that

13   point, which was, I think now 2002 when we started

14   that process, and we -- it started with monthly

15   meetings, two-day long meetings in Las Vegas every

16   month.  And I attended all these meetings and I think

17   I referred earlier in my testimony to some of the

18   earlier meetings there which basically drew up the

19   ground rules for what we were trying to achieve as a

20   group of participants.

21       Q.   Without getting into the weeds, into the

22   details, could you characterize your four years as

23   seeing some tangible progress, substantial progress?

24   If you had to put it on a scale of 1 to 10, have you

25   seen progress?

0425

 1       A.   Oh, very much so.  I mean, we now have, as I

 2   said before, four of our five states agreeing to this

 3   revised protocol and commission orders which support

 4   the revised protocol as just and reasonable.  So that

 5   is significant.  And these states, in total, cover

 6   about 90 percent of our total costs.  So from our

 7   perspective, it's been very successful, but ultimate

 8   success is having all our states allocating on a

 9   common methodology.

10       Q.   When do you expect to receive approvals from

11   the fourth state in which you have achieved a

12   settlement on this issue?

13       A.   We've got orders in all four states and we

14   now have in front of the Washington Commission in

15   this docket the review and we would hope to have that

16   order by the Commission as part of this docket.

17            The only other state is California.  Both

18   Washington and California had specific procedural

19   issues that meant that we weren't able to go in front

20   of the Commission with the revised protocol at the

21   same time we did with the other four states.

22   Washington had a rate case and we were too far

23   through that rate case to be able to file that

24   revised protocol.  California, we had issues there,

25   as well, in terms of establishing a docket, and they
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 1   were -- they wanted us to ensure that it was done as

 2   part of a rate case, so that's why it's been delayed

 3   there, but it is now in front of the California

 4   Commission as part of the rate case that we filed

 5   back in November with them.  So --

 6       Q.   That leads to my next question.

 7       A.   Yeah.

 8       Q.   Which is why -- because I understand, at

 9   least in the state of Oregon, the Oregon Commission

10   considered this as a separate docket, separate from

11   the rate case; correct?

12       A.   Yes.

13       Q.   So why did the company file the revised

14   protocol?  What were the broad reasons for filing the

15   revised protocol in this rate case docket?

16       A.   This was seen as the most appropriate

17   docket, and I'm sure if we had filed the revised

18   protocol separately and then filed a rate case, we

19   would have been asked by the Commission to enjoin the

20   two dockets, because they clearly are related.  And

21   so we felt it was appropriate to file both at the

22   same time.

23       Q.   But did the Oregon Commission do that?  Did

24   they ask to consolidate?

25       A.   No, they didn't, and we --
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 1       Q.   So that's just an assumption you, the

 2   company, made; fair?

 3       A.   Well, it was part of the last order that we

 4   received on the Washington rate case, was an order to

 5   develop this and bring it forward.

 6       Q.   Okay.  Pardon me.  That was before my time.

 7   But would you object, I mean, if this Commission were

 8   to come to a determination that this should proceed

 9   on a stand-alone basis, that is, an assessment of the

10   revised protocol, would the company object to that?

11       A.   We would be extremely disappointed, because

12   we feel that we've had adequate review of this

13   particular issue in front of -- with the parties and

14   now in front of the Commission, and we feel that

15   there is really nothing more that needs to be said.

16   Either it is adopted or it's not, and we need to

17   therefore go back to all parties and start from

18   square one.  That will be a significant issue for the

19   company, because this particular issue, I think I

20   laid out, was a significant cost problem for us.  We

21   were losing about $40 million a year that was not

22   being allocated to any state.  That caused a

23   significant issue and was recognized by our rating

24   agencies and investors, and if the belief that the

25   revised protocol did not get adopted and that we were
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 1   starting from square one again, I think it would have

 2   a significant impact on the view of the company by

 3   investors and credit agencies.

 4       Q.   Final question.  Could you turn to page 14

 5   and 15 of your rebuttal testimony, where you address

 6   the broad question of the overall benefit of an

 7   integrated system.  And again, I don't want to get

 8   into the details of -- that other witnesses will

 9   cover later, because you are -- you serve on the

10   board and you are the highest level official that

11   we'll have before us in this docket, but in general,

12   as I read this paragraph of the benefits of an

13   integrated multi-state utility with a diverse

14   generating fleet and an expansive transmission system

15   that is able to give access to multiple energy

16   trading hubs, this is what you state --

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   -- is that correct?

19       A.   Yes.

20       Q.   Could you bring this down?  Could you expand

21   on that a little bit more in the context of the state

22   of Washington, and based on some of the transmission

23   constraints and the map we looked at, where we do

24   have -- I mean, it's not a perfect world in terms of

25   perfect ability to have electrons flow from resource
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 1   to load, and resources are located all throughout the

 2   six-state region.  And given that, could you bring

 3   it, at least for this Commissioner, what are the

 4   values, what are the real benefits to this state of a

 5   multi-state diverse utility such as yours?

 6       A.   I could probably simplify it in two ways.

 7   First of all, Washington has a share of the overall

 8   system, so it has the diversity of quite an expansive

 9   system, and so that's number one.

10            Number two, when the two systems were

11   brought together, I think I mentioned this

12   previously, but when the two systems were actually

13   brought together, the resources required to serve the

14   system dropped by 400 megawatts.  So basically, there

15   was a synergy of the two systems when they came

16   together that basically reduced the need for 400

17   megawatts of resources.

18            That 400 megawatts of resources and the

19   integrated operation of the system has been shown to

20   provide significant benefits, I believe 300 million

21   was the number, and Mr. Duvall will be testifying in

22   front of you, who actually undertook the studies to

23   evaluate this, and -- but a sizable value associated

24   with integrated system.  But separately, he also was

25   able to identify the share of each state in these
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 1   benefits.  And Washington achieved 14 percent, I

 2   believe was the number, of the benefits, and yet is

 3   only less than eight percent of the actual system

 4   overall in terms of allocation.

 5            So we believe Washington customers have

 6   benefited significantly with the integrated system

 7   over time and will continue to benefit.  This is an

 8   allocation system of -- allocation methodology,

 9   excuse me, of an integrated system.  It is not about

10   tracking where electrons go and the cost of these

11   electrons.  That is a horrendously complex process,

12   and one in which many people have tried and failed to

13   try to do.  This we say -- we basically run this on

14   an integrated basis, we plan it on an integrated

15   basis, and Washington gets a share of the cost and

16   the benefits of that integrated system, and that is,

17   I believe, a real benefit for Washington customers.

18   And you know, I wouldn't necessarily have the

19   empirical data to provide you, but the fact that we

20   have significantly reduced the gap between our rates

21   and the single state utilities, Puget and Avista, in

22   Washington, the difference between our rates is, I am

23   sure, part of that integrated system.

24            So I really believe that Washington

25   customers have and will continue to benefit from this
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 1   integrated system.

 2             MR. JONES:  Thank you.  That's all I have.

 3            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Commissioner Oshie.

 4    

 5                   E X A M I N A T I O N

 6   BY COMMISSIONER OSHIE:

 7       Q.   Mr. MacRitchie, let's -- I want to go back

 8   and -- actually, maybe I should follow-up on just the

 9   most recent questioning by Commissioner Jones,

10   because it's perhaps more timely, but you made a

11   reference to the revised protocols being a common

12   methodology among all states, but I think, you know,

13   when you characterize it as that, I mean, what brings

14   to mind to me is that all states are -- all states

15   are using the same methodology to determine rates,

16   but, in fact, haven't each state stamped it in its

17   own way so that they have perhaps based state rates

18   on the revised protocol, but then they have

19   conditioned it in some way that perhaps it changed

20   the -- perhaps it didn't change the character, but

21   certainly changed the impact?

22       A.   You're correct that there have been

23   conditions placed on the revised protocol

24   implementation in some states.  Oregon, in

25   particular, wished to -- wished for us to develop a
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 1   comparator for reporting purposes, and that was their

 2   condition.  So they have accepted and implemented the

 3   revised protocol.  That's the basis for our

 4   rate-making in Oregon, but we are also developing a

 5   comparator that they will use to, I assume, assess

 6   whether they believe it is giving just and reasonable

 7   results, but we have -- there is no change to the

 8   methodology.

 9       Q.   Right, and Utah had its own comparator,

10   didn't it?  Didn't they adopt its own comparator, the

11   rolled-in method?

12       A.   That was their previous method of

13   allocation, and what they want us to do is continue

14   to report the revised protocol against that previous

15   version.  The other piece that -- in both Utah and

16   Idaho was that there were higher rates required of

17   the revised protocol than their previous rolled-in

18   approach, and they wanted to see some rate

19   mitigation.  And so there is a gradual rule bringing

20   in of that, of which PacifiCorp will shoulder the

21   burden of.

22       Q.   Well, and it's -- when you said there was a

23   -- I guess that's where perhaps maybe you explained

24   it, but particularly for Utah, if it's more than just

25   a report, a comparator, because actually it's a rate

0433

 1   cap that's based on the rolled-in methodology

 2   conclusions.  Wouldn't that be -- do I have that

 3   straight?

 4       A.   It's pretty close to that, yes.

 5       Q.   And what is it, one and a half percent?  So

 6   that the rates for Utah citizens within your

 7   territories can be no higher than the rolled in

 8   technology plus -- or rolled-in methodology plus one

 9   and a half percent, no matter what the conclusions of

10   the revised protocol would lead otherwise?

11       A.   That particular constraint, you're correct,

12   and -- but that particular issue was time marked, and

13   it was basically a four-year period at which that

14   would have -- that cap would be in existence.

15       Q.   And then it drops down to one point -- well,

16   one and a quarter percent until 2009, and then one

17   percent to 2014?

18       A.   Yeah, then it actually drops into credit,

19   and then there's a credit in later years.

20       Q.   Now, if we adopted in the state of

21   Washington Staff's recommendation, but -- but

22   concluded that we were going to use revised protocol,

23   but that we would, as Staff has recommended, exclude

24   some of the Eastside resources and essentially reach

25   the same result as Staff has recommended with regard
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 1   to the proper interstate allocation, would that --

 2   isn't that what Utah did?  I mean, Utah said, We'll

 3   adopt the revised protocol, but we're really just

 4   adopting rolled-in or keeping rolled-in, but we're

 5   going to add a certain percentage to that?

 6       A.   No, I don't believe so, and I would hope

 7   that's not the final Commission determination.

 8       Q.   Well, excuse me, but let's just -- I mean,

 9   isn't that the effect?  Wasn't that the effect of

10   Utah's decision, because that was the decision they

11   had to make, rolled-in, use revised, use the original

12   protocol, but rolled-in was apparently a better deal

13   for Utah, so they said we'll use that instead of the

14   revised protocol, and we'll add, you know, we'll add

15   a certain percentage to it, but we'll call it revised

16   protocol?

17       A.   It's the short-term effect, and you know,

18   there's another three years of that that will occur.

19   We are making investments just now in long-term

20   assets, and it's important for us to be able to

21   explain to our investors that we have an allocation

22   method that will ensure over the long-term that we

23   recover the costs of our business on a consistent

24   basis across our states.

25            So you're right in the short-term issue, and
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 1   that short-term issue will be over very soon and we

 2   will be in a situation where we are using revised

 3   protocol.

 4       Q.   Would you conclude -- I mean, maybe -- would

 5   you characterize the Utah Commission's decision as

 6   cherry picking?

 7       A.   No, I think that what they're looking at is

 8   moderating rate impacts.  They have not -- they have

 9   adopted the revised protocol for all reporting

10   purposes.  They adopted a revised protocol for

11   rate-making purposes with the understanding that

12   there is this cap for a short period of time, but --

13       Q.   The effect of the cap seems a lot like

14   cherry picking to me.  I mean, that's -- when I

15   thought -- you know, compared the two, I thought

16   well, rather than just pick selected resources, they

17   just said we'll take all the resources and we'll cap

18   it?

19       A.   No, the cherry picking which is -- I mean,

20   the proposal of Staff, these are -- these really are

21   cherry picking of resources.  They're taking the

22   resources, they're not taking -- these resources are

23   serving a purpose, so there's a cost element, but we

24   take purely the benefit side of it.  It really just

25   breaks the whole process down and will, quite
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 1   honestly, achieve results that have no bearing at all

 2   on the cost of serving Washington customers.

 3       Q.   Well, didn't Utah take the benefit of the

 4   rolled-in methodology when compared to the revised

 5   protocol?

 6       A.   Utah have seen an increase in their

 7   allocation costs and they will -- they determined

 8   that they wanted to have a cap on that for a period

 9   of time, but it doesn't equate to, I believe, using

10   rolled-in.

11       Q.   The -- I'm just going to switch gears and go

12   back to what I thought I would originally lead off

13   with.  Did the company -- I guess is it fair to say

14   that the company adopted the National Resource

15   Defense Council's proposal on decoupling?

16       A.   There was negotiations around that, the

17   decoupling process with NRDC, and I'm not sure that

18   we actually took their initial proposal.  You did

19   mention this morning that you were wanting to discuss

20   decoupling.  I really feel that it probably would be

21   best to refer these to Christy Omohundro.  She's

22   going to be here tomorrow, but I don't know whether

23   that was on the decoupling process or not.

24            JUDGE RENDAHL:  She'll be here tomorrow, but

25   not on decoupling.  Decoupling will be addressed on
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 1   the 20th.

 2            THE WITNESS:  Okay.  So I apologize.  But to

 3   be -- I think that your questions probably are of

 4   more detail than I'll probably be able to answer, so

 5   it might be better to wait till Christy's appearance.

 6       Q.   Fair enough.

 7       A.   Apologies.

 8       Q.   All right.  Thank you very much.

 9    

10                   E X A M I N A T I O N

11   BY CHAIRMAN SIDRAN:

12       Q.   People at this hour always say that they

13   will be brief, and I will try to be brief.  I just

14   have a couple of questions.  One is just to make sure

15   I understood your testimony in response to a question

16   from Ms. Davison to the effect that the 11.125

17   percent return on equity analysis is premised upon a

18   power cost adjustment mechanism?

19       A.   That's correct.

20       Q.   And so if there were not a power cost

21   adjustment mechanism, you expect Dr. Hadaway to

22   testify that the rate of return should be even

23   higher?

24       A.   I do.

25       Q.   Okay.  The other question I had related to
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 1   the direct testimony of Mr. Furman, where he urges

 2   upon us the -- one of the basic principles, as he put

 3   it, of rate-making, the importance of attracting

 4   capital, which you have also emphasized.

 5            You've testified about the company's concern

 6   about its current rate of return in that regard.

 7   You've mentioned, I believe, that the company's

 8   losing $40 million a year under its current

 9   allocation methodology.  Have I got that all more or

10   less correct?

11       A.   The 40 million was prior to achieving a

12   consensus on the revised protocol in our states, so

13   that was when we had a breakdown between states and

14   no common methodology.  As I said, we've now got four

15   out of the five that participated, which cover about

16   90 percent of our costs, so -- but I have no idea.

17   Clearly, any divergence from revised protocol in

18   Washington is an impact on shareholders.

19       Q.   But the basic point that --

20       A.   Your basic point is correct, yes.

21       Q.   The importance of attracting capital and the

22   company's concern about both its ability to do that

23   and to earn what it would -- and that it would view

24   its current posture as an inadequate rate of return,

25   hence these cases?
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 1       A.   Yes, it's below the cost of debt.

 2       Q.   So what inference do you think we should

 3   draw from MidAmerican's interest in buying the

 4   company at apparently a substantial premium in the

 5   context that you describe?

 6       A.   MidAmerican have made it very clear that

 7   they are investing in PacifiCorp for the long-term

 8   and they see this as an investment.  They have made

 9   statements such as being the last owner of

10   PacifiCorp.  So as such, short-term issues that are

11   -- that exist just now are concerning to them, but it

12   would not necessarily be something that they would

13   believe would be ongoing and long-term.  They have

14   made it clear in their testimonies, as I responded to

15   Ms. Davison, that they believe that they should be

16   able to receive a fair return in all the states that

17   they operate in.

18       Q.   So in other words, all of that capital from

19   Berkshire Hathaway has been attracted by their

20   supreme confidence in the wisdom of this Commission,

21   apparently, and other commissions to give them a fair

22   rate of return?

23       A.   It's certainly the benefit of a private

24   equity investor that they have that ability to take a

25   long-term view.  We obviously are also very active in
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 1   the debt markets and will continue to be very active

 2   in the debt markets, and they don't necessarily take

 3   that same long-term view.

 4            CHAIRMAN SIDRAN:  Thank you.

 5    

 6                   E X A M I N A T I O N

 7   BY JUDGE RENDAHL:

 8       Q.   Good evening, and I too will be short.

 9   Hopefully, we'll be out of here by 6:00.  In response

10   to one of Commissioners Jones' questions, you alluded

11   to financial analysts pointing to the lack of a

12   revised protocol as a negative factor.  And so I'm

13   wondering, is this referenced in your testimony or in

14   an exhibit that's been filed in this case, or are you

15   referring to some specific report by S&P or Moody's

16   that's not in the record?

17       A.   You know, I'm not -- I don't believe it's in

18   my testimony in this case.  It was in -- when we

19   originally filed the revised protocol in my direct

20   testimony there.

21       Q.   In another state or in this state first --

22   the first time in this state?

23       A.   I think the first time in this state.  I

24   could -- I would need to check.

25       Q.   Could you, as Bench Request 14, can you file
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 1   that reference that you --

 2       A.   We will file the references to show that

 3   these credit agencies and financial analysts are very

 4   concerned about our cost allocation process.

 5       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  You were discussing with

 6   Staff Counsel about a statement of benefits in the

 7   multi-state -- the MSP studies, that MSP studies have

 8   been filed, they're not part of any order here at the

 9   Commission that identified a statement of benefits.

10   Who generally prepares those studies?  Is that

11   PacifiCorp?

12       A.   PacifiCorp undertakes the studies under

13   direction from the parties, and so there are multiple

14   participants from different states.  Washington has

15   requested numerous different studies and we performed

16   these studies and they're all part of the overall

17   record of MSP.  And we summarized these studies -- in

18   fact, after the last rate case, we were asked to

19   undertake some work with Staff to look at alternative

20   approaches and quite a significant amount of work was

21   done there, a number of studies run, and a report was

22   filed with the Commission I believe in October.

23       Q.   But they're filed by the company?

24       A.   Filed by the company, yes.

25       Q.   And prepared by the company?
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 1       A.   Yes.

 2            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Okay.  Well, I believe that

 3   is all I have, so barring anything further, I believe

 4   we are done.

 5            Is there anything further we need to address

 6   this evening?  Hearing nothing, we're adjourned for

 7   today and will reconvene tomorrow morning at 9:30,

 8   beginning with Mr. Wrigley's testimony.

 9            THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

10            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Thank you very much for

11   staying so long over the last few days, and thanks

12   very much.

13            THE WITNESS:  I appreciate it.  Thanks very

14   much.

15            JUDGE RENDAHL:  Be off the record.

16            (Proceedings adjourned at 5:49 p.m.)
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